
PART II 

OFFERING MEMORANDUM DATED NOVEMBER 18, 2022 

HEROIC}-
9901 Brodie Lane 
Suite 160 #1388 

Austin, Texas 78748 
(737) 234-0198 

SPVINTERESTSREPRESENTING 
UP TO $1,000,000 WORTH OF SENIOR CONVERTIBLE PROMISSORY NOTES 

Minimum Investment Amount: $100 

Heroic Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation. a Delaware public benefit corporation ("I-leroic·' "the 
company," "we," or •·us"), is offering up to $ 1,000,000 worth of Senior Convert ible Promissory Notes ("CF 
Notes"). The investment will be made through Ileroic CF SPY, LLC, a special purpose investment vehicle 
exempt from registration under the Investment Company /\ct pursuant to Ruic 270.3a-9 promulgated under 
that /\ct (the "Crowd funding SPY"). The minimum target amount under this Regulation CF offering is 
$300,000 (the "Target /\mount"). As of September 19, 2022, the company has already reached the Target 
/\mount. The company may accept subscriptions until August 15, 2023 (the 'Termination Date"). 

In this offering, the terms " I lcroic," "we," "our," "us" and "the company" refer to l lcroic Enterprises, Public 
Benefit Corporation (and Optimize Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation, which was merged into the 
company). 

A crowdfunding investment involves risk. You should not invest any funds in this offering unless you 
can afford to lose your entire investment. 

In making an investment decision, investors must rely on their own examination of the issuer and the 
terms of the offering, including the merits and risks involved. These securities have not been 
recommended or approved by any federal or state securities commission or regulatory authority. 
Furthermore, these authorities have not passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this document. 

The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission docs not pass upon the merits of any securities offered 
or the terms of the offering, nor docs it pass upon the accuracy or completeness of any offering 
document or literature. 

These securities arc offered under an exemption from registration; however, the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission has not made an independent determination that these securities arc exempt 
from registration. 

This disclosure document contains forward-looking statements and information relating to, among 
other things, the company, its business plan and strategy, and its industry. These forward -looking 
statements arc based on the beliefs of, assumptions made by, and information currently available to 
the company's management. When used in this disclosure document and the company offering 



materials, the words "estimate", " project", " believe" , " anticipate", " intend", " expect", and similar 
expressions a rc intended to identify forward -looking statements. These statements reflect 
management's current views with respect to future events and arc subject to risks and uncertainties 
that could cause the company's actions or results to differ materially from those contained in tbc 
forward -looking statements. Investors arc cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward­
looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after such statements or to reflect the occurrence 
of unanticipated events. 

In the event that we become a reporting company under the Securities Exchange A ct of 1934 (th e 
"Exchange Act'~, we intend to take advantage of the provisions that relate to "Emerging Growth 
Companies" under the JOBS Act of 2012, including electing to delay compliance with certain new and 
revised accounting standards under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
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THE COMPANY AND ITS BUSINESS 

Overview 

IIeroic was founded on November 13, 2020 to help create a world in which 51% of the world ' s population is 
flourishing by the year 2051. How? We're building a social training platform to help people move from 
theory to practice to mastery together so they can show up as the best, most heroic versions of themselves. 
Our products arc currently offered via web-based and mobile platforms directly to our customers. 

On September 30, 202 1, the company merged with Optimize Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation, a 
Delaware public benefit corporation (" Optimize"), with the company being the surviving entity. Our CEO 
and founder, Brian Johnson, was also the CEO and founder of Optimize. The Crowdfunding SPV, I lcroic CF 
SPV, LLC was organized on April 2 1, 2022, and has no purpose other than to hold the securities to be issued 
by the company and pass through the rights related to those securities. 

Investments in this offering will be made through Ilcroic CF SPV, LLC. a special purpose investment 
vehicle exempt from registration under the Investment Company !\ct. 

Principal Products 

The company currently offers monthly and annual direct-to-consumer membership products, along with a 
coach certification that is available for a one-time fee and completion of required curriculum. Currently, the 
company's products arc delivered via two mobile apps, the I lcroic app and the Optimize by Heroic app, 
although the company is in the final stages of integrating all products into a s ingle Heroic platform as 
described below. 

No individual customer represents a significant portion of revenue. 

Heroic Social Training Platform 

I kroic is a social training platform that empowers people to move from theory to practice to mastery 
together so they can show up more consistently as the best, most heroic versions of themselves. The MVP of 
this product, which focused primarily on training features, was released on iOS on April 9, 2022 and on 
Android two months later. 

The company plans to introduce many new features in the future-including social community engagement 
features in 2023. 

J\s of the date of this Offering Memorandum, the Heroic Premium membership subscription retails for 
$ 14. 99/month and $99.99/year, with a Li fctime Membership option for $399. The actual monthly, annual, or 
lifetime membership may be higher or lower than the current price. The company has in the past conducted 
and intends in the future to conduct promotional pricing. Lifet ime membershi ps were introduced in 
September, 2022 and may only be available for a limited time. 

Heroic Coach 

I leroic Coach is a 300-day certification program for helping people to become the best versions of 
themselves. The program includes a guided, cohort-completed curriculum of d igital content (video lessons, 
worksheets, reflections, and practices) and access to live coaching calls for individualized support. As of the 
date of this Offering Memorandum, Ilcroic Coach retails for $1,000 (with payment-plan options available). 
This gives participants lifetime access to course content, and a year of access to live coaching sessions. 
Additionally, extended access to Live Coaching sessions may be purchased at $500 per year, or $1,000 for 
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lifetime access. The company has in the past conducted and intends in the future to conduct promotional 
pricing. 

Over 11,000 people from 111 + countries have joined Heroic Coach. The program is delivered via mobile 
apps, a web-based platform, and video-conferencing software. 

Market 

Heroic is a self-development product. Early-adopters of !Ieroic arc likely to be represented in the self­
improvement industry. According to a study published on MarketReseareh.com in August, 2021 (The Market 
For Self-Improvement Products & Services), the sci f-improvemcnt industry is valued at$ I 0.4 billion, and 
forecasts 6.0% average annual growth to $14.0 billion by 2025. 

1 lcroic's customers arc interested in improving their health and wellbeing. The global health and wellness 
market, currently est imated at $3 .294 billi on by !MARC Group, is forccasted to grow to $4.277 billion by 
2027. 

Competition 

The self-improvement industry is large and highly competitive. We compete with direct-to-consumer self­
improvement app providers such as Udemy, BctterUp, MasterClass, Calm, and many smaller companies. 
Unlike l leroic, however, none of these companies offers such a comprehensive set of tools to help people 
move from theory to practice to mastery together-taking information learned (Theory), integrating it into 
daily behaviors (Practice), consistently over time to become the best version of themselves (Mastery). We 
intend to fwiher differentiate our products via the social tools we intend to launch in 2023 (together). 

Additionally, we compete with online coaching programs and coach certification programs. Unlike I leroic, 
however, none of these companies offers access to such extensive content and programming at such a low 
price-point. 

Third-Party Service Providers 

As a creator of digital products, our primary inputs arc the intellectual and creative output of our internal 
team and partners. Our partners contribute to facets including product design a nd development, customer 
acquisition, financial reports, and infrastructure maintenance. 

Notable partners have included MetaLab, the company w ith which we partnered to create the MVP of our 
Heroic social training platform. MctaLab played a role in designing and concepting for S lack, Tinder, and 
Uber Eats. 

Employees 

As of the date of this Offering Memorandum, we have 9 full -time employees. We adopted an equity 
incentive plan on September 8, 202 1 (the "Plan"). 2,500,000 shares of the company's Series 1 Common 
Stock are currently e ligible for issuance pursuant to the Plan. As of the date of this Offering Memorandum, 
there are stock opti ons to purchase 1,359,755 shares ofthc Company's Series I Common Stock, in the 
aggregate, outstanding under the Plan. 

We intend to engage contractors from time to time on an as-needed basis to consult with us on specific 
corporate affairs, or to perform specific tasks in connection with our business development activities. 
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Regulation 

Heroic is subject to regulations that impact digital products and subscription payments. This environment has 
been stable in recent years. There arc exceptions, however, including recent rule changes from the Reserve 
Bank of India (RBI) adding new requirements for companies to charge subscription/recurring payments. 
Given I lcroic's g lobal customer base, future regulatory changes in this space could impact how we collect 
revenue from our customers. 

Intellectual Property 

The company holds the following trademarks: 

Type Mark Serial N um ber Publication Date 
Word I Icroic Public Benefit 90463027 Septcm bcr 7, 202 l 

Corporation 
Design .,, 90463033 September 7, 2021 

cf 

.i.> 
The company has no other registered in tel lcctual property. 

Effective protection of our intellectua l property may be unavai lable or I imitcd in some jurisdictions outside 
the United States. Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce or protect our rights or to dctcrm inc 
the validity and scope of the rights of others. Such litigation could cause us to incur substantial costs and 
dive1t resources away from daily bus iness, which in tum could material ly adverse ly affect the business. 

Litigation 

The company is not currently engaged in any litigation and is not aware of any pending lit igation. 

The Company's Property 

The company's workforce is completely remote; the company docs not currently lease any commercial 

space. 

Due ])iligence 

Due diligence by CrowdChcck, Inc. 
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RISK FACTORS 

The SEC requ ires the company to identify risks that arc specific to its business and its financial condition. 
The company is still subj ect to all the same risks to which al l companies in its business, and all companies in 
the economy, arc exposed. These include risks relating to economic downturns, poli t ical and econom ic 
events, and technological developments (such as hacking and the ability to prevent hacking). J\dditional ly, 
early-stage companies arc inherently more risky than more developed companies. You should consider 
general risks as well as specific risks when deciding whether to invest. 

These arc the risks that relate to the company: 

Risks Related to the Company 

The company is a development-stage company . 

Heroic was formed in 2020 and on September 30, 202 1, the company merged with Optim ize Enterprises, 
Public Benefit Corporation, a Delaware public benefit corporation ("Optimize'"), with the company being the 
surviving entity. Optimize made its first sales in 2017 and Heroic made its first sales in 2021. Accordi ngly, 
the company has a limited history upon which an evaluation of its performance and future prospects can be 
made. 1 leroic's current and proposed operations arc subject to all the business risks associated with new 
enterprises. These include likely fluctuations in operating results as the company reacts to developments in 
its market, including purchasing patterns of customers and the entry of competitors into the market. I lcroic 
wi ll only be able to pay dividends on any shares issuable on conversion of the er Notes once I Jcroic's Board 
of Directors determines that it is financi ally abl e to do so. 

Our management has raised substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern and our 
independent registered public accounting firm has included an explanatory paragraph relating to our 
ability to continue as £t going concern in its audit report. 

We arc currently dependent on additional fundrais ing to sustain our ongoing operations. J\s our nagshi p 
I lcroic product only recently launched on Apri l 9, 2022, and as we have been investing heavily in the 
research, design, and development for the product, we have a history of losses and have projected operating 
losses and negative cash flows for the next several months. !\s a result of our recurring losses from 
operations, negative cash flows from operating activities and the need to raise additional capital , there is 
subs tantial doubt of our ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, our independent registered public 
accounting firm included a going concern note expressing substantial doubt about the company's ability to 
continue as a going concern in its report on our audited financial statements for the years ended December 
3 I, 202 1 and 2020. Our financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States ("U.S. GJ\J\ P''), which contemplate that we will continue to operate 
as a going concern. Our financial statements do not contain any adj ustments that might result if wc arc 
unable to continue as a going concern. We cannot assure you that the company wi ll be successful in raising 
funds in this offering or acquiring add itional funding at levels sufficient to fund its future operations beyond 
its current cash runway. Ifthc company is unable to raise additional capital in sufficient amounts or on terms 
acceptable to it, the company may have to s ignificantly reduce its operations or delay, scale back or 
discontinue the development of one or more o f its platforms, seek alternative financing arrangements, declare 
bankruptcy or terminate its operations entirely. 
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The company expects to experience future losses as it implements its business strategy and will need to 
generate sign~ficant revenues to achieve profitability, which may not occur. 

We have incurred net losses since our inception, and we expect to continue to incur net losses in the future. 
To date, we have funded our operations from both revenues and the sale of equity and debt securities and 
other financing arrangements. We expect to continue to increase operating expenses as we implement our 
business strategy, which include development, sales and marketing, and general and administrative expenses 
and, as a result, we expect to incur additional losses and continued negative cash flow from operations for the 
foreseeable future. We w ill need to generate significant additional revenues to achieve profitability. We 
cannot assure you that we will ever generate sufficient revenues to achieve profitability. If wc do achieve 
profitability in some future period, we cannot assure you that we can sustain profitabi lity on a quarterly or 
annual basis in the future. In addition, we may not achieve profitabi li ty before we have expended the 
proceeds to be raised in this offering. If our revenues grow more slowly than we anticipate or if our operating 
expenses exceed our expectations or cannot be adjusted accordingly, our business, operating results and 
financial condition wil l be materially and adversely affected. 

We cannot assure you that we will effective~)/ manage our growth. 

We cannot assure you that we will be able to grow the company's revenues and earni ngs. The growth of the 
company is contingent upon various factors, including market acceptance, competit ion, access to capital, 
ability to employ effective employees, and to otherwise attract and retain key personnel. To manage the 
anticipated future growth and carry out the company's plans for the development and commercialization of 
the company's products and services. the company wi ll need to recruit and retain qualified management and 
personnel across a wide range of operational, sales and financial capabilities. Competition for executive and 
key personnel is intense. The company may not be able to effectively manage the expansion of its operations 
or recruit and train additional qual ified personnel. The expansion of the company's operations geographically 
may lead to significant costs and may divert the company's management and business development 
resources. Any ability to manage the company's growth or complications involving management of the 
company's growth could delay execution of the company's business plan or disrupt the company's 
operations. 

Any valuation at this stage is difficult to assess. 

Unlike listed companies that arc valued publicly through market-driven stock prices, the valuation of private 
companies, especially startups, is difficult to assess and you may risk overpaying for your investment. In 
addition, there may be additional classes of eq uity w ith rights that arc superior to the class of equity that may 
be issued upon any convers ion of the CF Notes. 

We expect to raise additional capital through equi~y and/or debt offerings and to provide our employees 
with equity incentives. A ny ownership interest you may have in the company wi/1 /i!(e~v be diluted and 
could be subordinated. 

Heroic is seeking to raise up to $1,000,000 in this offering. In order to fund future growth and development, 
the company will likely need to raise additional funds in the future by offering shares of its common stock, 
preferred stock and/or other classes of equity or debt that convert into shares of preferred or common stock, 
any of which offerings would dilute the ownership percentage that investors in this offering would hold if the 
CF Notes convert. Furthermore, if and when the company raises debt or issues preferred stock, the holders of 
the debt will have priority over holders of common and preferred stock, and holders of preferred stock will 
have priority over holders of common stock including, if the CF Notes convert to common stock, shares that 
may be issuable upon conversion of the CF Notes in this offering, and the company may accept terms that 
restrict its ability to incur more debt. 
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The company depends on its founder. 

The company depends on the skill and experience of our founder, Brian Johnson. If the company is not able 
to call upon Mr. Johnson for any reason, its operations and development could be harmed. 

Competitors may be able to call on more resources titan the company. 

Although the company believes that the Heroic platform is unique, it is not the only self-improvement 
product on the market, a nd the company has to compete with a number of other approaches. Addi tionally, 
competitors may replicate Heroic's business ideas and produce directly competing products. These 
competitors may be better capitalized than lleroic, which would give them a significant advantage. 

The company may not be successful in marketing its products to its customers. 

The company's operating results may fluctuate significantly from period to period as a result of a variety of 
factors. There is no assurance that the company will be successful in marketing any of its products, or that 
the revenues from the sale of such products will be significant Consequently, the company's revenues may 
vary, and the company's operating results may experience fluctuations. 

Our trademarks could be unenforceable or ineffective. 

Intellectual property is a complex field of law in which few things arc cc1tain. If competitors are able to 
bypass our t rademark and copyright protection without obtaining a sub license, it is likely that the company's 
value wil l be materially and adversely impacted. This could also impair the company's ability to compete in 
the marketplace. Moreover, if our trademarks and copyrights arc deemed unenforceable, the company wi ll 
almost certainly lose any potential revenue it might be able to raise by entering into subliccnses. This wou ld 
cut off a significant potential revenue stream for the company. 

The cost of enforcing our trademarks and copyrights could prevent us from enforcing them. 

Trademark and copyright litigation has become extremely expensive. Even ifwc believe that a competitor is 
infringing on one or more of our trademarks or copyrights, we might choose not to fi le suit because we lack 
the cash to successfully prosecute a multi-year litigation with an uncertain outcome; or because we believe 
that the cost of enforcing our trademark(s) or eopyright(s) outweighs the value of winning the suit in light of 
the risks and consequences of losing it; or for some other reason. C hoosing not to enforce our tradcmark(s) or 
copyright(s) could have adverse consequences for the company, including undcnnining the credibility of our 
intellectual property, reducing our ability to enter into sublicenscs, and weakening our attempts to prevent 
competitors from entering the market. /\s a result, ifwe arc unable to enforce our tradcmark(s) or 
copyright(s) because of the cost of enforcement, your investment in the company could be significantly and 
adversely affected. 

The company is vulnerable to hackers and cyber-attacks. 

Although we arc following industry best-practices on data privacy and infrastructure redundancy, any 
internet-based business may be vulnerable to hackers who may access the data of our customers. Further, any 
significant disruption in service to our products and services or in software systems could reduce the 
attract iveness of the platform and result in a loss of customers w illing to use our products and services. 
Further, we rely on third-party technology providers (l ike Amazon Web Services) to provide some of our 
back-end technology. Any disruptions of services or cyber-attacks either on our technology provider or on 
the company could harm our reputation and materially negatively impact our financial condition and 
business. 
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Our results of operations may be negatively impacted by the coronavirus outbreak. 

In December 2019, a novel strain ofcoronavirus, or COVID-19, was reported to have surfaced in Wuhan, 
China. COVID-19 has spread to many countries, inc luding the United States, and was declared to be a 
pandemic by the World Ilealth Organization. The impacts of the outbreak arc unknown and continually 
evolving. A widespread health crisis has adversely affected and could continue to affect the g lobal economy, 
resulting in an economic downturn that could negatively impact the value of the SPY interests and Investor 
demand for the SPY interests generally. 

The continued spread of COVID-19 has also led to severe disruption and volatility in the global capital 
markets, which could increase our cost of capital and adversely affect our ability to access the capital 
markets in the future. It is possible that the continued spread of COYID- 19 could cause a further econom ic 
s lowdown or recession or cause other unpredictable events, each of which could adversely affect our 
business, results of operations or financial condition. 

The direct impacts we have experienced from COYI0-19 include increased wages for em ployees, which 
have increased our operating costs, increased advertising spend due to an increase in average cost per 
acquisition of new members with more people moving into our space, and increased competition in the 
digital product space as workforces navigate the new real ity and lifesty les shift. 

The extent to which COVID-19 affects our financial results will depend on future developments, which arc 
uncertain and cannot be predicted, including new information which may emerge concerning the severity of 
the COVID- 19 outbreak and the actions to contain the outbreak or treat its impact, among others. Moreover, 
the COYID-19 outbreak has had and may continue to have indeterminable adverse effects on general 
commercial activity and the world economy, and our business and results of operations could be adversely 
affected to the extent that COYID-19 or any other pandemic harms the global economy generally. 

Actual or threatened epidemics, pandemics, outbreaks, or other public health crises may adversely affect 
our business. 

Our business could be materially and adversely affected by the risks, or the public perception of the risks, 
related to an epidemic, pandemic, outbreak, or other public health crisis, such as the recent outbreak of novel 
coronavirus, or COVID- 19. The risk, or public perception of the risk, of a pandemic or media coverage of 
infectious diseases could adversely affect the value of the SPY interests and our Investors or prospective 
Investors financial condition, resulting in reduced demand for the SPY interests generally. Fw1her, such risks 
could cause a limited attendance at membership experience events that we might sponsor or in which we 
might participate, or result in persons avoiding holding or appearing at in-person events. "Shelter-in-place" 
or other such orders by governmental entities could a lso disrupt our operations. 

Risks Related to an lnvcshncnt in Our Securities 

There is no current market for the company's securities. 

T here is no formal marketplace for the resale of the company 's securities. Our securities arc illiquid and 
there will not be an official current price for them, as there would be if the company were a publ icly-traded 
company with a listing on a stock exchange. Investors should assume that they may not be able lo liquidate 
their investment for some time. 

Your ability to transfer your securities may he limited. 
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The Note Purchase Agreement that the Crowdfunding SPY will enter into wi th the com pany (the '·Note 
Purchase Agreement") contains a "market stand-ofr' provision applicable to shares of the company 's capital 
stock into which the CF Notes may convert in the event of an initial public offering, which may limi t or 
delay an investor's abil ity to transfer such shares, in the event of liquidation of or a distribution of such 
shares from the Crowd fu nding SPY for a period of time surrounding such an offering. Likewise, the 
subscription agreement that investors will enter into contains an identical "market stand-off'' provis ion 
limiting your ability to transfer any shares of the company's capital stock as a resu lt of a I iquidation of the 
Crowdfunding SPY. See '·Securities Being Offered and Rights of the Securities of the Company" for further 
infonnation. 

Additional ly, the company ' s Amended and Restated By laws contain a " right o f first re fusal'' prov ision that 
would limit your ability to transfer any shares of the company's capital stock./\ right of first refusal 
provision requires that a stockholder provide notice to the company of their intention to sell their securities 
and the price and terms of such sale. The company would be entitled to purchase such securities on the same 
terms as identified in the notice. The company's Amended and Restated Bylaws also restrict any sale, 
assignment, pledge or other transfer of the shares of its capital stock without the prior written consent of the 
company, including a prohibition on transferring any securities of the company to a competitor, except in 
certain circumstances. This provision will be enforceable against the Crowd fundi ng SPY initially and against 
an investor in this offering upon dissolution and liquidation of the Crowdfunding SPY. 

The company is controlled by its founder; Investors will have limited ability to impact or otherwise 
influence corporate decisions of the company . 

The company's founder, Brian Johnson, currently holds approximately 95% of the company's voting stock, 
either ind ividually or jointly with his wife, and al the conclusion of this offering will continue to ho ld a 
majority of the company's voting power. Investors in this offering have no voting rights in the company 
through the SPY interests of the Crowdfunding SPY that holds the CF Notes and, even if the Crowd funding 
SPY converts the CF Notes to common stock and d istributes such shares of common stock to the investors in 
this offering, it will not have the abi lity to control a vote by the stockholders or the board of directors. 
Moreover, the note purchase agreement that the Crowdf unding Issuer will execute in connection with this 
offering grants an irrevocable proxy to the company's CEO to vote any shares of Common Stock and any 
other securities of the company that the Crowdfunding S PY may acqui re on all matters put to a vote of the 
stockholders. Furthermore, to the extent investors ever hold shares, their transferees must agree to be bound 
by the terms of the proxy. for more information, sec "Securities Being Offered and Rights of Securities of 
the Company- Convertible Notes -- Proxy." 

The company may app(v the proceeds of this off ering to uses that differ from what is currently 
contemplated and with which you may disagree. 
We will have broad discretion as to how to spend the proceeds from this offering and may spend these 
proceeds in ways in which you may not agree. We currently intend to use the proceeds of this offering to 
fund product development and engineering, customer experience and support and selling, general and 
administrative expenses. While we expect to use the proceeds of this offering as described in this Offering 
Memorandum, we may use our remaining cash for other purposes. We cannot assure that any investment of 
the proceeds wi ll yield a favorable return, or any return at al l. 

You will not be investing directly into the Company, but into a special purpose vehicle. 

Changes to the securities laws that went into effect March 15, 2021, permit us to use a "special purpose 
vehicle" or "Crowdfunding SPY" in this offering. That means that you w ill invest in llcroic CF SPY, LLC, 
and become a member of the Crowdfunding SPY, and that investment will fund the purchases of the er 
Notes by the C rowd fu nding SPY. A condition to using an SPY is that the SPY passes on the same econom ic 
and governance rights that are set out in the CF Notes. It may not always be possible to replicate those rights 
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exactly, however, because the Crowd funding SPY is an LLC formed under Delaware law, as opposed to a 
Delaware corporation . Before March 15, 202 1, this sort of arrangement had not been used for investing, and 
has not been used often since the change in the securities laws, and there may be unforeseen risks and 
complications. You w ill al so be relying on us, as the Manager of the Crowd funding SPY, to make sure the 
Crowdfunding SPY complies w ith Delaware law and functions in accordance with securities law. The 
structure of the Crowd funding SPY is explained further in "Securities Being Offered." The Crowdfunding 
SPY will term inate and d istribute the securities it holds to you, so that you may hold them directly, in certain 
circumstances. Again, this has not been done before that date, so there may be de lays, complications and 
unexpected risks in that process. 

We are not subject to Sarbanes-Oxley regulations and lack the financial controls and safeguards required 
of public companies. 

We do not have the internal infrastructure necessary, and arc not required, to complete an attestation about 
our financial controls that would be req uired under Section 404 of the Sarbancs-Oxlcy Act of 2002. There 
can be no assurance that there arc no signi Ii cant deficiencies or material weaknesses in the quality of our 
financial controls. We expect to incur additional expenses and diversion of management's t ime if and when it 
becomes necessary to perform the system and process evaluation , testing and remediation required in order 
to comply with the management certification and auditor attestation requirements. 

The subscription agreement has a forum selection provision that requires disputes be resolved in state or 
f ederal courts in the State of Delaware, regardless of convenience or cost to you, the investor. 

In order to invest in this offering, investors agree to resolve disputes arising under the subscription agreement 
in state or federal courts located in the State of Delaware, for the purpose of any suit, action or other 
proceeding aris ing out of or based upon the agreement. Section 22 of the Securities Act of 1933 (the 
"Securities Act") creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over a ll suits brought to enforce 
any duty or liabi lity created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. We believe that the 
exclus ive forum provision applies to claims arising under the Securit ies Act, but there is uncertainty as to 
whether a court would enforce such a provision in this context. Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates 
exclus ive federal jurisdict ion over al l suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange 
Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. As a result, the exclusive forum provision wi ll not apply to suits 
brought to enforce any duty or liabil ity created by the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal 
courts have exclusive jurisdiction. You will not be deemed to have waived the company's compliance with 
the federal securities laws a nd the rules and reg ulations thereunder. This forum selection provision may lim it 
your ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for d isputes with us. Although we believe the provis ion 
benefits us by providing increased cons istency in the application of Delaware law in the ty pes of lawsuits to 
which it applies and in lim iting our litigation costs, to the extent it is enforceable, the forum selection 
provis ion may lim it investors' abi lity to bring clai ms in judic ial forums that they find favorable to such 
d isputes, may increase investors' cos ts of bringing suit and may discourage lawsuits with respect to such 
claims. Alternatively, if a court were to fi nd the provision inapplicable to, or unenforceable in an action, we 
may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other jurisdict ions, which could 
adversely affect our bus iness, financial condition or resu lts of operations. 

Investors in this offering may not be entitled to a jury trial with respect to claims arising under the 
Subscription Agreement, which could result in less favorable outcomes to the plaint(ff(s) in any action 
under the agreement. 

Investors in this offering will be bound by the subscription agreement, which includes a provis ion under 
which investors waive the right to a jury trial of any claim they may have against the company arising out of 
or relating to the agreement, including any claims made under the federal securities laws. By signi ng the 
agreement, the investor warrants that the investor has reviewed this waiver with his or her legal counsel, and 
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knowingly and voluntari ly waives the investor"s jury trial rights following consultation with the investor·s 
legal counsel. 

lf we opposed a jury trial demand based on the waiver, a cowi would determine whether the waiver was 
enforceable based on the facts and circumstances of that case in accordance with the applicable state and 
federal law. To our knowledge, the enforceabil ity of a contractual pre-dispute jury trial waiver in connection 
with claims arising under the federal securities laws has not been finally adjudicated by a federal court. 
However, we believe that a contractual pre-d ispute jury trial waiver provision is general ly enforceable, 
including under the laws of the State of Delaware, which governs the agreement, by a federal or state court in 
the State of Delaware. In determining whether to enforce a contractual pre-dispute j ury trial waiver 
provision, courts will generally consider whether the visibility of the ju1y trial waiver provision within the 
agreement is sufficiently prominent such that a party knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waived the 
right to a jury trial. We believe that this is the case with respect to the Subscription Agreement. You should 
consult legal counsel regarding the jury waiver provision before entering into the subscription agreement. 

If you bring a claim against the company in connection with matters arising under the subscription 
agreement, including claims under the federal securities laws, you may not be entitled to a jury trial with 
respect to those claims, which may have the effect of limiting and discouraging lawsuits against the 
company. Ifa lawsuit is brought against the company under the agreement, it may be heard only by ajudge 
or justice of the applicable trial court, which would be conducted according to different civil procedures and 
may result in different outcomes than a trial by jury would have had, including results that could be less 
favorable to the plaintiff(s) in such an action. 

Nevertheless, if the ju1y trial waiver provision is not permitted by applicable law, an action could proceed 
under the terms of the agreement with a jury trial. No condition, stipulation or provision of the subscription 
agreement serves as a waiver by any holder of the company's securities or by the company of compliance 
with any substantive provis ion of the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations promulgated under 
those laws. 

Using a credit card to purchase the SPV interests may impact the return on your investment as well as 
subject you to other risks inherent in this form of payment. 

Investors in this offering have the option of paying for their investment with a credit card, which is not usual 
in the tradi tional investment markets. Transaction fees charged by your credit card company (which can 
reach 5% of transaction value if considered a cash advance) and interest charged on unpaid card balances 
(which can reach a lmost 25% in some states) add to the effective purchase price of the shares you buy. The 
cost of using a credit card may also increase if you do not make the minimum monthly card payments and 
incur late fees. Using a credit card is a relatively new form of payment for securit ies and will subject you to 
other risks inherent in this form of payment, including that, if you fail to make credit card payments (e.g. , 
minimum monthly payments), you risk damaging your credit score and payment by credit card may be more 
susceptible to abuse than other fo rms of pay ment. Moreover, where a third-party payment processor is used, 
as in this offering, your recovery options in the case of disputes may be limited. The increased costs due to 
transaction fees and interest may reduce the return on your investment. 

The SEC's Office of Investor Education and Advocacy issued an Investor Alert dated February 14, 2018 
entitled: Credit Cards and Investments - A Risky Combination, which explains these and other risks you may 
want to consider before us ing a credit card to pay for your investment. 

The custodial arrangement employed in the company's earlier crowdfunding offering may raise issu es for 
the company. No regulator has given their approval of the.form of the arrangement with the custodian. 
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In 202 1, the company conducted an offering of shares of its Series Seed Preferred Stock on the po1ial 
operated by Wefunder Portal LLC ("Wefunder") under Regulation Crowd funding. In order to invest in that 
offering, investors agreed to become a pa1iy to a subscription agreement with the company, and a Custodian 
and Voting Agreement w ith XX Investments, LLC (the "Custodian and Voting Agreement"), under which 
XX Investments, LLC (the "Custodian") holds title to the shares of Series Seed Preferred Stock for the 
benefit of the investor. The company chose to pa1ticipate in the program offered by Wefunder as a means of 
simplifying communications with investors and to help facilitate future liquidity. As part of the Custodian 
and Voting Agreement, investors granted the Custodian the right to vote their shares purchased in the 
crowdfunding offering. The Custodian will vote the shares as directed by a " Lead Investor" appointed by the 
company who is supposed to represent the interests of investors. The company re lied on representations by 
Wefunder regarding the legality of the arrangement with the Custodian. If the arrangement with the 
Custodian is challenged by the Commission staff, the company may incur costs to unwind the arrangement 
by either transferring title to the securities from the C ustodian to investors, or by engaging a different 
custodian. 
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DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICim.S, AND EMPLOYEES 

This table shows the principal people on the company's team: 

Name Position rerm of Office 

Executive Officers: 

Brian Johnson CEO November 1 J, 2020 - Present 

Directors: 

Brian Johnson Director INovem bcr I J, 2020 - Present 
Significant Employees: 

Bernardo Fanti !chief Technology Officer March 2022 - Present 

Brian Johnson, CEO, Director 

pprox. hours per 
week (if not full time) 

Full time 

ln!a 

Full time 

Brian Johnson is our founder, CEO, and a member of the Board of Directors. I le has served in those 
positions s ince the founding of the company in November 2020 to present date. 

Johnson has spent half of the last twenty-five years as a Founder/CEO and the other half as a Philosopher. 
Prior to founding Hero ic, he was the Philosopher and CEO ofOptimi 7.c Enterprises, Public Benefit 
Corporation since its founding in February 2017. 

As a Founder/CEO, Johnson has raised more than $20 million in funding. I le bui lt and sold two market­
leading social platforms: ctcamz (where he served as Founder & CEO from 1998-200 I) that serves 3M teams 
worldwide including Little League Baseball and was sold to the J\ctivc Network in 2000 and Zaadz (where 
he served as Founder & CEO from 2004-2007) that raised $3 million from investors including John Mackey 
(CEO of Whole foods) before selling to Gaiam (GJ\IJ\). 

J\s a Philosopher, he's served tens of thousands of people from every country in the world, from 2008 to 
present date with the PhilosophersNotes and Optimize memberships, and has trained over 11 ,000 people 
from I 11 + countries with the Ilcroic Coach program-which has been demonstrated to change lives. 

He holds a 13.J\.. degree in Psychology and Business (Phi Beta Kappa) from UCLA. 

On September 7, 2021, Johnson entered into a proprietary in formation and inventions agreement with the 
company. 

Bernardo Fanti, CTO 

Bernardo Fanti is currently our Chief Technology Officer. I le joined the team in March 2022. 

Prior to joining us, he was the Founder of a stealth SaaS business in the outdoor fitness training industry 
from 2021 to 2022. Previously, he served as cro and I lead of Product at TrainingPeaks (from 2018 to 2021) 
where he provided executive leadership over the technology and product organizations, helping drive 
profitable, multi-decade growth. 
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Bernardo also served as CTO of TrainingPeaks" parent company, Peakswarc (from 20 I 6 to 2018) where he 
drove technology & product vision for all brands under the Peaksware umbrella. During this time, he worked 
at the corporate level in M&A, strategy, policy, and governance, while a lso helping individual brands build 
teams, establish processes, and drive modern product best practices. 

Bernardo comes from a hands-on engineering and product background, working as a Software Engineer and 
Product Manager across a broad set of industries and technology stacks, including at lntio Inc. (from 20 IO to 
2011 ), a stai1up in the medical industry, and Avidyne (from 2006 to 2009), a successful innovator of aircraft 
avionics. He loves tying technology directly to business needs and solving real customer problems. 

He holds a 13.S. degree from Florida Institute of Technology in Aerospace Engineering. 

On April 28, 2022, Bernardo entered into a proprietary information and inventions agreement with the 
company. 
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OWNERSHIP AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE 

Ownership 

The following table shows who owns more than 20% of company's voting securities as of August l , 2022: 

Name of Beneficial Amount and class of securities Percent of voting power prior to the 
owner held Offering 
Brian Johnson 14,794,491 shares of Series 2 95% 

Common Stock (1) 

( I) Mr. Johnson owns 10,095,763 shares of Series 2 Common Stock individually and 4,698,728 shares 
of Series 2 Common Stock jointly with his wife. Mr. Johnson holds 64.84% of the voting power 
individually and 30. 18% of the voting power j ointly with his wi fc. 

The following table describes our capital structure as of August I, 2022: 

Class of Equity Authorized Issued and Committed, Not- Available 
Limit Outstanding issued 

Series 1 30,200,000 0 2,500,000 29,700,000 
Common Stock 

Series 2 14,800,000 14,794,491 0 5,509 
Common Stock 

Series Seed I 0,000,000 7,752, 170 0 2,247,830 
Preferred Stock 

18 



USE OF PROCEEDS 

The following table sets fotih the uses of proceeds as percentages for our target offering amount and 
maximum amount we wi ll accept in this offering. For furt her discussion, see the section entitled ''Financial 
Discussion-Plan of Operations." 

Allocation After Offering Allocation After Offering 

Purpose or Use of Funds 
Expenses for a $300,000 Raise Expense for a $1,000,000 Raise 

Product Development and 4 1% 4 1% 
Engineering 

Customer Experience and 0% 8% 
Suppo1t 

Sell ing, General and 0% 30% 
J\dm inistrative 

Legal and Consulting Fees 54% 16% 

Wefunder Intermediary Fee 5% 5% 

The identified uses o f proceeds arc subject to change at the sole direction of the officers and directors 
based on the business needs of the company. 
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FINANCIAL DISCUSSION 

Financial statements 

Our financial statements can be found in Exhibit 8 to the Form C of which this Offering Memorandum forms 
a part. The financial statements were audited by Fruci & Associates. The following discussion should be read 
in conjunction with our audited financial statements and the related notes included in this Offering 
Memorandum. 

Overview 

1 lcroic was founded on November 13, 2020 to help create a world in which 51 % of the world's population is 
flourishing by the year 2051. I low? We're build ing a social training platform to help people move from 
theory to practice to mastery together so they can show up as the best, most heroic versions of themselves. 
Our products arc offered via the web-based and mobile platforms directly to our customers. The company's 
business model is to sell monthly and annual recurring subscriptions (membersh ips) to the Heroic socia l 
training platform and access fees to its 1 leroic Coach program. 

On September 30, 2021, the company merged with Optimize, with the company being the surv ivi ng entity. 
While Optimize was acquired in September 202 1, as it was under common control, the merger was 
recognized retroactively in our financial statements as or and for the years ended December 31 , 2020 and 
2021 as if it occurred on December 31 , 20 19, including with regards to presentation of the beginning equity 
and share balances rcf1cctivc on an as-converted basis as if the merger had occurred at the beginning of the 
periods presented in the financial statements. 

The Crowd funding SPY, I Icroic CF SPV, LLC was recently organized and has no purpose other than to hold 
the securities to be issued by the company and pass through the rights related to those securities. 

Results of Operations 

Factors A.ffecting Operating Results 

We currently generate revenue from monthly and annual memberships to the I lcroic social training platform, 
as wel l as access fees to the Heroic Coach program. The com pany has in the past offered and intends in the 
future to also offer Lifetime memberships to both the I lcroic social training platform to the I leroic Coach 
program. Before July 2022, the company only offered annual memberships. 

The company collects revenues in advance and, in the case of annual and lifetime memberships, initially 
records them as deferred revenues. Annual memberships arc recognized monthly over the membership 
period on a straight- line basis, while lifetime memberships arc recognized over a two-year period as the 
company estimates that a customer receives the most benefit from the membership during their first two 
years. 

The company has determined that its performance obligations in relation to Heroic Coach arc satisfied 
through the passage of time of the underlying plan period, which arc annually or lifetime. As the li fetime 
plan is only avai lable after 1 yea.r 's pa1iicipation in the program, the company assessed that the customer will 
likely attend class up to another one year. 

During the periods presented, the company also received revenue for monthly and annual memberships to 
Optim ize by I lcroic. This product was made free, as a "frccmium" model product-led growth strategy, on 
October 8, 202 1. The I Ieroic social training platform launched on April 9, 2022; we expect to recognize 
revenue for this product in future periods. 
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Net revenues arc affected by discounts and promotions. 

Operating expenses largely consist of product development and engineering, legal and professional fees, 
advertising expenses, salaries and wages, and marketing expenses. 

• Our product development and engineering expenses consist primarily of costs incurred to MetaLab 
Design Ltd. (which supported the research, prototyping, design, development, and testing of our 
Heroic social training platform) and costs incurred in the development, maintenance, and 
enhancement of our backcnd infrastructure, website, and mobile apps to deliver our I Icroic social 
training platform, Optimize by lleroic, and l lcroic Coach products. 

• Our legal and professional fees consist primarily of costs incurred in conjunction with the merger of 
Optim ize Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation with the company, with ongoing compliance 
related to prior securities offerings, with ongoing securities offerings, and with the procurement of 
intellectual property agreements. 

• Advertising expenses consist of costs incurred to publish ads across a range of on line platforms, 
including Google J\ds, the Apple App Store, Google Play Store, faccbook, lnstagram, and podcast 
sponsorship. 

• Salaries and wages consist of payroll and related expenses for employees involved in marketing, 
data, experience des ign, customer service. financial planning & analysis, and human resources. 

• Marketing expenses consist primarily of costs incurred to Thrive Digital, First Spark Digital, Super 
Connector Media, LLC, and Dominate Web Media to support acquiring new customers, increasing 
Ii fetime value of existing customers, and buildi ng our brand awareness through various ofnine and 
onlinc channels, including television, newspapers, digital and social media, podcasts, email, 
influencer marketing and strategic brand partnerships. 

Year ended December 31, 2021 Compared to Year enrlell December 31, 2020 

Net Revenues 

Net revenues increased by $ I 78,968 from $2,066,407 for the year ended December 3 1, 2020 ('"Fiscal 2020") 
to $2,245,375 for the year ended December 3 I, 2021 ("Fiscal 2021 "), or by 8. 7%. llcroic Coach program 
revenues increased $392,560 from Fiscal 2020 to Fiscal 2021 , offset by a decrease in Optimize membership 
revenues of $2 13,59 1 over the same periods. The increase in net revenues was due primarily to an increase in 
the number or Ileroic Coach customers the company had in Fiscal 2021 when compared to Fiscal 2020, as 
well as providing Heroic Coach customers with free Optimize memberships during the tenure of their Coach 
access. During Fiscal 2020, revenues were roughly evenly split between coaching services and membership 
subscriptions, approximately 53.9% and 46. 1 %. During Fiscal 202 1, the revenue mix was split 
approximately 67% and 33%. 

Since the Optimize membership was made free on October 8, 2021, and, subsequent to December 31, 2022, 
we launched the Heroic social training platform on April 9, 2022, we anticipate that the revenue split will no 
longer include revenue from Optimize memberships. Going forward, it wi ll be split between Heroic social 
training platform memberships and I lero ic Coach access fees. We anticipate that Ilcroic social training 
platform memberships will be the primary driver of our revenues in 2022 and beyond. 

Operating Expenses 

Product development and engineering expenses increased from $298,927 during Fiscal 2020 to $3,674,914 
during Fiscal 202 1, an increase of 1,229.37%. The increase in product development and engineering 
expenses were attributable to investment in two major projects: I) research, des ign, and development of the 
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I Icroic app with MctaLab Design Ltd., and 2) a complete backcnd and frontcnd rebuild of the Optimize 
platform with Paravcl Inc. and Happy Cog (Vector Media Group, Inc.). 

Legal and professional fees were $63 1,496 and $ 1, 153,992, respectively, in Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 202 1, an 
increase of 82.7%. This increase was primari ly attributable to activities suppo1iing the offering of securities 
for its Seed Round of financing and the merger of Optimize Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation. 

Advertising costs increased $416,7 15 from $505,657 during Fiscal 2020 to $922,372 during Fiscal 202 1, or 
82.4% as the company invested heavily in customer acquisition and retention via paid online channels. 

Salaries and wages increased from $321 ,425 in Fiscal 2020 to $641 , 192 in Fiscal 2021, an increase of 99.5% 
as the company increased headcount and increased salaries and wages for its employees. 

Costs for marketing professional services were $429,082 and $604,091, during fiscal 2020 and Fisca l 202 1, 
respectively , an increase of 40.8%. This expense increased as a result of investing in backcnd data systems to 
inform marketing activities, and an increase in marketing activities to drive customer acquisition and 
retention. 

Other Income/Expense 

During Fiscal 202 I, the company incurred $238,700 in interest expense as a result of the conversion of 
principal and interest on its then outstanding convertible notes into shares of Series Seed Preferred Stock, as 
well as $5,463 in interest on those notes. Sec "Indebtedness" below. 

Net Loss 

As a result of the forego ing, we incurred a net loss of $5 ,744,503 in Fiscal 2021 , compared to a net loss of 
$672,825 in Fiscal 2020. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

As of December 31, 2021, the company had $3,366,903 in cash and cash equivalents on hand. Deferred 
revenues at that date were $903,782. The company's operations have been financed to date through a 
combination of revenues generated by the sale of our products, the issuance of equity securities and 
converti ble notes, a note issued by its founder and a PPP loan. We bel ieve that the proceeds from this 
offeri ng and a concurrent private placement of convertibles notes, together with our cash and cash equivalent 
balances will be adequate to meet our liquidity and capital expenditure req uirements for the next 12 months. 
If these sources arc not sufficient to meet our cash requirements, we will need to seek additional capital, 
potentially through private placements of equi ty or debt, to fund our plan of operations. 

Indebtedness 

In April 2020, the company entered into a loan with a lender in an aggregate principal amount of$10,000 
pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program ("PPP") under the Coronavirus /\id. Relief, and Economic 
Security (CARES) Act. The PPP loan is evidenced by a promissory note ("Note''). Subject to the terms of the 
Note, the PPP loan bears interest at a fixed rate of one percent (I%) per annum, with the fi rst six months or 
interest deferred, has an initial term of two years, and is unsecured and guaranteed by the Small Business 
Administration. In December 2020, the loan was forgiven, and the amount was recognized as other income. 

During 2020, the company entered into several convertible note agreements for a total of $950.000 principal. 
Under the terms of the notes, the company was to pay 4% interest per annum and the notes were to mature in 
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December 2022. The notes were subject to various conversion terms, including where the notes were 
automatically convertible to the company's stock at a 20% discount to the pricing in the triggering round if 
and upon the company closing a qualified equi ty financi ng of $ 1,250,000 or greater. On January 24, 2021, 
upon the issuance of Series Seed Preferred Stock in excess of $1 ,250,000, the then outstanding principal of 
$950,000 and accrued interest of $3,697 on the notes were converted into 754,328 shares of Series Seed 
Pre ferred Stock at a conversion rate of $1.26428 per share. The company incurred interest expense of $2,485 
on notes and recognized $238,700 of interest expense on beneficial convers ion feature against its addit ional 
paid-in capital during the year ended December 3 1, 2021. 

On the date of incorporation ofl lcroic. November 13, 2020, the com pany entered into a contribution 
agreement with 13rian Johnson, its founder and CEO, pursuant to which Mr. Johnson contributed certain 
assets to the company and the company assumed certain liabilities in exchange for 500,000 shares of the 
company's common stock. The company also entered into an unsecured note agreement w ith Mr. Johnson 
with a principal amount of $21,999, bearing interest at 0. 13% per annum. The note was to mature on 
November 13, 2021. The note payabl e was consideration for the purchase of the company's website domain. 
The company paid the fu ll amount in January 2021. 

On November 30, 2021. the company was authorized by its Board of Di rectors to issue up to $ 10,000,000 in 
original principal amount o f convertible notes in a private placement under Ruic 506( c) of Regulation D (the 
"2021 Private P lacement"). The company raised $4,209,375.17 in the 2021 Private Placement, which was 
closed on September 15, 2022. 

In September 2022, the company was authorized by its 13oard of Directors to issue up to $1 ,000,000 in 
original principal amount of senior convc,tiblc notes in a private placement under Ruic 506(c) of Regulation 
D (the "2022 Private Placement"). As of September 16, 2022, the company hadn ' t raised any proceeds in the 
2022 Private Placement. The 2022 Private Placement will be concurrent with this offering. 

Equity Issuances 

During 2021, the company raised gross proceeds of $9,999,929 through the issuance of 6,327,667 shares of 
Series Seed Preferred Stock at a price per share of $1 .58035 under concurrent offerings under Regulation 
Crowd funding and Regulation D. 

Trends 

Optim ize Enterprises Public Benefit Corporation had periods of profitabi lity during the years before it 
merged with the company; the financial statements for those periods arc not included in this Offering 
Memorandum. Since the merger, marketing has, at times, been successful in acquiring new customers and 
the price point for the Coach program was decreased. Discounting our prices on the Optimize platform (and 
even offering significant portions of the product for free) to attract customers to the new product launch for 
I Ieroic, in addition to investment in marketing and product development has decreased profitability such that 
the company has incurred losses in Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 202 1. 

Going forward, the Company's growth and profitability will depend upon our abil ity to invest in customer 
acquisition marketing, developing the I lcroic app such that it delights our community, and offering our 
services at an attractive price point. We may elect to spend an increased proportion of our revenues on these 
activities as compared to prior years to increase our growth trajectory whi le decreasing profitability. 

Since 202 1, our marketing spend has increased significantly. We will continue to spend in this area as we 
aim to acquire more customers. Our ability to acquire new customers at varying price points and at a velocity 
that contributes positively to our growth will determine the extent to which we continue to invest in this area. 
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Similarly, product development and engineering costs will continue to remain a large portion o f spend 
throughout 2022 and 2023. Our employee headcount overall will continue to increase throughout 2022 and 
2023 as we grow our team. 

We recently launched the Heroi c platform on April 9, 2022, and continue to invest in team growth, 
partnerships and customer acquis ition, customer research, and product development and engineering as we 
continue development- including the launch ofJ lcroic social in 2023. As such, we bel ieve our growth and 
profit margins may im prove in the post-launch phase of Heroic social. 
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

On the date of incorporation of I leroic, November 13, 2020, the company entered into a contribution 
agreement with Mr. Johnson, pursuant to which Mr. Johnson contributed certain assets to the company and 
the company assumed certain liabilities in exchange for 500,000 shares of the company 's common stock. The 
company also entered into an unsecured note agreement with Mr. Johnson, wi th a principal amount of 
$2 1,999, bearing interest at 0.13% per annum. The note was to mature on November 13, 202 1. The note 
payable was consideration for the purchase of the company's website domain. The company paid the ful l 
amount in January 2021. 

On September 30, 2021 , the company merged with Optimize Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation, with 
the company being the surviving entity. Our CEO and founder, Brian Johnson, was a lso the CEO and 
founder of Optimize and, together with his wife, the majority shareholder of Optimize. Mr. Johnson and his 
wife received 4,698,728 shares of Series 2 Common Stock in connection with the merger. 

During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the company incurred a total of $2,827,225 and 
$63,600 expense to MetaLab Design Ltd. and Philip Stutz for consulting services, respectively . The company 
has an outstanding payable of $319,873 and $12,000 as of December 31, 202 1 and December 31 , 2020, 
respectively. 

As of December 31, 202 1, Mr. Johnson has a net receivable of $26,427 from t he company. 

On December 9, 2021. the company issued a convertible promissory note to Philip Stutz with a principal 
amount of$ I 00,000 and accrued interest of $241 as of December 3 1, 2021. 
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RECENT OFFERINGS OF SECURITIES 

We have made the fo llowing issuances of securities s ince inception: 

• In 2020, the company entered into several convertible note agreements for a total principal amount 
of $950,000. Under the terms of these notes, the company was to pay 4% interest per annum and 
the notes were to mature in December 2022. The notes were subject Lo various conversion terms, 
including where the notes were automatically conve11iblc to the company's stock at a 20% 
discount to the pricing in the triggering round if and upon a qua! i fied equity financing of 
$1,250,000 or greater. 

On January 24, 202 1, the qualified equity financing was triggered and the then outstanding 
principal amounting to $950,000 and interest on the convertible notes payable amounting to $3,697 
was converted into 754,328 shares of Series Seed Preferred Stock at a conversion rate of $1.26428 
per share. 

• During 2021, the company raised gross proceeds of$9,999,929 through the issuance of6,327,667 
shares of Series Seed Preferred Stock at a price per share of$ 1.58035 under concurrent offerings 
under Regulation Crowd funding and Regulation D. 

• In 2021, the company's Board ofDircctors authorized the issuance ofup to $ 10,000,000 in 
original principal amount of convertible notes. As of August I, the company had issued 
convertible promissory notes for an aggregate principal amount of $4,209,375.17 ("202 1 Notes"). 
Interest accrues at a s imple rate of 4% per annum and, unless converted earlier into company 
securities, the notes wil l mature on December 31 , 2023. Each note will be convertible into: (a) 
shares of common stock or any securities conferring the right to purchase common stock or any 
securities directly or indirectly convertible into, or exchangeable for (with or without additional 
consideration) common stock, with certain exceptions ("Equity Securities") if the company 
receives gross proceeds of not less than $10,000,000 in one or more offerings with the principal 
purpose of raising capital ("Next Equity Financing") at the lower of: ( i) the product of 80% and the 
lowest per share purchase price of the Equity Securities issued in the Next Equity Financing; or (i i) 
the quotient resulting from dividing $100,000,000 by the number of issued and outstanding shares 
of the company's capital stock, assuming the conversion or exercise of all of the company's capital 
stock ('·Fully Diluted Capital ization") immediately prior to the closing of the Next Equity 
Financing, (b) shares of Series I Common Stock in the event of certain transactions such as a sale 
of substantially all of the company' s assets or a merger (' 'Corporate Transaction") at the 
conversion rate resulting from divid ing $ 100,000,000 by the Fully Diluted Capitali7.ation 
immediately prior to the closing of the Corporate Transaction, or (c) shares of Series 1 Common 
Stock at any time on or after the maturity date at the conversion rate resulting from dividing 
$100,000,000 by the Fully Di luted Capitalization immediately prior to such conversion. At any 
time on or after the maturity date, at the election of the holders of a majority-in- interest of the 
aggregate principal amount of the 2021 Notes, each 202 1 Note w ill convert into Series I Common 
Stock. In the event of a Corporate Transaction prior to the conversion of a 2021 Note or 
repayment of such 2021 Note. the holder of such 202 1 Note may elect that either: (a) the company 
will pay the holder of such 202 1 Note the outstanding principal balance and unpa id accrued 
interest of such 2021 Note; or (b) such 2021 Note wil I convert into shares of Series 1 Common 
Stock. The conversion terms of the 2021 Notes were amended in September 2022 to change the 
formu las for conversion as described below in ·'Securities Being Offered and Rights of Securities 
of the Company" below. 

• In September 2022, the company' s Board of Directors authorized the issuance of up to $1,000,000 
in original pri ncipal amount of senior convertible notes. As of September 19, the company has not 
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issued any senior convc1iible notes ("2022 Notes"). Interest accrues at a simple rate or 4% per 
annum and, unless converted earlier into company securities, the notes w ill mature on December 
31, 2025. Each note wil l be convertible into: (a) shares of common stock or any securities 
conferring the right to purchase common stock or any securities directly or indi rectly convertible 
into, or exchangeable for (with or without additional consideration) common stock, with certain 
exceptions ("Equity Securities'') i r the company receives gross proceeds of not less than 
$ 10,000,000 in one or more offerings with the principal purpose or rais ing capital ("Next Equity 
financ ing") at the lower o f: (i) the product of 80% and the lowest per share purchase price of the 
Equity Securities issued in the Next Equity Financing; or (ii) the quotient resulting from dividing 
$50,000,000 by the number of issued and outstanding shares o f the company's capital stock, 
assuming the conversion or exercise of all of the company's capital stock ("Fully Diluted 
Capitalization") immediately prior to the closing of the Next Equ ity Financing, (b) shares or Series 
1 Common Stock in the event or certain transactions such as a sale of substantially all or the 
company's assets or a merger ("Corporate Transaction") at the conversion rate resulting from 
dividing $50,000,000 by the fully Diluted Capitalization immediately prior to the closing of the 
Corporate Transaction, or (c) shares or Series I Common Stock at any time on or artcr the maturity 
date at the conversion rate resulting from dividing $50,000,000 by the Fully Diluted Capitalization 
immediately prior to such conversion. At any time on or after the maturity date, at the election of 
the holders ofa majority-in-interest or the aggregate principal amount of the 2022 Notes, each 
2022 Note wil l convert into Series I Common Stock. In the event of a Corporate Transaction prior 
to the conversion of a 2022 Note or repayment or such 2022 Note, the holder of such 2022 Note 
may elect that either: (a) the company will pay the holder of such 2022 Note the outstanding 
principal balance and unpaid accrued interest of such 2022 Note; or (b) such 2022 Note will 
convert into shares of Series I Common Stock. The Reg D Offering o r the 2022 Notes will be 
conducted concurrently w ith this offering. 
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SECURITIES BEING OFFERED AND RIGHTS OF THE SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY 

The following descriptions summarize important terms of our capital stock. This summary reflects the 
company's Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the "Certificate") and does not 
purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by the Cert(ficate and its Bylaws. For a complete 
description the company 's capital stock, you should refer to our Cert(ficale and our Bylaws and applicable 
provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law. 

General 

The company is offering up to $ 1,000,000 worth of C F Notes. The investment will be made through I lcroic 
CF SPY, LLC, a special purpose investment vehicle exempt from registrat ion under the Investment 
Company Act pursuant to Rule 270.3a-9 promulgated under that /\ct. 

The company' s Certificate provides that our authorized capital consists of 45,000,000 shares of Common 
Stock, par value $0.000 I per share, of which 30,200,000 arc designated as Series 1 Common Stock and 
14,800,000 are designated as Series 2 Common Stock, and 10,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, par value 
$0.0001 per share, all of which arc designated as Series Seed Preferred Stock. /\s of the date of this Offering 
Memorandum the company has 14,794,491 shares of Series 2 Common Stock and 7,752, 170 shares of Series 
Seed Preferred Stock issued and outstanding. 

Crowdfunding SPY 

The securities in this offering wi ll be issued by both the company and the Crowd funding SPY. The proceeds 
from the offering from the issuance of SPY interests will be received by the Crowdfunding SPY and invested 
immediately in the CF Notes issued by the company. The Crowd funding SPY will be the legal owner of the 
er Notes. Investors in this offering will own membership interests in the Crowdfunding SPY. Pursuant to 
SEC rules, investors will receive the same economic, voting and information rights in the Cr Notes (and the 
shares into which they convert) as if they had invested directly with the company. 

Senior Convertible Notes 

The fol lowing is a summary of the basic terms and conditions of the Senior Convertible Notes to be issued to 
Crowdfunding SPY pursuant to this offering (the "CF Notes"). 

Maturity Date 

Unless converted earlier into company securities, the outstanding principal and unpaid accrued interest on the 
CF Notes will be due and payable at any time on or after December 31 , 2025. 

Interest 

Simple interest will accrue on an annual basis at the rate o f 4% per annum. 

Ranking 

The payment of the principal amount on the C F Notes and the interest thereon shall be Senior (as defined in 
the er Notes) to, and have priority in right o f payment over, the indebtedness evidenced by the 2021 Notes 
(as defined in the CF Notes). "Senior" means that, in the event or any default in the payment of the 
obligations represented by the CF Notes or o f any liquidation, insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization, or 
similar proceedings relating to the company, all sums payable on the CF Notes shall first be paid in full , with 
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interest, if any, before any payment is made upon the 2021 Notes. The CF Notes arc pari passu with the 2022 
Notes. The indebtedness evidenced by the CF Notes is a general , unsecured obligation. 

Conversion at Next Equity Financing 

Upon the closi ng of the Next Equity Financing (as defined herein), the CF Notes will convert into the class 
of securities sold in the Next Equity Financing. The number of shares of Equity Securities that the CF Notes 
will convert into will be determined by dividing the outstanding principal balance and unpaid accrued 
interest under each er Note as of the date of conversion by the lower of: (a) the amount equal to (i) 80% 
multiplied by (ii) the lowest per share purchase price of the Equity Securities sold in the Next Equity 
Financing; or (b) the amount equal to (x) $50,000,000 divided by (y) the full y di luted capitalization 
immediately prior to the closing of the Next Equity Financing. "Next Equity Financing" means the next sale 
(or series of related sales) by the company of Equity Securi ties (as defined herein), in one or more offerings 
with the principal purpose of raising capital, from which the company receives gross proceeds of not less 
than$ I 0,000,000 (exclud ing, for the avoidance of doubt, the aggregate principal amount of the CF Notes). 
"Equity Securities" means (a) common stock of the company, (b) any securities conferring the right to 
purchase common stock of the company; or (c) any securities directly or indirectly convc1iiblc into, or 
exchangeable for (with or without additional consideration) common stock of the company. "Equity 
Securities" docs not include (i) any security granted, issued or sold by the company to any director, officer, 
em ploycc, consultant o r adviser of the company for the primary purpose of sol ici ting or retaining their 
services, (ii) any convertible promissory notes (including the CF Notes, 2021 Notes, and 2022 Notes) issued 
by the company, and ( iii) any SJ\FEs issued by the company. 

Conversion or Payment Upon Corporate Transaction 

In the event of a Corporate Transaction (as defined herein) prior to the conversion of a CF Note or repayment 
of such CF Note, the holder of such CF Note may elect that either: (a) the company wil I pay the holder of 
such CF Note the outstanding principal balance and all accrued and unpaid interes t of such CF Note; or (b) 
such er Note will convert into that number of shares of Series I Common Stock obtained by dividing (i) the 
outstanding principal balance and unpaid accrued interest of such CF Note on the date of convers ion by (ii) 
the amount equal to (x) $50,000,000 divided by (y) the fu lly diluted capital ization immediately prior to such 
conversion. "Corporate Transaction" means. with certain exceptions, (a) a sale, transfer or other disposition 
of all or substantially all of the company's assets, (b) a merger or consolidation of the company with or into 
another entity, or (c) a transfer (whether by merger, consolidation or otherwise) of 50% or more of the 
outstanding vot ing securities of the company or the surviving or acquiring entity. 

Conversion Upon Maturity 

At any time on or after the maturity date, al the election of the holders ofa majority-in-interest of the 
aggregate princ ipal amount of the CF Notes, each CF Note wil l conve11 into that number of Series I 
Common Stock obtained by dividing (a) the outstanding principal balance and unpaid accrued interest of 
such CF Note on the date of such conversion by (b) the quotient resulting from dividing (x) $50,000,000 by 
(y) the fully diluted capitalization immediately prior to such conversion. 

Prepayment 

The principal and accrued interest may not be prepaid unless approved in writing by the holders of a 
majority-in- interest of the aggregate principal amount of the CF Notes, except in the event of a Corporate 
Transaction to the extent that a holder of a CF Note elects to have such CF Note prepaid. 

Restrictions on Transfer 

29 



The Note Purchase Agreement and subscription agreement contain "market stand-off" provisions in the event 
of a proposed public offering . During the period, not to exceed 180 days, commencing on the date of the 
final prospectus relating to the initial public offering ("!PO") of the company and ending on the date 
specified by the company and the managing underwriter of the !PO, investors agree not to transfer any shares 
of Common Stock, or securities convertible or exercisable or exchangeable for Common Stock without the 
prior written consent of the managing underwriter. The market stand-off will not apply if the investor sells 
any shares in an underwritten offering. The provis ion will only apply to the I PO and only if all the officers 
and directors arc subject to the same restrictions and the company uses reasonable efforts to obtain a similar 
agreement from all stockholders that individually own more than 5% of the company's outstanding Common 
Stock. Investors agree to execute any agreements as may be reasonably requested by the underwriters ofthe 
!PO to effect the market stand-off. The Crowd funding SPY agrees in the Note Purchase J\grccment, and 
investors agree in the subscription agreement, not lo dispose of any of the company's securities to the 
company's competitors, as determined in good faith by the company. 

Additionally, the company's Amended and Restated Bylaws contain a right of first refusal provision which 
requires any shareholder to provide the company with written notice of its intention to sell or transfer their 
shares of stock. Such notice shal l name the proposed transferee, state the number of shares to be transferred, 
provide the proposed consideration and describe any other terms and conditions of the proposed transfer. The 
company shall have 30 days upon receipt of the notice to exerc ise its option to purchase all or a portion of the 
share described in the notice at the price and upon the same terms described therein. The company may 
ass ign its rights of first refusal. The company 's Amended and Restated Bylaws also restrict any sale, 
ass ignment, pledge or other transfer of the shares of its capital stock without the prior consent of the 
company, including a prohibition on transferring any securities of the company to a competitor, except in 
certain circumstances. 

Proxy 

The note purchase agreement that the Crowdfunding SPY wi ll execute in connection with this offering grants 
an irrevocable proxy to the company's C l~O to (i) vote al l securities he ld of record by the Crowdfund ing 
SPY (including any shares of the company' s capital stock that the Crowdfunding SPY may acquire in the 
future), (ii) g ive and receive noti ces and communications, (iii) execute any written consent, instrument or 
document that the CEO determi nes is necessary or appropriate al the CEO's complete discretion, and (iv) 
take all actions necessary or appropriate in the judgment of the CEO for the accompl ishment of the 
forego ing. The proxy will survive the death, incompetency and disability of an indiv idual holder and, if a 
holder, like the Crowdfunding SPY, is an enti ty, will survive the merger or reorganization of the holder or 
any other entity holding the shares of Common Stock. The proxy will also be binding upon the heirs, estate, 
executors, personal representatives, successors and assigns of a holder (including any transferee of the 
holder). Any trans feree ofa holder must agree to be bound by the terms of the proxy. The proxy wi ll 
terminate upon the closing ofa firm -commitment underwritten pu blic offering pursuant to an effective 
registration statement under the Securities /\ct covering the offer and sale of Common Stock or the 
effectiveness of a registration statement under the Exchange /\ct covering the Common Stock. 

Common Stock 

The following is a description of the company 's capital stock, including securi ties into which the CF Notes 
may convert in certain circumstances. The company is not selling shares of common or preferred stock in 
this offering. 

Voting Rights 
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Each share of Series I Common Stock has one vote and each share of Series 2 Common Stock has ten votes. 

Election of Directors 

The holders of the Common Stock and Preferred Stock, voting together as a si ngle class, arc entitled to elect, 
remove and replace all d irectors of the company. 

Dividend Rights 

The holders of the Common Stock arc enti tled to receive, on a pari passu basis. when and as declared by the 
Board of Directors, out of any assets of the company legally available therefore, such dividends as may be 
declared from time to time by the Board of Directors. 

Liquidation Rights 

In the event of the company's liquidation, or winding up, whether voluntary or involuntary, subject to the 
rights of any senior Preferred Stock that may then be outstanding, the assets of the company legally available 
for di stribution to stockholders will be dist ributed on an equal priori ty, pro rata basis to the holders of 
Common Stock. 

Conversion Qf Series 2 Common Stock 

Each share of Series 2 Common Stock is convertible into one ( I) share of Series I Common Stock at the 
option of the holder. Each share of Series 2 Common Stock will convert automatically into one ( I) share of 
Series 1 Common Stock upon (a) the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority in voting power of the 
outstanding Series 2 Common Stock or (b) a transfer of such share that is not a Permitted Transfer (as 
defined in the Certificate). 

Preferred Stock 

General 

The company has the authority to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of Series Seed Preferred Stock. 

Notice Rights regardinf; Dividends on Common Stock 

The company may not declare, pay or set as ide any dividends on shares of Common Stock unless at least 10 
days' prior written notice is sent to the holders of Preferred Stock, provided that such notice requirement may 
be waived or shortened by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the Preferred Stock. 

Voting Rights 

Each share of Series Seed Preferred Stock has one vote. 

liquidation Rif{hts 

In the event of any voluntary or invo luntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the company, the 
holders of the Series Seed Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive, prior and in preference to any 
distribution of any assets of the company to the holders of the Common Stock, an amount per share equal to 
$ 1.58035. 
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Conversion Rights 

Each share of Series Seed Pre ferred Stock is convertible at the option of the holder into one ( I) share o f 
Series 1 Common Stock, subject to adjustment. The Series Seed Preferred Stock w ill automatically be 
converted into Series I Common Stock immediately prior to the closing of a firm commitment underwritten 
initial public offering or at the close of business on the date of adoption of a resolution to convert all of the 
outstanding shares of Preferred Stock by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority in voting power of 
the outstanding Preferred Stock. 

2021 Convertible Notes 

On November 30, 2021 , the company was authorized by its Board of Directors to offer up to $10,000,000 in 
original pri ncipal amount of convertible notes in a private placement under Regulat ion D (the private 
placement is referred to as the "202 1 Reg D Offering" and the notes sold in the 2021 Reg D Offering arc 
referred to as the "202 1 Notes"). The following is a summary of the basic terms and conditions of the 2021 
Notes. The company raised $4,209,375. 17 in principal amount of202 l Notes. The 2021 Reg D Offeri ng was 
closed on September 15, 2022. The 2021 Notes were amended in September 2022 to change the formulas 
for conversion as described below. 

Maturity Date 

Unless converted earlier into Company securities, the outstanding princ ipal and unpaid accrued interest on 
the 202 1 Notes will be due and payab le at any time on or after December 31 , 2023 . 

Interest 

Simple interest will accrue on an annual basis at the rate of 4% per annum. 

Conversion at Next Equity Financing 

Upon the closing of the Next Equity Financing (as defined herein), the 2021 Notes will convert into the class 
of securities sold in the Next Equity Financing. The number of shares of Equity Securities that the 2021 
Notes will convert into will be determined by dividing the outstanding principal balance and unpaid accrued 
interest under each 202 I Note as of the date of conversion by the lower of: (a) the amount equal to (i) 80% 
multiplied by (i i) the lowest per share purchase price of the Equity Securities sold in the Next Equity 
Financing; or (b) the amount equal to (x) $50,000,000 divided by (y) the full y di luted capital ization 
immediately prior to the closing of the Next Equity Financing. 

Conversion or Payment Upon Co,porate fransaction 

In the event of a Corporate Transaction prior to the conversion of a 2021 Note or repayment of such 2021 
Note, the holder of such 2021 Note may elect that either: (a) the company will pay the holder of such 202 1 
Note the outstanding principal balance and unpaid accrued interest of such 202 1 Note; or (b) such 202 1 Note 
will convert into that number of shares of Series 1 Common Stock obtained by dividing (i) the outstanding 
principal balance and unpaid accrued interest of such 202 1 Note on the date of convers ion by (i i) the amount 
equal to (x) $50,000,000 divided by (y) the fully diluted capitalization immediately prior to such conversion. 

Conversion Upon Maturity 

At any time on or after the maturity date, al the election of the holders ofa majority-in-interest of the 
aggregate pri ncipal amount of the 2021 Notes, each 2021 Note will convert into that number of shares of 
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Series I Common Stock obtained by dividing (a) the outstanding princ ipal balance and unpaid accrued 
interest of such 202 1 Note on the date of such conversion by (b) the quotient resulting from dividing (x) 
$50,000,000 by (y) the fully diluted capitalization immediately prior to such conversion. 

Prepayment 

The principal and accrued interest may not be prepaid unless approved in writing by the holders of a 
majority-in-interest of the aggregate principal amount of the 2021 Notes, except in the event of a Corporate 
Transaction to the extent that a holder of a 2021 Note elects to have such 202 1 Note prepaid. 

2022 Convertible Notes 

In September 2022, the company was authorized by its Board of Directors to offer up to $ 1,000,000 in 
original principal amount of senior convertible notes in a private placement under Regulation D (the private 
placement is referred to as the "2022 Reg D Offering" and the notes sold in the 2022 Reg D Offering arc 
referred to as the '·2022 Notes·'). The following is a summaiy of the basic terms and conditions of the 2022 
Notes. A s of September 16, 2022, the company hadn't sold any o f the 2022 Notes. The 2022 Reg D Offering 
will be conducted concurrently with this offering . 

Maturity Date 

Unless converted earl ier into Company securities, the outstanding principal and unpaid accrued interest on 
the 2022 Notes will be due and payable at any time on or after December 3 J, 2025. 

Interest 

Simple interest will accrue on an annual basis at the rate of 4% per annum. 

Seniority 

The payment of the principal amount on the 2022 Notes and the interest thereon shall be Senior (as defined 
herein) to, and have priority in right of payment over, the indebtedness evidenced by the 2021 Notes. 
"Senior" means that, in the event of any default in the payment of the obligations represented by the 2022 
Notes or of any liquidation, insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization, or s imilar proceedings relating to the 
company, all sums payable on the 2022 Notes shall first be paid in fu ll , w ith interest, if any, before any 
payment is made upon the 202 1 Notes. T he 2022 Notes arc pari passu with the CF Notes. The indebtedness 
evidenced by the 2022 Notes is a general, unsecured obligation. 

Conversion al Next Equity Financing 

Upon the closing of the Next Equity Financing (as defined herein), the 2022 Notes will convc1t into the class 
of securities sold in the Next Equity Financing. The number o f shares of Equity Securities (as defined herein) 
that the 2022 Notes will convert into will be determined by divid ing the outstanding principal balance and 
unpaid accrued interest under each 2022 Note as of the date of conversion by the lower o f: (a) the amount 
equal to (i) 80% multiplied by (ii) the lowest per share purchase price of the Equity Securities sold in the 
Next Equity Financing; or (b) the amount equal to (x) $50,000,000 divided by (y) the fully diluted 
capitalization immedi ately prior to the closing of the Next Equity Financing. 

Conversion or Payment Upon Corporate Transaction 
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In the event of a Corporate Transaction prior to the convers ion of a 2022 Nole or repayment of such 2022 
Note, the holder o f such 2022 Note may elect that either: (a) the company will pay the holder of such 2022 
Note the outstanding principal balance and unpaid accrued interest of such 2022 Note; or (b) such 2022 Note 
will convert into that number of shares of Series I Common Stock obtained by dividi ng (i) the outstanding 
principal balance and unpaid accrued interest of such 2022 Note on the date of conversion by (i i) the amount 
equal to (x) $50,000,000 divided by (y) the ful ly di luted capitali zation immediately prior to such conversion. 

Conversion Upon Maturity 

At any time on or after the maturity date, at the election of the holders of a majority-in-interest of the 
aggregate principal amount of the 2022 Notes, each 2022 Note w ill convert into that number of shares of 
Series I Common Stock obtained by dividing (a) the outstanding principal balance and unpaid accrued 
interest of such 2022 Note on the date of such conversion by (b) the quotient resulting from dividing (x) 
$50,000,000 by (y) the fully diluted capitalization immediately prior to such convers ion. 

Prepayment 

The principal and accrued interest may not be prepaid unless approved in writing by the holders of a 
majority-in-interest of the aggregate principal amount of the 2022 Notes, except in the event o f a Corporate 
Transaction to the extent that a holder of a 2022 Note elects to have such 2022 Note prepaid. 

What it Means to be a Minority Holder 

As an investor in the Cr Notes of the company, if such notes convert into equity securities of the company, 
you will not have any rights in regard to the corporate actions of the company, including additional issuances 
of securities, company repurchases of securities, a sale of the company or its s ignificant assets, or company 
transactions with related parties. 

Transferability of securities 

For a year, the securities can only be resold: 

• In an !PO or other public offering registered with the SEC; 

• To the company; 

• To an accredited investor; and 

• To a member of the family of the purchaser or the equivalent, to a trust controlled by the 
purchaser, to a trust created for the benefi t ofa member of the family of the purchaser or the 
equivalent, or in connection with the death or divorce of the purchaser or other similar 
circumstance. 

Tnrnsfer Agent 

The company has not engaged a transfer agent as it intends to maintain current records of investors through 
the recordkeeping by its Crowd funding S PY. 
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DILUTION 

Investors should understand the potential for dilution. If the Cf Notes conve11 into equity securities of the 
company, an investor's stake in a company could be diluted due to the company issuing additional shares. In 
other words, when the company issues more shares, the percentage of the company that you own wi ll go 
down, even though the value of the company may go up. You will own a smaller piece of a larger company. 
This increase in number of shares outstanding could result from a stock offering (such as an initial public 
offering, another crowdfunding round, a venture capital round, angel investment), employees exercis ing 
stock options, or by conversion of certain instruments (e.g., convertible bonds, preferred shares or warrants) 
into stock. 

If the company decides to issue more shares, an investor could experience value dilution, with each share 
being worth less than before, and control dilution, with the total percentage an investor owns being less than 
before. There may a lso be earnings dilution, with a reduction in the amount earned per share (though this 
typically occurs only if the company offers dividends, and most early -stage companies arc unlikely to offer 
dividends, prefcn-ing to invest any earnings into the company). 

The type of dilution that hurts early-stage investors most occurs when the company sells more shares in a 
"down round," meaning at a lower valuation than in earlier offerings. /\n example of how this might occur is 
as follows (numbers arc for illustrative purposes only): 

• In June 2020 Jane invests $20,000 for shares that represent 2% of a company valued at$ I million. 

• In December the company is doing vc1y well and sells $5 million in shares to venture capitalists on a 
valuation (before the new investment) o f $ 10 million. Jane now owns only 1.3% of the company but 
her stake is worth $200,000. 

• In June 2021 the com pany has run into serious problems and in order to stay afloat it raises $1 
mil lion at a valuation of only $2 million (the "down round"). Jane now owns only 0.89% of the 
company and her stake is wo11h only $26,660. 

This type of dilut ion might also happen upon conversion of convertible notes into shares. Typically, the 
terms of convertible notes issued by early-stage companies provide that in the event of another round of 
financing, the holders of the convertible notes get to convc11 their notes into equity al a "d iscount" to the 
price paid by the new investors, i.e., they get more shares than the new investors would for the same price. 
Add itionally, convertible notes may have a ·'price cap" on the conversion price, which effectively acts as a 
share price cei ling. Either way, the holders of the convertible notes get more shares for their money than new 
investors. In the event that the financing is a ''down round'" the holders of the convertible notes wi 11 di! ute 
existing equi ty holders, and even more than the new investors do, because they get more shares for their 
money. Investors should pay careful attention to the aggregate total amount of convertible notes that the 
com pany has issued (and may issue in the future, and the terms of those notes. 

If you arc making an investment expecting to own a certain percentage of the company or expecting each 
share to hold a ce1tain amount of value, it' s important to realize how the value of those shares can decrease 
by actions taken by the company. Dilution can make drastic changes to the value of each share, ownership 
percentage, voting control, and earnings per share. 

Va luation 

/\s discussed above, the valuation of the company will determ ine the amount by which the investor's stake is 
diluted in the future. /\nearly-stage company typically sells its shares (or grants options to purchase its 
shares) to its founders and early employees at a very low cash cost, because they arc, in effect, putting their 
"sweat equity' ' into the company. When the company seeks cash investments from outside investors, like 
you, the new investors ty pically pay a much larger sum for their shares than the founders or earlier investors, 
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which means that the cash value of your stake is immediately d iluted because each share of the same type is 
worth the same amount, and you paid more for your shares than earlier investors did for thei rs. 

There arc several ways to value a company, and none of them is perfect and all of them involve a certain 
amount of guesswork. The same method can produce a different valuation if used by a different person. 

Liquidation Value -The amount for w hich the assets of the company can be sold, minus the liabilities 
owed, e.g., the assets of a bakery include the cake mixers, ingredients, baking tins, etc. The liabi lities of a 
bakery include the cost of rent or mortgage on the bakery. I lowevcr, this value docs not reJlect the potential 
value ofa business, e.g., the value of the secret recipe. The value for most startups lies in their potential, as 
many early-stage companies do not have many assets (they probably need to raise funds through a securities 
offering in order lo purchase some equipment). 

Book Value -This is based on analysis of the company's financial statements, usually looking al the 
company's balance sheet as prepared by its accountants. However, the balance sheet only looks at costs (i .e., 
what was paid for the asset), and docs not consider whether the asset has increased in value over time. In 
addition, some intangible assets, such as patents, trademarks or trade names, arc very val uablc but arc not 
usually represented at their market value on the balance sheet. 

Earnings Approach -This is based on what the investor wi ll pay (the present value) for what the investor 
expects to obtain in the future (the future return), taking into account inflation, the lost opportunity to 
participate in other investments, the risk of not receiving the return. IIowcver, predictions of the future arc 
uncertain and valuation of future returns is a best guess. 

Different methods of valuation produce a different answer as to what your investment is worth. Typically, 
liquidation value and book value will produce a lower valuation than the earnings approach. l lowever, the 
earnings approach is also most likely to be risky as it is based on many assumptions about the future, while 
the liquidation value and book value are much more conservative. 

Future investors (including people seeking lo acquire the company) may value the company differently. They 
may use a different valuation method, or different assumptions about the company's business and its 
market. Different valuations may mean that the value assigned to your investment changes. It frequently 
happens that when a large institutional investor such as a venture capitalist makes an investment in a 
company, it values the company at a lower price than the initial investors did. If this happens, the value of the 
investment will go down. 
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RF:GULATORY INFORMATION 

Disqualification 

Neither the company, the Crowdfunding SPY nor any of its officers or managing members arc disqualified 
from relying on Regulation Crowdfunding. 

Annual reports 

The company filed an annual report for the year ended December 31, 2021 . Any annual reports will be 
posted on the company's website, https://heroic.us/c-ar. 

Compliance fa ilure 

The company believes that neither it nor the Crowd funding SPY have previously failed to comply with the 
requirements of Regulation Crowd fund ing beyond any " ins ignificant deviation" as set out in Ruic 502 of 
Regulation CF. 

INVESTING PROCESS 

Information Regarding Length of Time of Offering 

Investment Cancellations: Investo rs wi ll have up to 48 hours prior to the end of the o fferi ng period to 
change their minds and cancel their investment commitments for any reason. Once the offering period is 
w ithin 48 hours of ending, investors w ill not be able to cancel for any reason, even if they make a 
commitment during this period. 

Not(fications: Inves tors wi ll receive periodic notifications regarding certain events pertaining to this offering, 
such as the company reaching its offering target, the company making an early closing, the company making 
material changes to its Form C, and the o ffering closing at its Termination Date. 

Material Changes: Material changes to an offering include but arc not limited to: 
J\ change in minimum offering amount, change in security price, change in management, etc. !f an issuing 
company makes a material change to the offering terms or other information disclosed, including a change to 
the offering deadline, investors will be g iven five business days to reconfirm their investment commitment. If 
investors do not reconfirm, their investment will be cancelled, and the funds will be returned. 

Rolling and Early Closings: The company may elect to undertake rolling clos ings, or an early closing after it 
has received investment interests fo r its target offering amount. During a rolling closing, those investors that 
have committed funds will be provided five days' notice prior to acceptance of the ir subscriptions, re lease o f 
funds to the company, and issuance of securities to the investors . During this time, the company may 
continue soliciting investors and receiving additional investment commitments. Investors should note that if 
investors have a lready received their securities, they will not be required to reconfirm upon the fil ing of a 
material amendment to the Form C. In an early c losing, the offering wi ll terminate upon the new target date, 
which must be at least five days from the date of the notice. 

Investor Limitations 

Investors arc limited in how much they can invest on all crowd fund ing offerings during any 12-month 
period. The limitation on how much they can invest depends on their net worth (excluding the value of their 
primary res idence) and annual income. If either their annua l income or net worth is less than $ 107,000, then 
during any 12-month period, they can invest up to the greater of either $2,200 or 5% of the g reater of their 
annual income or Net worth. If both their annual income and net wo11h arc equal to o r more than $ 107,000, 
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then during any 12-month period, they can invest up to I 0% of annual income or net worth, whichever is 
greater, but the ir investments cannot exceed$ I 07,000. If the investor is an "accredited investor" as defined 
under Rule 501 of Regulation D under the Securities /\ct, as amended, no investment limits apply. 

Updates 

Information regarding updates to the offering and to subscribe can be found here, 
https://we funder. com/heroic. 
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FRUCI 
ASSOC~ll 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Heroic Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation 

Opinion on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Heroic Enterprises, Publ ic Benefit Corporation 
("the Company") as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the related consolidated statements of operations, 
stockholders' equity/(deficit), and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 
2021, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the financial statements). In our opinion, the financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 
and 2020 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended 
December 31, 2021, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the Unit ed States of America. 

Going Concern 

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going 

concern . As discussed in Note 3 to the financial statements, the Company has an accumulated deficit, net losses, 
and negative cash flows from operations. These factors raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to 
continue as a going concern. Management's plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 3. The 
financial statements do not incl ude any adjustments that might result from the outcome of t his uncertainty. 

Basis for Opinion 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered 
with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent 
with respect to the Company in accordance with t he U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and 
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of t he PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to 
perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit, we are required t o obtain an 
understanding of internal control over financial report ing, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion . 

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit 
also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluat ing the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion. 

Critical Audit Matters 

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial 
statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate 
to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, 
subjective, or complex judgments. The communicat ion of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our 
opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters 
below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they 

relate. 



Revenue Recognition - Refer to No te 2 to the financial s tatements 

Critical Audit Matter Description 

The Company's revenue is col lected in advance and is recognized over time. Calculations and accounting for the 
revenue require management's judgements related to the timing of their performance obligation and its estimates 
for refunds. 

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit 

Our audit procedures related to evaluating the Company's accounting for revenue and related accounts included 
the following, among others: 

• Independent assessment of the Company's revenue recognition policy and compliance with ASC 606. 

• Sampling and substantively testing revenue and related accounts. 

• Independent assessment of the refund estimates, performing independent calculations and comparing 
the Company's conclusions as determined by the audit. 

Accounting for Business Combinations - Refer to Notes l and 7 to the financial s tatements 

Critical Audit Matter Description 

On September 8, 2021, the Company entered into a merger agreement with Optimize Enterprises, Public Benefit 
Corporation. Both companies in the merger agreement were under common control. 

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit 

Our audit procedures related to evaluating the Company's accounting for the business combination included the 
following, among others: 

• Gaining understanding of and independent analysis of the business combination. 

We have served as t he Company's auditor since 2021. 

Spokane, Washington 
May 2, 2022 



HEROIC ENTERPRISES, PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHE ETS 
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020 

ASSETS 
Current A:-:sc1s: 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Subscription receivable 

I •:scrow receivable 

Due from related party 

Deferred offerinv. costs 

l'rcp:iid expenses 

Deposit 

Total Current Assets 

Non-Current Asset~: 

Propen y and eLJuipment, net 

1 ntangiblc a,set, net 

Total Non-Current ,\sscts 

TOT,\ I, , \SSliTS 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Current I .iabilities: 

1\ ccounts payable 

1\ccrued expenses 

Deferred revenue 

Sales tax payable 

Due to rdateJ parry 
Due to Optimize stockholders 

Convert iblc notes 1x1yablc 

Interest payable 

Total Current' l ,iabilitics 

Non-current Liabilities: 

Convertible notes 1nyable, net of issuance costs 

I ntcrest payable 
·rota! Non-currcm I .iabilitics 

Total l .iabili tics 

Stockholders' I ·'.L1uity/ (Deficit): 
Series Seed Preferred Stock, S0.0001 par, 10,000,000 shares aurhorizeJ, 

7,752,170 and 670,175 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2021 

and 2020, respectively 

Series 1 Common Stock, S0.0001 par, 28,200,000 shares authorized, 

0 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 

Series 2 Common Stock, S0.0001 par, 1-1,800,000 shares au1hori%cd, 
14,79-'1,491 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2021 anJ 2020 

Treasury stock 

,\dditional paid-in capiral 

1\ccumulatcd deficit 

Total Stockholders' l•'.quiry/(Dcftcit) 

TOT1\L 1.1 ,\ Bll.J'l'll•'.S ,\ N D STOCKI 1O1.Dl·:RS' 1•:<~UITY /(Dl •:I•'ICJ'I) 

2021 ----

s 3,366,903 

500 

81,357 

26:127 

20,567 

265,3-15 

17,000 

3,778,099 

81,546 

40,27'1 ----

s 

s 

s 

121,81 7 

3,899,916 

4•14,398 

134,560 

903,782 

127,979 

1,610,719 

855,605 

2,289 
857,894 

2,-168,6 13 

775 

1,479 

(2,828,733) 

12,634,501 

(8,376,719) 

1,431,303 

3,899,91(;, 

s 

s 

s 

s 

2020 

980,077 

500 

43,721 

26,427 

9,765 

1,375 

1,061 ,865 

4,972 

21,082 

26,05-1 

1,087,919 

6,138 

161,024 

737,'189 

21,999 

2,828,733 

950,000 

1,212 

'1,706,595 

•l,706,595 

(:,7 

1,479 

(2,828,733) 

1,8-10,727 

{2,632,216) 

(3,618,676) 

1,087,9 19 

Sec Report of Independent Registered Public 1\ ccount.ing Firm and accompanying notes, which are 
an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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HEROIC ENTERPRISES, PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

Opcrnring I ixpcnscs: 

ProJucr development and engineering 

I .cgal and professional fees 

,\dverrising 

Salaries and wages 

1\larkcting professional services 

Customer support 

Taxes and licenses 

Merchant foes 

Professional dcvclopmcnt and training 

Software and subscriptions 

I losring fees 

( >fficc supplies 

Insurance 

Depreciation and amortization 

Sales professional services 

Utilities 

Repair,; and maintenance 

Trade shows and con forencl's 

Rent 

Others 

Total Operating Expenses 

Loss from operations 

Orher lncomc/(Expcmc): 

l nterest i ncomc 

Interest expeme - beneficial conver,ion tcaturc 

I merest expense 

Clthers - net 
Total Other lncome/(Expcnsc) 

Provision for income raxcs 

Net loss 

Weighted average common share, outstanding 

-1\asic and Diluted 

Net loss per common share 

-Basic and D iluted 

s 

s 

s 

2021 

2,2/45,375 s 

3,674,914 

1,153,992 

922,372 
6-11.192 

60-1,09 1 
130,771 

129,115 
99,308 

85,660 
78,1tl6 

65,708 

30,62-1 

29,135 

26,376 

25,500 

7, 11 2 

3,815 
9-10 
179 

37,185 

7,7-16,135 

(5,500,760) 

465 

(238,700) 

(5,-163) 

(4S) 
(243,743) 

(5,7-1-1,503)_ s 

14,794,-191 

(0.39) s 

2020 

2,066,407 

298,927 

631,496 
505,657 

321,425 
429,082 

61,186 
8()2 

105,923 

6-l,097 

55,567 

62.759 

-19,009 

16,866 

3,016 

36,500 

12,690 

37,079 
3,1,817 

18,1 03 

3,0-10 

2,718,0-ll 

(681,634) 

21 

(1,212) 
10.000 

8,809 

(672,825) 

5,333,161 

(0.13) 

Sec Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm and accompanying noLcs, which are 
an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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H EROIC ENTERPRISES, PUBLIC BEN EFIT CORPORATION 
CONSOLIDATED STAT EMENTS OF STOCKHOLDE RS' E QUITY/ (DEFICIT) 
l ' or t he years ended D ecember 31, 2021 and 2020 

1:o,wcn.011 , ,i n()lr~ p.1,~l1k 

lknl'fil·1.tl cnOH"t•1on fc.i111urr 

:\'c1 \o,> 
U;i.bncc:u lx(('rnbcr ll.3C1 

£N"k"'f.~ru·fc-rr«IS1uclr. !-t"nt$)CJ,nir:11on:,.i<oek ~"~~ ·1,c~i,.u1\~l11c1' .\cirl1!1rotull1Aul-

~ \fl"'M\I ~ .\ 11'11~ __ ;.;!:in·• \ ~ -;11.lri:.__ \ nmunr _ __!!• ~ 

670.175 

(1,.1-:;7,667 

"15 1.J::8 

77;;!J 70 

t,7 

oJJ 
71 

m ----• 

U.J'IJ.1,4'>1 1,t '1') 1/,v',.]l.i $ (~.7:\JJ S J,8.m,727 S 

-1,V??l.7::X 
ln,1iib."/6J 

'J,W) .. ~J.J 

•HV,:!:! 
~ .7m 

P'J7,tH2) 

l,f,~T'Y,; S ,~ ~ .711) $ IJW l.:!11 

( IIW) 

\,·,·umul.11rll 1 nc.,I !'>ft1<"klml1kN' 

1),:f,cu _ _1_~11111,/(l'klir,!!.!_ 

{'Vil8J17(11 
'J,'J'J<J,fJ27 ,,_,,1,n 

2\S.7(rJ 
(i'fl.l!l l'.!) 

{5-7~~}11ll) ~-"'~ 
tJl:,17(1,71'1) s I. 1'1Jll3 

1l,?'l'>-1'Jll S (;!.',1,U,.176J 

s:~ ___ . ____ . --- ~ - - - - - - - - ____J££_~}'.i --~'~'·1=:.8=~=;1 
,,10.11s -'s'-- -"''1:... ____ :.. -''---:.. J.t_71).1,ll)J l,(,..=-.t.,,".G~ S r.:fef(,7,H) S l)tll•.m S 12J,U,;!l(,) --'---'<'-'V-",1--f.l,"'7-"-(,J 

Sec Rcporr or I n<lcpentknt Rcgi~tcrc<l Public . \ccounting Fim1 an<l accompanying note·~, which an.: an int egral pan of the~<: consoli<latc<l 
financial s tatcm cms. 
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HEROIC ENTERPRISES, PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Ner loss 

. \Jju:--tnH.:nts to rcconciJ(.! net lo~:,; lo net ca~h u~<:d 

in operating activities: 

Depn:ciation and amortization 

Interest expense on convertible notes 

I ntcrcst cxpcnse on bcneficial conversion fo:iture 

,\mortization of dcbt issuance costs 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

( lncrc:isc)/Dc.:crcasc in escrow n:ccivablc 

(lncmm:)/Dccrcasc in prcp:iid expenses 

(lncrrnse)/Dccreasc in deposit 

lncrcasc/(Decrease) in accounts payable 

lncn:ase/(Dccr<:ase) in accrued cxpcnscs 

I ncrcasc/ (Decrease) in dcfcrrcd revenue 

I ncrc-:tse/ (Decrease) in sales tnx payable 

Nct cash used in operating activities 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Purchase of property and cc1uipmcnt 

Purchase of website 

Net cash used in investing :-ictivities 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Rcpai•mcnt of related party loan 

Payment to Optimize stockholders 

Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes 

Debt issuctnce costs 

Proceeds from issuance of Serie, Seed Prcfcrn:d Stock 

( )ffo,·ing costs 

Capital contribution 

Redemption of ,hare, 
Nc1 cash provided by financing acrivitics 

Net changc in cash 

Cash at beginning of the year 

Cash at end of the )'L'.lr 

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: 

Cash p:ud for interest expcn~c 

Cash paid for income tax 

Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Financing Activity: 

Conversion of notes payable ro Series Sced !'referred Stock 

2021 

s (5,744,503) s 

26,376 

4,774 

238,700 

689 

(37,636) 

(263,970) 

(17,000) 

438,260 
(26,464) 

166,293 

127 979 

(5,086,502) 

(91,872) 

---- Q_0,26:?} 
(1 22,139) 

(21,999) 

(2,828,733) 

872,13-1 

(17,218) 

9,999,927 

(408,6411) 

~ 5 ,-IQZ_ 

2,386,826 

980,077 

s 3,366903 s 

s s 
s s 

s 953,697 s 

2020 

(672,825) 

3,016 
1,212 

(9,189) 
(1,375) 

5,000 
6,045 

116,327 
200,11211 

(351,665) 

(3,708) 
(21,999) 

(25,707) 

12,581 

950,000 

(9,765) 
25 

(12,500) 

9-10,3'11 

562,969 

417,!08 

980,077 

Sec Report oflndepcndcnt Registered Public Accounting Firm and accompanying notes, which are 
an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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HEROIC ENTERPRISES, PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020 and for the years then ended 

NOTE 1: NATURE OF OPERATIONS 

Heroic Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation (Lhe "Company" or "Heroic") is a public benefit 
corporation organized on November 13, 2020 under Lhe laws of Delaware. The Company's mission 
is Lo provide a positive effect (or a reduction of negative effects) for socieLy and persons by helping 
people optimize Lhcir lives so they can serve heroically, including buL not limited to providing access 
Lo wisdom from heroic teachers; creating an online community Lo engage wiLh other individuals 
committed LO making a positive difference in Lheir communities; and promoting oLher LOols and 
se1vices to help people be the change Lhey want Lo sec in the world. 

On SepLember 8, 2021, the Com pany entered into a merger agreemenL ·wiLh Optimize Enterprises, 
Public Benefit CorporaLion ("Optimize"), a public benefit corporation organized on July 16, 2014 
under Lhe laws of Delaware and which was under common control with the Company. As a resulL of 
the merger, the separate corporate existence of Optimize ceased and the Company survived Lhe 
merger. 

NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Basis of Presentation 

The accounting and reporting policies of the Company conform to accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of J\merica (GAAP). The consolidated financial statements include all 
accounts of I Icroic Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation and Optimize Enterprises, Public Benefit 
Corporation. All significant intercompany b·ansactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

In accordance with ASC 805-50-45-5, for Lransactions between entities under common control, 
financial stalcmenls and financial information presented for prior periods should be reLroactively 
adjusled to furnish comparative information. While O ptuni7.e Enterprises, Public Benefit 
Corporation was acquired in September 2021, as it was under common control, the merger was 
recognized retroactively in these financial statemenls as if it occurred on D ecembei· 31, 2019, including 
with regards LO presen tation of the beginning equity and share balances reflective on an as-convened 
basis as if the merger had occurred al the beginning of the period presented. 

The Company adopted the calendar year as its basis of reporting. 

Use of Es timates 

The preparaLion of the consolidaled financial statements in conformity with GM P requires 
managemenl lo make estimates and assumptions that affect the reporled amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosures o f contingent assels and liabi.l ities at the date of the consolidated financial 
slatements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 1\ctual 
results could differ from those estimates. 

Significant Risks and Uncertainties 

The Company has a liinited operating history. T he Company's business and operations arc sensitive 
to general business and economic conditions in the United States. A host of factors beyond the 
Company's control could cause fluctuations in these conditions. The Company is subject to regulatory 

See accompanying Independent Auditors' Report 
-7-



HEROIC ENTERPRISES, PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
As of D ecember 31, 2021 and 2020 and for the years then ended 

risks, primarily around changing digital media regulations. The Coronavirus Disease of 2019 
(COVID -19) has recently affected global markets, supply chains, employees of companies, and our 
communities. Specific to the Company, COVID-19 may impact various pans of its operations and 
financial results including shelter in place orders, economic hardships affecLing funding for the 
Company, and effects on the Company's workforce. Management believes the Company is taking 
appropriate actions to mitigate the negative impact. However, the full impact of COVID-19 is 
unknown and cannot be reasonably estimated as o f the issuance date of these consolidated financial 
statements. 

Pair Value of financial lnstruments 

Financial Accounting St.andards Board ("F ASB") guidance specifics a hierarchy of valuation 
tecbnigues based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques arc observable or unobservable. 
Observable inputs reflect market data o btained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs 
reflect market assumptions. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted c-1uoted prices in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurement) and the lowest priority to 
unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurement). 'fhe three levels of the fair value hi.crnrchy are as follows: 

Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
reporting entity has the ability lo access at tbc measurement date. Level 1 primarily consists of 
financial insu-uments whose value is based on quoted market prices such as exchange-traded 
instruments and listed eguitics. 

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that arc observable for the asset 
or liability, eith er directly or indirectly (e.g., guOLed prices of similar assets or liabilities in active 
markets, or quoted prices for identical or similar assets or Liabilities in markets that are not active). 

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. Financial instruments arc considered Level 
3 when their fair values arc determined using pricing models, discounted cash 0ows or similar 
tcchnigucs and at least one significant model assumption or input is unobservable. 

The carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheet approximates their fair value. 

Cash Equivalents and Concentration of Cash Balance 

The Company considers all highly liquid securities with an original maturity of three months or less 
to be cash eguivalents. The Company's cash and cash eguivalents in bank deposit accounts, at times, 
may exceed federally insured limits. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, all of the Company's cash 
and cash equivalents were held at one accredited financial institution and the Company had cash of 
$2,576,880 and $520,464 in excess of federally insured limits, respectively. 

Subscription Receivable 

The Company records stock issuances at the effective date. If the subscription is not funded upon 
issuance, the Company records a subscript.ion receivable as an asset on a balance sheet. When 
subscriptions arc not received prior to the issuance of financial statements at a reporting date in 

Sec accompanying Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting .Firm 
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HEROIC EN TERPRISES, PUBLIC BEN EFIT CORPORATION 
N OTES TO T H E CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
As of D ecember 31, 2021 and 2020 and for the years then ended 

satisfaction of the rcguircments under F1\.SB 1\ SC 505-10-45-2, the subscription receivable is 
reclassified as a contra account to stockholders' equity on the balance sheet. 
Escrow Receivable 

1\mounts held in escrow arc recognized al estimated realizable value. 

Deferred Offering Cos ts 

The Company complies with the reguirements of FASB ASC 340-10-S99-1 with regards to offering 
costs. Prior to the completion of an offering, offering costs are capitalized. The deferred offering 
costs are charged to stockholders' equi ty upon the completion of an offering or to expense if the 
offering is not completed. 1\s of December 31, 2021 and 2020, deferred offe ring costs recognized 
were $20,567 and $9,765, respectively. The deferred offering costs in 2020 were charged Lo additional 
paid-in capital in 2021 upon the completio n of the o ffering. 

Property and EquipmenL, Intangible f\ sset 

Property and equipment and intangible asset are recorded at cost, including transaction costs, less 
accumulated depreciation, amortizatio n and any i..mpairmenl in value, excluding the costs of day-to­
day servicing. Depreciation and amortization arc calculated using the swtight-line method over the 
estimated useful lives o f the assets which the Company estimated to be three years for its computer 
and equipment and website. The useful lives and the depreciation and amortization methods are 
reviewed periodically to ensure that the periods and depreciation and amortization methods are 
consistent ·with the expected pattern of economic benefiLs from items of property and e(1uipment and 
intangible asset. 

There were no changes in the estimated useful lives of each of the Company's items of property and 
equipment and intangible asset during the year ended D ecember 31, 2021 and 2020. 

Impairment of Long-I ,ived 1\ ssets 

The Company continually monitors events and changes in circumstances that could indicate carrying 
amounts of long-lived assets may no t be recoverable. \'{then such events or changes in circumstances 
are present, the management assesses the recoverability of long-lived assets by determining whether 
the carrying value of such assets ·will be recovered through undiscounted expected future cash flows. 
If the total of the future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of those assets, the Company 
recognizes an impairment loss based on the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of the 
Company's long-lived assets. 1\ ssets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount 
or the fair value less costs Lo sell. 

No impairment in value o f property and equipment or intangible asset was recognized for the years 
ended D ecember 31, 2021 and 2020. 

Convertible Instruments 

U.S. GAr\P requires companies to bifurcate conversion options from tbeir host insu:urnents and 
account for them as free-standing derivative financial instruments according Lo cer tain criteria. The 
criteria include circumstances in which (a) the economic characteristics and risks o f the embedded 

See accompanying Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
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HEROIC ENTERPRISES, PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
As of D ecember 31, 2021 and 2020 and for the years then ended 

derivative instrument arc not dearly and closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of 
the host contract, (b) the hybrid instrument that embodies both the embedded derivative instrument 
and the host contract is not re-measured at fair value under oLherwise applicable generally accepted 
accounting principles with changes in fair value reported in earnings as they occur and ( c) a separate 
instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative instrument would be considered a 
derivative instrument. An exception to this rule is when the host instrument is deemed to be 
conventional as that term is described under applicable U.S. GAA P . 

When the Company has determined that the embedded conversion options should noL be bifurcated 
from their host instruments, the Company records, when necessary, discounts (or beneficial 
conversion features) to convertible notes for the intrinsic value of conversion options embedded in 
debt instruments based upon the differences between the fair value of the underlying stock at the 
commitment date of the note transaction and the effective conversion price embedded in the note. 
D ebt discounts or beneficial conversion features under these arrangemems are (i) amortized over the 
term of the related debL to their stated date o f redemption or (ii) when based on a future contingent 
event, the beneficial conversion fcature is deferred and recorded at the time when the contingency no 
longer exists. 

Revenue Recognition 

i\SC Topic 606, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers" establishes principles for reporting 
information about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from 
the entity's contracts to provide goods or services to customers. 

Revenues are recognized when control of the promised goods or services arc transferred to a 
customer, in an amount that reflects the consideration that the Company expects to receive in 
exchange for those goods or services. The Company applies the following five steps in order to 
determine the appropriate amount of revenue to be recognized as it fulfills its obligations under each 
of its agreements: 1) identify the contract with a customer; 2) identify the performance obligations in 
the contract; 3) determine the transaction price; 4) allocate the transaction price to performance 
obligations in the contract; an<l 5) recognize revenue as the performance obligation is satisfied. 

Membership 

T he Company collects revenues in advance for its memberships and initially records them as deferred 
revenues. The Company has determined that its performance obligation in relation to the 
membership agreements with customers (i.e., to provide customer access to the online database of 
Company content) are satisfied through the passage of time of the underlying membership period, 
which are monthly, annually or lifetime. Monthly memberships arc recogni%ed upon completion of 
the month of service, annual memberships arc recognized monthly over the membership period on a 
straight-line basis while lifetime memberships are recognized over a two-year period as the Company 
estimated that a user consumes/ receives the most benefit from the membership during their first two 

years. 

In Oct0ber 2021, the Company changed its membership subscriptions to now be free for users. As a 
result, this revenue stream is no longer applicable after October 2021. 
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Coa,/Jing 

The Company collects revenues in advance for its coaching services and initially records them as 
deferred revenues. The Company has determined Lhat its performance obligation in relation to the 
coaching agreements with customers (i.e., to provide access to a class that contains specific content 
for that launched class) are satisfied through the passage of time of the underlying plan period, which 
are annually or lifetime. Annual and lifetime plan revenues are recognized monthly over a one-year 
period on a straight-line basis. r\ s the lifetime plan may be availed afler attending the first class, the 
Company assessed that the customer will likely attend class up to another one year. 

Contract Balances 

, \ receivable is recognized if an amount of consideration that is unconditional is due from the 
customer (i.e., only the passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due). The 
Company collects payments from customers in advance and therefore no accounts receivable is 
recognized. However, the Company uses third parties for customer payments prncessing and there 
may be funds being held in escrow at the end of the reporting period. r\s of December 31, 2021 and 
2020, $81,357 and $43,721 of revenues, respectively, were not yet closed out of escrow and therefore 
were recorded as escrow receivable in the consolidaLed balance sheets. 

A contract liability is recognized if a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) 
from a customer before the Company trans fers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are 
recognized as revenue when the Company performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the 
related goods or services Lo the customer). The Company has contract liabilities of $903,782 and 
$737,489 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, recognized as deferred revenue in the 
consolidated balance sheets. 

Ref,md Liabilities 

A refund liabili ty is recognized for the obligation to refund some or all of the consideration received 
(or receivable) from a customer. The liability is measured at the amount the Company ultimately 
expects it will have to return to the customer. The Company updates its estimates of refund liabilities 
(and the corresponding change in the transaction price) at the end of the reporting p eriod. 

1\s a result of changing membership subscriptions to now be free to users, the amounts received in 
advance by the Company under membership agreements became eligible Lo be refunded to the 
customers upon request. 

As the obligation to refund customers occurred due to change in agreement terms which the Company 
initiated and approved after December 31, 2020, no refund liabilities were recogni7.cd as of December 
31, 2020 associated with this change in agreement terms. The revenue recognized related to satisfied 
performance obligations for the year ended December 31, 2020 are also not adjusted for the effects 
of this refund obligation as the amounts recorded reflect the consideration the Company is entitled Lo 
receive for the satisfied performance obligation in accordance with ASC 606. 
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Disaggregated R.evc1111e Information 

2021 2020 
Type of service: 

Membership 

Coaching 

Total revenue from contracts '\vith customers 

Timing of revenue recognition: 

Services transferred over time 

Operating Expenses 

$ 

$ 

$ 

740,024 $ 953,615 

1,505,351 s 1,112,792 

2,245,375 $ 2,066,407 

2,245,375 s 2,066,407 

T he Company presents its operating expenses by nature in the categories presented in the statements 
of operations. The operating expenses arc inclusive of all its operational expenses from the functions 
selling, general, and administrative ("SG&r\") . 

Advertising Costs 

r\dvertising costs are expensed as incurred. 

Research and Development 

Research and development costs arc expensed as incurred and recorded as product development :ind 
engineering expenses on the statcmems of operations. 

Organizational Costs 

In accordance with Financial 1\cco unting Standards Board (FASB) 1\ccounting Standards Codification 
(1\ SC) 720, org:inizational costs, including accounting fees, legal fees, and costs of incorporation, arc 
expensed as incurred. 

Stock-Based Compensation 

The Company measures all stock-based awards granted to employees, advisors and directors based on 
the fair value on the date of the grant and recognizes compensation expense for those awards, net of 
estimated forfeitures, over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the 
respective award. The Company records expense for stock-based awards issued with only service­
based vesting conditions using the straight-line method. For awards with performance-based vesting 
conditions, the Company records the expense if and when the Company concludes that it is probable 
that the performance condition ·will be achieved. 

The fair value of each stock option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model. The Company historically has been a private company and lacks company­
specific historical and implied volatility in formation for its stock. Therefore, it estimates its expected 
stock price volatility based on the historical volatility of publicly traded peer companies and expects 
to continue to do so until such time as it has adequate historical data regarding the volaLility of its own 
traded stock price. The expected term of the Company's stock opt.ions is determined utilizing the 
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"simplified" method for awards that qualify as "plain-vanilla" options. The risk-free interest rate is 
determined by reference to the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant of the award for 
time periods approximately equal lo the expected term of the award. Expected dividend yield is based 
on the fact that the Company has never paid cash dividends on common stock and docs not expect 
to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Determining the appropriate fair value of stock­
based awards requires the input of subjective assumptions. The assumptions used in calculating the 
fair value of stock-based awards represent management's best estimates and involve inherent 
uncertainties and the application of management's judgment. As a result, if factors change and 
management uses different assumptions, stock-based compensation expense could be materially 
different for future awards. 

T ncome Taxes 

The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes as set forth in 1\SC 740, Income 
Taxes. Under the liability method, deferred taxes arc determined based on the temporary differences 
between the consolidated financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using tax rates 
expected to be in effect during the years in which the basis differences reverse. A valuation allowance 
is recorded when it is unlikely that the deferred tax assets will not be realized. 

The Company assesses its income lax positions and records tax benefits for all years subject to 
examination based upon the evaluation of the facts, circumstances and information available al the 
reporting date. In accordance with ASC 740-10, for those tax posit.ions where there is a greater than 
50% likelihood that a tax benefit will be sustained, the Company's policy is to record the largest 
amount of tax benefit that is more likely than not to be realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing 
authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. For those income Lax positions where 
there is less than 50% likelihood that a tax benefit will be suslained, no tax benefit will be recognized 
in the consolidated financial stalements. The Company has evaluated its income tax positions and has 
determined that it docs not haYc any uncertain Lax positions. 

The Company accounts for income taxes with the recognition of estimated income taxes payable or 
refundable on income tax returns for the current period and for the estimated future Lax effect 
attributable to temporary differences and carryfo1wards. Measurement of deferred income items is 
based on enacted tax laws including tax rates, with the measurement of deferred income tax assets 
being reduced by available tax benefits nol expcclcd to be realized in the immediate future. 

The Company is subject to tax filing requirements as a corporation in the federal jurisdiction of the 

United States. 

Net Earnings or Loss per Share 

Net earnings or loss per share is computed by dividing net income or loss by the weighted average 
number o f common shares outstanding during the period, excluding shares subject to redemption or 
forfeilure. The Company presents basic and diluted net earnings or loss per share. Diluted net 
earnings or loss per share reflect the actual weighted average of common shares issued and outstanding 
during the period, adjusted for potentially d ilutive securities outstanding. Potentially dilutive securities 
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are excluded from the computation of the diluted net earnings or loss per share if their inclusion would 
be ant.i-dilut.ivc. As all potentially dilutive securities are anti-dilutive as of December 31, 2021 and 
2020, diluted net loss per share is the same as basic net loss per share for each period. 

NOTE 3: GOING CONCERN 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, 
which conternplates the realization of assets and the sat.is faction of liabilities in the normal course of 
business. The Company has an accumulated deficit of $8,376,719 as of December 31, 2021, has 
sustained net losses of $5,744,503 and $672,825 for the years ended D ecember 31, 2021 and 2020, 
and has incurred negative cash £lows from operations for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 
2020. These factors, among others, misc substantial doubt about the abilit1, of the Company to 
continue as a going concern fot a reasonable period of Lime. 

The Company's ability to continue as a going concern in the next twelve months is dependent upon 
its ability to produce operating cash flows and/ or to obtain capital financing from investors sufficient 
to meet current and future obligations and deploy such capital to produce profitable operating results. 
No assurance can be given that the Company will be successful in these effons. The consolidated 
financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification o f 
recorded asset amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should 
the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. 

NOTE 4: NON-CUR.RENT ASSETS 

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, property and equipment and intangible asset consisted of the 
following: 

Cost 

Less: . \ccumulatc<l depreciation and amortization 

Net Book Value 

Cost 

I ,ess: Accumulated depreciation and amortization 

Net Book Value 

2021 

Computer & equipment 
$ 103,08"1 

(21,535) 
$ 81,546 

2020 

Computer & equipment 
$ 11,209 

(6,237) 
4,972 

Website 

Website 

102,7 11 

(62,440) 

40,271 

72,444 

(51,362) 
21,082 

The Company's intangible asset consists of website domains, which were purchased from third parties 
at the recorded cost. 

Depreciation and amortization totaled $26,376 and $3,016 for the years ended December 31, 2021 
and 2020, respectively. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, no impairment in value of property and 
equipment or intangible asset was recognized, and the cost of fully depreciated assets still being used 
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by the Company amounted Lo $2,559 for property and equipment and $50,445 for intangible asset. 
Intangible assets with a cost basis of $52,266 and $21,999 have a weighted average 1·emaining useful 
life of2.32 and 2.87 years as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, all respectively, and will be recognized 
straight line over the remaining amortization period. 

NOTE 5: PPP LOAN 

In i\.pril 2020, the Company received a loan in the amount of 810,000 pursuant to the Paycheck 
Protection Program ("PPP") under the Coromi.virus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) 
Act. The loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 1 % per annum, with the first six months of interest 
deferred, has an initial term of two years and is unsecured and guaranteed by the Small Business 
Administration ("SBJ\.''). Under the terms of the PPP, certain amounts of the loan may be forgiven 
if they are used for qualifying expenses as described in the CARES Act. 

In December 2020, the loan was forgiven, and the amount was recognized as other income in the 
consolidated statement of operations. 

NOTE 6: CONVERTIBLE NOTES 

In 2020, the Company entered into several convertible note agreements for a total of $950,000 
principal ("2020 Notes"). Under the terms of these notes, the Company was to pay 4% interest per 
annum and the notes were to mature in December 2022. T he notes were subject to various conversion 
terms, including where the notes were automatically convertible lo the Company's stock al a 20% 
discount to the pricing in the triggering round if and upon a qualified equity financing of $1,250,000 
or greater. 

On January 24, 2021, the qualified equity financing was triggered and the then outstanding principal 
amounting to $950,000 and interest on the convertible notes payable amounting to $3,697 was 
converted into 754,328 shares of Series Seed Preferred Stock at a conversion rate of $1.26428 per 
share. The Company incurred in terest expense of $2,485 on 2020 Notes and recognized $238,700 o f 
interest expense on beneficial conversion feature against its additional paid-in capital during the year 
ended December 31, 2021. 

In 2021, the Company's Board of Directors amhorized the issuance up to $10,000,000 in original 
principal amount of convertible notes. The Company issued convertible promissory notes for an 
aggregate principal amount of $872,134 ("2021 Notes"). Interest accrues at a simple rate of 4% per 
annum and the notes will mature on December 31, 2023. Each note will be convertible into: (a) shares 
of common s tock or any securities conferring the right to purchase common stock or any securities 
directly or indirectly convertible into, or exchangeable for (with or without additional consideration) 
common stock ("Equity Securities") if the Company receives gross proceeds of not less than 
$10,000,000 in one or more offerings with the principal purpose of raising capital ("Next Equity 
Pinancing") at the lower of: (i) the product of 80% and the lowest per share purchase price of the 
Equity Securities issued in the Ne:xt Equity Financing; or (ii) the quotient resulting from dividing 
$100,000,000 by the number of issued and outstanding shares of the Company's capital stock, 
assuming the conversion or exercise of all of the Company's capital stock ("l'ully Diluted 
Capitalization"), (b) shares of Series 1 Common Stock in the event of a change in the state of the 
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Company's incorporation ("Corporate Transaction") at the conversion rate resulting from dividing 
$100,000,000 by the Fully Diluted Capitalization immediately prior to the closing of the Corporate 
Transaction, or (c) shares of Series 1 Common Stock at any time o n or after the maturity date at the 
conversion rate resulting from dividing $100,000,000 by the Fully Diluted Capitalization immediately 
prior to such conversion. The Company determined Lhese notes had bene ficial conversion features 
contingent upon future events, and therefore the beneficial co nversion feature discount will be 
recognized if and upon resolution of this contingency. 

During the year ended December 31, 2021, interest expense on 2021 Notes amounted to $2,289. In 
conjunction with the 2021 Notes, the Company incurred fees of Sl 7,218, which were reported as 
direct deduction from the face amount of the 2021 Notes and arc amortized on the effective imercst 
rate method to interest expense over the contractual life o f the 2021 Notes. 

NOTE 7: STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY/ (DEFICIT) 

Prior to Merger (Heroic) 

On November 13, 2020 (inception), the Company had authOJ"ized 1,000,000 shares of common stock 
at $0.001 par value. T he Company issued to its founder and CEO 500,000 shares of common stock 
at par value of $0.001 per share. 

The Company subsequently amended its articles of incorporation and divided common sLOck into two 
series designated as Series 1 Common Stock and Series 2 Common Stock and preferred stock was 
designated as Series Seed Preferred Stock. On D ecember 8, 2020, the 500,000 shares of common 
stock issued and outstanding on November 13, 2020 (inception) were converted to Series 2 Common 
Stock. The Company issued an additional 9,595,763 shares of Series 2 Common stock at $0.0001 par 
value. 1\ll such shares, totalling to 10,095,763, arc held by the Company's founder and CEO as of 
December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

Prior to Merger (Optimize) 

As of the date of the merger agreement, 741,500 shares of Optimize Series 1 Common Stock, 
4,393,500 shares of Optin"lize Series 2 Common Stock, 451 ,000 shares of Optimize Series Seed-1 
Preferred Stock and 1,090,414 shares of Optimize Series Secd-2 P referred Stock were issued and 
outstanding, all o f which were duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, and 22,100 
options were granted and fully vested. 

After Merger 

As a result of the merger discussed in Note 1, each share of Optimize Series Secd-1 and Seed-2 
Preferred Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the merger effective time were converted 
into one share of Optin"lizc Series 1 Common Stock and then such shares were converted into the 

right described below. 

Each share of Optimize Series 1 Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior Lo the 
merger effeCLive time were converted into the right to receive, ::i.t the holder of such share's option, (i) 
$1.6901412 in cash for which an election to receive cash has been effectively made and not revoked 
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(a "Cash Election"); (ii) 1.0694727 shares of J-Iernic preferred stock for which an election to receive 
stock has been effectively made and not revoked (a "Stock Election"); or (iii) a combination o f cash 
and shares of Heroic preferred stock for which an election has been effectively made and not revoked, 
either (x) with 75% of the Merger Consideration of such holder to be issued in shares of I Icroic 
preferred stock and 25% in cash, or (y) 50% of the merger consideration of such holder lo be issued 
in shares of Heroic preferred stock and 50% in cash, and, in each case, at a ratio of one share of 
Optimize Series 1 Common Stock to $1.6901412 in cash or one share of Optimize Series 1 Common 
Stock to 1.069-4-727 shares of Heroic Preferred Stock (a "Mixed Election''). 

Each share o f Optimize Series 2 Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the 
merger effective time were converted into the righ t to receive 1.0694727 shares of Heroic Series 2 
Common Stock. 

Each outstanding option to acquire Optimize stock held by any Optimize employee or by any other 
person (each, a "Co mpany Option") granted pursuant to the Optimize 2014 Stock Plan or otherwise, 
was not ass umed by Heroic and was canceled and extinguished and the vested portion thereof was 
automatically converted into the right to receive a cash payment equal to the product obtained by 
multiplying (i) the aggregate number of shares o f Optimize stock that were issuable upon exercise of 
such Company Option immediately prior to the merger effective time and (ii) i 1.6901412 less the per 
share exercise price of such Option, minus any taxes required to be withheld from such product. 

Based on Optimize stockholders' elections, 106,500 shares of Optimize Series 1 Common Stock, 
47,500 shares of Optimize Series 1 Preferred Stock and 472,649 shares of Optimize Series 2 Preferred 
Stock were converted to 670,175 shares of Heroic Series Seed Preferred Stock. The holders of 635,000 
shares of Optimize Series 1 Common Stock, 403,500 shares of Optimize Series 1 Preferred Stock and 
617,765 shares of Optimize Series 2 Prcfen:ed Stock opted to receive cash which totalled $2,799,337, 
recorded as due ro Optimize stockholders and treasury stock as of December 31, 2020. The Company 
paid the full amount in 2021. 

The Optimize Series 2 Common Stock with issued and outstanding shares of 4,393,500 were 
converted to 4,698,728 shares of Heroic Series 2 Common Stock. 

The fully vested options were converted into the right to receive cash amounting to $29,396, recorded 
as due to Optimize stockholders and treasury stock as of December 31, 2020. The Company paid the 
full amount in 2021. 

The following is a summary of the issued and outstanding shares of Optimize and Heroic before and 
after the merger: 
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Pi-ior merger 

Optimize H eroic 

After merger 

Heroic 

Common Stock 

Series 1 Common Stock 

Series 2 Common Stock 

Preferred Stock 

Series Seed-1 Preferred Stock 

Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock 

Series Seed Preferred Stock 

Stock Plan 
Total Authori%ed Under Plan 

Total Outstanding Under Plan 

Total Exercised (or granted under SPA) 

Total Available for Grant 

Capital Restructuring 

741,500 

4,393,500 

451,000 

1,090,414 

365,000 

22,100 

342,900 

10,095,763 14,794,491 

670,175 

In order to provide an adequate number of authorized shares for the consummation of the Optimize 
merger and other merger Lransactions, the Company amended and restated its art.ides of incorporalion 
increasing the total number of authorized shares of stock to 53,000,000, consisling of 43,000,000 
shares of common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, 
$0.0001 par value per share. The common s tock is divided into two series, designated as Series 1 
Common Stock consisting of 28,200,000 shares, and as Series 2 Common Stock consisting of 
14,800,000 shares. The preferred stock is designated as Series Seed Preferred Stock consisting of 
10,000,000 shares. 

Liquidation Prqferellce 

In the event o f any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, whether voluntary or 
involuntary, the holders of the preferred stock shall be entitled to receive, prior and in preference to 

any distribution of any of the assets of the Company to the holders of the common stock. 

Conversio11 

Each share of Preferred Stock shall be converliblc (i) at the option of the holder thereof, at any time 
after the date of issuance of such share, into that number of fully-paid, nonasscssablc shares of Series 
1 Common Stock determined by dividing the applicable original issue price for the relevant series by 
the applicable conversion price for such series or (ii) automatically into fully-paid, non-assessable 
shares of Series 1 Common Stock at the then effective conversion rate for such share upon (i) the 
closing of a firm commitment underwritten initial public offering covering the o ffer and sale of 
Common Stock or (ii) the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority in voting power of the 
outstanding Preferred Stock, voting as a separate class . 
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Each share of Series 2 Common Stock shall be convertible into one (1) fully paid and nonassessable 
share of Series 1 Common SLOck (i) at the option of the holder thereof at any time upon written notice 
to the Company or (ii) automatically into one (1) fully paid and nonassessablc share of Series 1 
Common Stock upon the affirmative vote of the holders of Series 2 Common Stock representing a 
majority of the voting power of the outstanding shares of Series 2 Common Stock. l n addition, each 
share of Series 2 Common Stock will aulomat.ically be converted into one (1) fully paid and 
nonassessablc share of Series 1 Common Stock upon the occurrence of a transfer of such share that 
is not a Permitted Transfer (as defined in the Company's Chaner). 

Voting 

Each holder of preferred stock shall be entitled to the number of votes equal to the number o f shares 
of Series 1 Common Stock into which the shares of preferred stock held by such holder could be 
converted as of the record date, excluding fractional shares. 

Each holder of shares of Series 1 Common Stock shall be entitled to one vote for each share of Series 
1 Common Stock held of record by such holder. 

Each holder of shares of Series 2 Common Stock shall be entitled lo ten (10) votes for each share of 
Series 2 Common Stock held of record by such holder. 

Series Seed Preferred Stock 

On January 24, 2021, the outstanding principal and interest on the convertible notes payable was 
converted into 754,328 shares of Series Seed Preferred Stock at a conversion rate of ~1.26428 per 
share (sec otc 6). 

During 2021, the Company raised gross proceeds of $9,999,927 through the issuance of 6,327,667 
shares of Series Seed Preferred Stock, in the aggregate, at a price per share of $1.58035 under a 
concurrent Regulation D and Regulation Crowdfunding stock offering. 

r\s of December 30, 2021 and 2020, a total of7,752,170 and 670,175 shares of Series Seed Preferred 
Stock arc issued and outstanding. 

2021 Eguity Incentive Plan 

On September 8, 2021, the Company's Board of Directors adopted and the Company's stockholders 
approved the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan which provides for the grant of the following types of stock 
awards: (i) incentive stock options, (ii) nonstatutory stock options, (iii) stock appreciation rights, (iv) 
restricted stock awards, (v) restricted slock unit awards and (vi) other stack awards. The aggregate 
number of shares of common stock that may be issued pursuant to stock awards from and after the 
effective date will not exceed 2,500,000 shares and the aggregate maximum number of shares of 
common stock that may be issued pursuant to the exercise of incentive stock options will be 5,000,000 
shares of common stock. No shares or options were granted as of December 31, 2021. 
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NOTE 8: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

On November 13, 2020 (inception), the Company entered into an unsecured note agreement with a 
principal amount of $21 ,999, bearing interest at 0.13% per annum. The note is payable to the 
Company's founder and CEO and matures on November 13, 2021. The note payable was 
consideration for the purchase of the website domain. The Company paid the full amount in January 
2021. 

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company has a net receivable of$26,427 from the Company's 
founder and CEO. 

During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company incurred a total of $2,827,225 
and $63,600 expense to its investors for consulting services, respectively. 1\s of December 31, 2021 
and 2020, the Company has an outstanding payable o f $319,873 and $12,000, respectively. 

On December 9, 2021, the Company issued convertible promissory note to its investor with a principal 
amount of $100,000 and accrued interest of $241 as of December 31, 2021. 

Sec Note 1 and Note 2 for discussion of the related party acquisition in 2021. 

NOTE 9: INCOME TAXES 

Deferred taxes arc recognized for temporary differences between the basis of assets and liabilities for 
financial statement and income tax purposes. The differences relate primarily Lo cash to accrual 
differences and net operating loss canyfo rwards. J\ s of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company 
bad net deferred tax assets before valuation allowance of$1,379,647 and $225,344, respectively. The 
following table presents the deferred tax assets by source: 

2021 2020 

Deferred tax assets: 
Net operating loss carryforwards 

Depreciation and amortization 

Charitable contribution 
Cash to accrual differences 

Valuation allowance 

Net deferred tax assets 

1,258,388 

3,213 

118,046 

(1,379,647) 

$ 193,646 

145 
210 

31,343 

(225,3-14} 

$ 

T he Company recognizes deferred tax assets to the extent that it believes that these assets arc more 
likely than not to be realized . In making such a determination, the Company considers all available 
positive and negative evidence, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, 
projected future taxable income, tax-planning strategies, and results of recent operations. The 
Company assessed the need for a valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets and determined 
a full valuation allowance is required as the Company has not yet generated income since inception. 
Deferred tax assets were calculated using the Company's combined effective tax rate, which it 

Sec accompanying Report ofindcpendent Registered Public 1\ccounting Finn 
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estimated lo be 21 %. The effecLive rate is reduced to 0% due to the full valuation aJJowance on ils 
net deferred tax assets. 

The Company's ability to utili%e nel operating loss carryforwards will depend on its ability to generate 
adequate future taxable income. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had net operating 
loss can7forwards available Lo offset future taxable income in the amount of$5,992,322 and $922,125, 
respectively. 

The Company has evaluated its income tax positions and has determined that it does not have any 
uncertain tax positions. The Company will recognize inlerest and penalties related to any uncertain 
tax positions through its income tax expense. The Company is not presently subject to any income 
tax audit in any taxing jurisdiction, though its 2019-2021 tax years remain open to examination. 

NOTE 10: RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

In February 2016, the PASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (T opic 842) . T his ASU requires a lessee to 
recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability under most operating leases in its balance sheet. The 
ASU is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after D ecember 15, 2021, including interim 
periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is perrnitted. The Company is continuing to evaluate 
the impact of this new standard o n the financial reporLing and disclosures. 

In October 2016, FASB issued ASU 2016-16, "Income Ta,xes (fopic 740): Intra-Entity Transfers of 
I\ssets O ther than Inventory", which eliminates the exception that prohibits the recognition of current 
and deferred income tax effects for intra-entity transfers of assets other than invento17 until the asset 
has been sold to an outside party. The updated guidance is effective for annual periods beginning 
after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption of the 
update is permitted. Management believes that the adoption of i\.SU 2016-16 has no impact on the 
Company's consolidated financial statements and disclosures. 

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350), 
simplifying Accounting for Goodwill Impairment ("r\.SU 2017-04") . 1\S U 2017-04 removes the 
requirement to perform a hypothetical purchase price allocation to measure goodwill impairment. i\ 
goodwill impairment will now be the amount by which a reporting unit's carrying value exceeds its 
fair value, not to exceed the carrying amount of goodwill. The amendments in this update arc effective 
for public enLities for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after 
December 15, 2020. For all other entities, the amendment is effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company is currently 
evaluating the impact the adoption of J\SU 2017-04 will have on the Company's consolidated financial 
s ta temen ts. 

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-07, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): 
Improvements to Nonemployee Share-Based Payment Accounting ("ASU 2018-07"). ASU 2018-07 
eliminates the separate accounting model for nonemployee share-based payment awards and generally 
requires companies to account for share-based payment transactions with nonemployees in the same 
way as share-based payment transactions with employees. The accounting remains different for 
attribution, which represents how the equity-based payment cost is recognized over the vesting period, 

Sec accompanying Report ofindcpcndent Regis tered Public Accounting Firm 
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and a contractual term election for valuing nonemployee equity share options. ASU 2018-07 is 
effect.i.ve for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2018 
with early adoption permitted. T he Company has adopted this standard effective January 1, 2019. 
Management believes that the adoption of J\SU 2018-07 has no impact on the Company's 
consolidated financial statements and disclosures. 

In August 2018, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2018-13, "Fair Value 
Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework - Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Pair 
Value Measurement", which changes the fair value measurement disclosure requirements of 1\SC 820. 
This updat e is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and for interim periods 
within those fiscal years . Management does not expect the adoption of ASU 2018-13 to have a 
material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements. 

In August 2018, the F1\ SB issued ASU 2018-15, Intangibles - Goodwill and O ther - Internal-Use 
Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer's 1\ccounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud 
Computing Arrangement chat is a Service Contract ("ASU 2018-15"). ASU 2018-15 requires a 
customer in a cloud computing arrangement that is a service contract to follow the internal-use 
software guidance in ASC 350-40 to determine which implementation costs to defer and recognize as 
an asset. The amendments in this update are effective for public entities for fiscal years, and interim 
periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019. For all other entities, the 
amendment is effective fo r fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, and interim periods within 
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. Management docs not expect the adopt.ion of ASU 
2018-15 to have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements . 

In r\ugust 2020, FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Accounting for Convertible Instrumen ts and Contracts 
in an E ntity; Own Equity (" ASU 2020-06"), as pan of ics overall simplification initiative to reduce 
costs and complexity of applying account.i.ng standards while maintaining or improving the usefulness 
of the information provided to users of financial statements. 1\ mong other changes, the new guidance 
removes from GAAP separation models for convertible debt that require the convertible debt to be 
separated into a debt and equity component, unless the conversion feature is required to be bifurcated 
and accounted for as a derivative or the debt is issued at a substantial premium. As a result, after 
adopting the guidance, entities will no longer separately present such embedded conversion features 
in equity, and will instead account for the convertible debt wholly as debt. The new guidance also 
requires use of the "if-converted" method when calculating the dilutive impact of convertible debt on 
earnings per share, which is consistent with the Company's current accounting treatment under the 
current guidance. The guidance is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 2021, and interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted, 
but only at the beginning of the fiscal year. The Company is currently evaluating the impact the 
adoption of ASU 2020-06 will have on the Company's consolidated financial statements. 

Management docs not believe that any other recently issued, but not yet effective, accounting 
standards could have a material effect on the accompanying consolidated financial statemems. As 
new accounting pronouncements are issued, the Company will adopt those that arc applicable under 

the circumstances. 

Sec accompanying Report ofln<lependent Registered Public Accounting Finn 
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NOTE 11: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

Convertible Notes 

Through the issuance o f these consolidated financial statements, the Company has issued an additional 
original principal amount of $3,337,241 of convertible promissory notes in conjunction ·with 2021 
Notes discussed in Note 6. 

Management's Evaluation 

Management has evaluated all subsequent events through May 2, 2022, the date the consolidated 
financial statements were available to be issued and determined there arc no additional material events 
requiring disclosure or adjustment to the consolidated financial statements. 

See accompanying Report of Independent Registered P ublic .t\ ccounting Firm 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Heroic CF SPV, LLC 

Opinion on the Financial Statements 

FRU·CI 
ASSOC~~II 

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Heroic CF SPV, LLC ("the Company") as April 21, 2022 (inception) and the 

related notes (collectively referred to as the financial statement). In our opinion, the financial statement presents fairly, in all 

material respects, the financial position of the Company as of April 21, 2022, in conformity with accounting principles generall y 
accepted in the United States of America. 

Going Concern 

The accompanying financial statement has been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As 
discussed in Note 3 to the financial statement, the Company has an has not commenced planned principal operations, plans to 

incur significant costs in pursuit of its capital financing plans, and has not generated any revenues or profits. These factors raise 
substantia l doubt about the Company's abilit y to continue as a going concern. Management's plans in regard to these matters 
are also described in Note 3. The financial statement does not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this 
uncertainty. 

Basis for Opinion 

This financial statement is the responsibil ity of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Company's financial statement based on our audit. We are a publ ic account ing firm registered wi th the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent w ith respect to the Company in 

accordance with the U.S. federa l securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange 

Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 

audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statement is free of material misstatement, whether due to 
error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial 

reporting. As part of our audit, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial report ing, but not for 

the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, 
we express no such opinion. 

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, 

evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statement. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as wel l as evaluating the overall presentat ion of the financial 

statement. W e believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Critical Audit Matters 

Critical audit matters are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statement that were communicated or 
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the 
financial statement and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. We determined that there were 

no critical audit matters. 

We have served as t he Company's auditor since 2022. 

Spokane, Washington 

May 2, 2022 



Heroic CF SPV, LLC 
BALANCE SHEET 
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ASSETS 
Current Assets: 

Cash a nd cash equivalen ts 

Total Current Assets 

TOT.AL ASSETS 

LIABILITIES AND M E MBER'S E Q U ITY / (DE FICIT ) 
Current Liabilities: 

Due to a related party 
Total Cui-ren t Liabilities 

Member's Equity/ (D eficit) 

Total Member's Equity/ (Deficit) 

TOTAL LTABTLD'IES AND MElvIBER'S EQUITY /(DEflCff) 

$ 

$ 

Sec accompanying Report of Independent Registered Accounting Pinn and accompanying notes, which arc an 
integ ral part of this financial statement. 
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Heroic CF SPV, LLC 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT 
As of April 21, 2022 (inception) 

NOTE 1: NATURE OF OPERATIONS 

H eroic CF SPV, LLC (the "Company") was incorporated on April 21, 2022 under the laws of the State of 
Delaware. The Company will undertake the limited purpose of acquiring, holding, and disposing of securities 
issued by I Icroic Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation. The Company is headquartered in 1\ ustin, Texas. 
The Company's manager is Heroic E nterprises, Public Benefit Corporation. 

As of J\pril 21, 2022 (inception), the Company has not yet commenced operations. Once the Company 
commences its planned principal operations, it will incur significant additional expenses. The Company is 
dependent upon additional capital resources for the commencement of its planned principal operations and is 
subject to significant risks and uncertainties, including failing LO secure funding Lo commence the Company's 
planned operations. 

NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Basis of Presentation 
The accounting and reporting policies of the Company conform to accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America ("GAAP"). The Company's fiscal year is December 31. 

Use of Es timates 
The preparation of the Company's financial statement in conformity with Gi'v\P requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statement, and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Cash Ec1uivalcnts and Concemration of Cash Balance 
The Company considers all highly liquid securities with an original maturity of less than three months to be 
cash equivalents. The Company's cash and cash equivalents in bank deposit accounts, at times, may exceed 
federally insured limits. As of i\pril 21, 2022 (inception), the Company has not established a deposit account 
with a financial institution. 

Risks and Uncertainties 
The Company has a limited operating histo1y. The Company's business and operations are sensitive to general 
business and economic conditions in the United States. J\ host of factors beyond the Company's control 
could cause fluctuations in these conditions. These adverse conditions could affect the Company's financial 
condition and the results of its operations. 

Deferred Offering Cos ts 
The Company complies with the requirements of Fr\SB J\SC 340-10-S99-1 with regards to offering costs. 
Prior to the completion of an o ffering, offering costs arc capitalized. The deferred offering costs are charged 
to member's equity upon the completion of an offering or to expense if the offering is nol completed. 

Fair Value Measurements 
Certain assets and liabilities of the Company arc carried al [air value under GA.AP. Fair value is defined as the 
exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal 

Sec accompanying Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
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or mosL advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of 
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. Financi;u asseLs and liabilities carried at fair 
value are to be classified and disclosed in one of the following three levels of the fair value hierarchy, of which 
the first two arc considered observable and the last is considered unobservable: 

• Level J-Quotcd prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

• Level 2-Observable inpuLs (other than Level 1 quoted prices), such as quoted prices in active markets 
for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active for identical or similar assets 
or liabilities, or other inputs that arc observable or can be corroborated by observable market data. 

• Level 3-Unobscrvablc inputs that arc supported by little or no market activity that arc significant to 
determining the fair value o f the assets or liabiliLies, including pricing models, discoun Lcd cash flow 
methodologies and similar techniques. 

The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet approximate their fair value. 

Revenue Recognition 
i\ccounting Standards Codification ("J\SC") Topic 606, "Revenue from Contracts with Custom ers" 
establishes principles for reporting information about Lhc nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue 
and cash flows arising from the entity's contracts Lo provide goods or services to customers. 

Revenues arc recognized when control of the promised goods or services are transferred lo a customer, in an 
am ount tl1at reflects the consideration that the Company expects to receive in exchange for those goods or 
services. The Company applies the following five steps in order to determine the appropriate amount of 
revenue to be recognized as it fulfi.lJs its obligations under each of iLs agreements: 1) identify the contract with 
a customer; 2) identify the performance obligations in the comracL; 3) determine the transaction price; 4) 
allocate the Lransaction ptice to performance obligations in the conLract; and 5) recognize revenue as the 
performance obligation is satisfied. 

No revenue has been earned or recognized as o f r\pril 21 , 2022 (inception). 

Organizational Costs 
In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board ("F t\ SB") ASC 720, "OLher Expenses" , 
organizational costs, including accounting fees, legal fee, and costs of organization, arc expensed as incurred. 

1 ncome Taxes 
T he Company is a limited liability company. 1\ccordingly, under the Internal Revenue Code, all taxable income 
or loss flows through Lo its members. T herefore, no provision for income tax has been recorded in the 
statement. Income from the Company is reported and taxed to the members on their individual tax returns. 

T he Company complies with FASB ASC 740 for accounting for uncertainty in incom e taxes recognized in a 
company's financial statemenL, which prescribes a recognition threshold and mcasuremcnL process for 
financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position Laken or expected to be taken in a tax 

Sec accompanying Independent Auditors' Report. 
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return. For those benefits lo be recognized, a tax posit.ion mL1st be more-likely-than-not lo be sustained upon 
examination by taxing authorities. F1\ S'B t\SC 740 also provides guidance on dcrecognition, classification, 
interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. Based on the Company's 
evaluation, it has been concluded that there arc no significan t uncertain tax posit.ions requiring recognition in 
the Company's financial statement. The Company believes that its income tax posit.ions would be sustained 
on audit and docs not anticipate any adjustments that would result in a material change to its financial position. 

The Company may in the future become subject to federal, state and local income taxation though it has not 
been since its incept.ion. The Company is not presently subject lo any income tax audit in any taxing 
jurisdiction. 

NOTE 3: GOING CONCERN 

The accompanying balance sheet has been prepared on a going concern basis, w hich contemplates the 
realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. The Company is a 
business that has nol commenced planned principal operations, plans to incur significant costs in pursuit of 
its capital financing plans, and has not generated any revenues or profits as of April 21, 2022 (inception). 
These factors, among others, raise substantial doubt about the ability of tbe Company to continue as a going 
concern for a reasonable period of Lime. The Company's abilitJ to continue as a going concern in the next 
twelve months is dependent upon its ability to obtain capital financing from investors sufficient to meet 
current and future obligations. No assurance can be given that the Company will be successful in these effor ts. 
The balance sheet does not include any adjustments relating to the recoverabili ty and classification of recorded 
asset amounts o r the amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessa17 should the Company be 
unable to continue as a going co ncern. 

NOTE 4: MEMBER'S EQUITY/ (DEFICIT) 

111e Company is a Limited Liability Company formed on 1\pril 21, 2022. It will undertake the limited p urpose 
of acquiring, holding, and disposing of securities issued by Heroic Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation. 
T he Company's manager is H eroic E nterprises, Public Benefit Corporation. 

T he debts, obligations, and liabilities of the Company, whether arising in contract, tort, or otherwise, arc solely 
the debts, obligations, and liabilities of the Company, and no member of the Company is obligated personally 

for any such debt, obligation, o r liability. 

NOTE 5: RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

Management does not believe that any o ther recently issued, but not yet effective, accounting standards could 
have a material effect on the accompanying financial statement. 1\s new accounLing pronouncements are 
issued, the Company will adopt those that are applicable under the circumstances. 

NOTE 6: COMMIT MENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

T he Company may be subject to pending legal proceedings and regulatory actions in the ordina1J course of 
business. The results of such proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, but the Company does not 

See accom panying Independent 1\ uditors' Report. 
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anticipate that the final outcome, if any, arising out of any such matter \-vill have a material adverse effect on 
its business, financial condition or results of operations. 

NOTE 7: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

Manag·ement's Evaluation 
Management has evaluated subsequent events through May 2, 2022, the date the financial statement was 
available to be issued. Based on this evaluation, no additional material events were identified which require 
adjustment or disclosure in this financial statement. 

See accompanying Independent Auditors' Report. 
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CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT TO THE 
THIRD Al'1ENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION OF 

HEROIC ENTERPRISES, PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION 

Heroic Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation, a public benefit corporation organized 
and existing under and by virtue of the General Corporation Law of the State ofDelaware (the 
"Corporation'), does hereby certify: 

FIRST: That the sole director of the Corporation duly adopted resolutions setting forth a 
proposed amendment to the Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, declaring 
said amendment to be advisable and recommending it to the stockholders of the Corporation for 
consideration thereof, by written consent without a meeting in accordance with the procedures 
established by Section 141(0 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, and agreed that the 
resolutions shalJ have the same force and effect as though duly taken and adopted at a meeting of 
the Board of Directors of the Corporation duly called and legally held. The resolution setting forth 
the proposed amendment is as follows: 

RESOLVED, that the Third Amended and Restated Certificate of 
Incorporation of the Corporation be amended by changing the Article thereof 
numbered "ARTICLE IV" so that, as amended, said Article shall be and read as 
follows: 

ARTICLE IV 

The total number of shares of stock that the corporation shall have authority 
to issue is fifty-five million (55,000,000), consisting of forty-five million 
(45,000,000) shares of Common Stock, $0.0001 par value persbare (the "Common 
Stock'), and ten million (10,000,000) shares of Preferred Stock, $0.0001 par value 
per share (the "Preferred Stock"). The Common Stock shalJ be divided into two 
series, designated as "Series 1 Common Stock," which shall consist of thirty 
million two hundred thousand (30,200,000) shares, and as "Series 2 Common 
Stock," which shall consist of fourteen million eight hundred thousand 
(14,800,000) shares. The Preferred Stock shall be designated as "Series Seed 
Preferred Stock," which shall consist often million (10,000,000) shares. 

SECOND: That thereafter, the stockholders holding outstanding shares of capital stock of 
the Corporation with the necessary number of votes as required by statute that would be necessary 
to authorize or take such action at a meeting at which all shares entitled to vote thereon were 
present and voted, waived all requirements as to notice of a meeting and signed a consent 
approving the amendment, and agreed that it shall have the same force and effect as though duly 
taken and adopted at a formal special meeting, pursuant to Section 228(a) of the General 
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware; 

THIRD: That said amendment was duly adopted in accordance with the provisions of 
Section 242 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned, on behalf of the Corporation, has caused 
this Certificate of Amendment to the Third Amended and Restated Certificate ofincorporation to 
be signed this 10th day of August, 2022. 

• ;--DocuSigned by; 

BJ t,yi~ Jt,lu..t,Sb1A, 
J~tfffi'offi!l~1cf4t:}fficer 

Title: CEO and President 
Name: Brian Johnson 
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STATE OF DELAWARE 
CERTIFICATE OF MERGER OF 

DOMESTIC CORPORATIONS 

Pursuant to Title 8, Section 251(c) of the Delaware General Corporation Law, the 
undersigned corporation executed the following Certificate of Merger: 

FIRST: The name of the surviving corporation is Heroic Enterprises, Public Benefit 
Corporation, and the name of the corporation being merged into this surviving corporation 
is Optimize Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation. 

SECOND: The Agreement and Plan of Merger has been approved, adopted, certified, 
executed and acknowledged by each of the constituent corporations. 

THIRD: The name of the surviving corporation is Heroic Enterprises, Public Benefit 
Corporation, a Delaware corporation. 

FOURTH: The Certificate of Incorporation of the surv1vmg corporation shall be 
amended and restated as set forth in the Third Amended aod Restated Ce11ificate of 
Incorporation attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

FIFTH: The merger is to become effective on September 30, 2021. 

SIXTH: The Agreement and Plan of Merger is on file at 913 Main Street, Bastrop, Texas 
78602, the place of business of the surviving corporation. 

SEVENTH: A copy of the Agreement and Plan of Merger will be furnished by the surviving 
corporation on request, without cost, to any stockholder of the constituent corporations. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, said surviving corporation has caused this certificate to be 
signed by an authorized officer, the 30th day September, A.D., 2021. 

Heroic Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation 
r-:: OocuSigned by: 

By: ~~BE~~~~ 
Authorized Officer 

Name: Brian Johnson 
Title: ChiefExecutive Officer 

State of Delaware 
Secreta1)· of State 

Division of Corporalions 
Delivered 12:38 P)I 0913012021 
TILED 12:38 P)I 09i30n021 

SR 20213388920 • File :-;umber 4144142 
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THIRD AlVfENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF 

lNCORPORATlON OF 

HEROIC ENTERPRISES, PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION 

(A PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORA TJON) 

ARTICLE 1 

The name of the corporation is Heroic Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation (the 

"Corporation"). 

ARTICLE II 

The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which 

corporations may be organized under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the 

"DGCL"). The specific public benefit purpose of the Corporation is to produce a positive effect 

(or a reduction of negative effects) for society and persons by helping people optimize their lives 

so they can serve heroically, including but not limited to providing access to wisdom from heroic 

teachers; creating an online community to engage with other individuals committed to making a 

positive difference in their communities; and promoting other tools and services to help people be 

the change they want to see in the world. 

ARTICLE Ill 

The address of the Corporation's registered office in the State of Delaware is 108 Lakeland 

Ave., Dover, Kent County, Delaware 19901, and its registered agent at such address is Capitol 

Services, Inc. 
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ART(CLEIV 

The total number of shares of stock that the corporation shall have authority to issue is fifty­

three million (53,000,000), consisting of forty-three million (43,000,000) shares of Common Stock, 

$0.0001 par value per share (the "Common Stock"), and ten million (10,000,000) shares of 

Preferred Stock, $0.0001 par value per share (the "Preferred Stock"). The Common Stock shall 

be divided into two series, designated as "Series 1 Common Stock," which shall consist of twenty­

eight million two hundred thousand (28,200,000) shares, and as "Series 2 Common Stock," which 

shall consist of fourteen milJion eight hundred thousand (14,800,000) shares. The Preferred Stock 

shall be designated as "Series Seed .Preferred Stock," which shall consist of ten million 

(10,000,000) shares. 

ARTICLEV 

The terms and provisions of the Common Stock and Preferred Stock are as follows: 

1. Definitions. For purposes of this ARTICLE V, the following definitions shall 

apply: 

(a) "'Distribution" shall mean (i) the transfer of cash or other property without 

consideration whether by way of dividend or otherwise other than dividends on Common Stock 

payable in Common Stock, or (ii) the purchase or redemption of shares of capital stock of the 

Corporation by the Corporation for cash or property other than (A) repurchases of Common Stock 

issued to or held by employees, officers, directors or consultants of the Corporation or its 

subsidiaries upon tennination of their employment or services pursuant to agreements providing 

for the right of said repurchase, (B) repurchases of Common Stock or Preferred Stock issued to or 

held by any stockholder (including without limitation employees, officers, directors or consultants 
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of the Corporation or its subsidiaries) pursuant to rights of first refusal contained in agreements 

providing for such right or in the bylaws of the Corporation, (C) repurchases of capital stock of the 

Corporation in connection with the settlement of any dispute between the Corporation and one or 

more stockholders, and (D) any other repurchase or redemption of capital stock of the Corporation 

approved by the holders of a majority in voting power of the outstanding Common Stock and 

Preferred Stock, each voting as separate classes. 

(b) "Recapitalization" shall mean any stock dividend, stock split, combination 

of shares, reorganization, recapitalization, reclassification or other similar event. 

( c) "Series Seed Conversion Price" shall mean $1.58035 per share for the Series 

Seed Preferred Stock (subject to adjustment from time to time for Recapitalizations and as 

otherwise set forth elsewhere herein). 

(d) "Series Seed Liquidation Preference" shall mean $1 .58035 per share for the 

Series Seed Preferred Stock (subject to adjustment from time to time for Recapitalizations as set 

forth elsewhere herein). 

(e) "Series Seed Original Issue Price" shall mean $1.58035 per share for the 

Series Seed Preferred Stock (subject to adjustment from time to time for Recapitalizations as set 

forth elsewhere herein). 

2. Liquidation Rights 

(a) Liquidation Preference. In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or 

winding up of the Corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary, the holders of the Preferred Stock 

shall be entitled to receive, prior and in preference to any Distribution of any of the assets of the 

Corporation to the holders of the Common Stock by reason of their ownership of such stock, an 
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amount per share of Preferred Stock held by them equal to the Series Seed Liquidation Preference 

specified for such share of Preferred Stock, or such lesser amount as may be approved by the holders 

of the majority of the outstanding shares of Preferred Stock. If upon the liquidation, dissolution or 

winding up of the Corporation, the assets of the Corporation legally available for distribution to the 

holders of the Preferred Stock are insufficient to permit the payment to such holders of the full 

amounts specified in this Section 2(a), then the entire assets of tbe Corporation legally avaiJable for 

distribution shall be distributed with equal priority and pro rata among the holders of the Preferred 

Stock in proportion to the full amounts tJ1ey would otherwise be entitled to receive pursuant to this 

Section 2(a). 

(b) Remaining Assets. After the payment or setting aside for payment to the 

holders of Preferred Stock of the full amounts specified in Section 2(a) above, the entire remaining 

assets of the Corporation legally available for distribution shall be distributed pro rata to holders 

of the Common Stock in proportion to the number of shares of Common Stock held by them. 

(c) Shares not Treated as Both Preferred Stock and Common Stock in any 

Distribution. Shares of Preferred Stock shall not be entitled to be converted into shares of Common 

Stock in order to participate in any Distribution, or series of Distributions, as shares of Common 

Stock, without first foregoing participation in the Distribution, or series of Distributions, as shares 

of Preferred Stock. 

(d) Reorganization. For purposes of this Section 2, a liquidation, dissolution or 

winding up of the Corporation shall be deemed to be occasioned by, or to include, (i) the acquisition 

of the Corporation by another entity by means of any transaction or series of related transactions to 

which the Corporation is party (including, without limitation, any stock acquisition, reorganization, 
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merger or consolidation but excluding any sale of stock by the Corporation for capital raising 

purposes) other than a transaction or series of related transactions in which the holders of the voting 

securities of the Corporation outstanding immediately prior to such transaction or series of related 

transactions retain, immediately after such transaction or series of related transactions, as a result 

of shares in the Corporation held by such holders prior to such transaction or series of related 

transactions, at least a majority of the total voting power represented by the outstanding voting 

securities of the Corporation or such other surviving or resulting entity ( or if the Corporation or 

such other surviving or resuJting entity is a wholly owned subsidiary immediately following such 

transaction or transactions, of its parent); or (ii) a sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all 

of the assets of the Corporation and its subsidiaries taken as a whole, except where such sale, lease 

or other disposition is to a wholly owned subsidiary of the Corporation. The treatment of any 

transaction or series of related transactions as a liquidation, dissolution or winding up pursuant to 

clause (i) or (ii) of the preceding sentence may be waived with respect to the holders of Preferred 

Stock by the affirmative vote or written consent of the holders of a majority in voting power of the 

outstanding shares of Preferred Stock, voting as a single class. 

(e) Valuation of Non-Cash Consideration. If any assets of the Corporation 

distributed to stockholders in connection with any liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the 

Corporation are other than cash, then the value of such assets shall be their fair market value as 

determined in good faith by the Board of Directors, except that any publicly-traded securities to be 

distributed to stockholders in a liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Corporation shall be 

valued as follows: 
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(i) if the securities are then traded on a national securities exchange, then 

the value of the securities shall be deemed to be the average of the closing prices of the securities 

on such exchange over the ten (10) trading day period ending five (5) trading days prior to the 

Distribution; 

(ii) if the securities are actively traded over-the-counter, then the value 

of the securities shall be deemed to be the average of the closing bid prices of the securities over 

the ten (10) trading day period ending five (5) trading days prior to the Distribution. 

In the event of a merger or other acquisition of the Corporation by another entity, the 

Distribution date shall be deemed to be the date such transaction closes. 

For the purposes of this subsection 2(e), "trading day" shall mean any day which the 

exchange or system on which the securities to be distributed are traded is open and "closing prices" 

or "closing bid prices" shall be deemed to be: (i) for securities traded primarily on the New York 

Stock Exchange, the American Stock Exchange or a Nasdaq market, the last reported trade price or 

sale price, as the case may be, at 4:00 p.m., New York time, on that day and (ii) for securities listed 

or traded on other exchanges, markets and systems, the market price as of the end of the regular 

hours trading period that is generally accepted as such for such exchange, market or system. If, 

after the date hereof, the benchmark times generally accepted in the securities industry for 

detennining the market price of a stock as of a given trading day shall change from those set forth 

above, the fair market value shall be determined as of such other generally accepted benchmark 

times. 

3. Conversion of Preferred Stock. The holders of the Preferred Stock shall have 

conversion rights as follows: 
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(a) Right to Convert. Each share of Preferred Stock shall be convertible, at the 

option of the holder thereof, at any time after the date of issuance of such share at the office of the 

Corporation or any transfer agent for · the Preferred Stock, into that number of fully-paid, 

nonassessable shares of Series 1 Common Stock determined by dividing the applicable Original 

Issue Price for the relevant series by the applicable Conversion Price for such series. (The number 

of shares of Series 1 Common Stock into which each share of Preferred Stock of a series may be 

converted is hereinafter referred to as the "Conversion Rate" for each such series.) Upon any 

decrease or increase in the Conversion Price for any series of Preferred Stock, as described in this 

Section 3, the Conversion Rate for such series shall be appropriately increased or decreased, 

respectively. 

(b) Automatic Preferred Conversion. Each share of Preferred Stock shall 

automatically be converted into fully-paid, non-assessable shares of Series 1 Common Stock at the 

then effective Conversion Rate for such share (i) immediately prior to the closing of a finn 

commitment underwritten initial public offering pursuant to an effective registration statement filed 

under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), covering the offer and sale of 

Common Stock, or (ii) at the close of business on the date of adoption by the affirmative vote or 

written consent of the holders of a majority in voting power of the outstanding Preferred Stock, 

voting as a separate class, of a resolution to convert all of the then outstanding shares of Preferred 

Stock into shares of Series l Common Stock (each of the events referred to in (i) and (ii) is referred 

to herein as an "Automatic Preferred Conversion Event"). 

(c) Mechanics of Conversion. No fractional shares of Series 1 Common Stock 

shall be issued upon the conversion of any shares of Preferred Stock. In lieu of any fractional shares 
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of Series 1 Common Stock to which a holder would otherwise be entitled to receive upon a 

conversion of shares of Preferred Stock pursuant to this Section 3, the Corporation shall pay such 

holder cash in an amount equal to such fraction multiplied by the then fair market value of a share 

of Series 1 Common Stock, as detemuned by the Board of Directors. For such purpose, all shares 

of Preferred Stock held by each holder of Preferred Stock shall be aggregated. Before any holder 

of Preferred Stock shall be entitled to convert the same into full shares of Series 1 Common Stock, 

and to receive certificates therefor, such holder shall either (A) surrender the certificate or 

certificates therefor, duly endorsed, at the office of the Corporation or of any transfer agent for the 

Preferred Stock or (B) notify the Corporation or its transfer agent that such certificates have been 

lost, stolen or destroyed and execute an agreement satisfactory to the Corporation to indemnify the 

Corporation from any loss incurred by it in connection with such certificates, and shall give written 

notice to the Corporation at such office that he elects to convert the same; provided, however, that 

on the date of an Automatic Preferred Conversion Event, the outstanding shares of Preferred Stock 

shall be converted automatically without any further action by the holders of such shares and 

whether or not the certificates representing such shares are surrendered to the Corporation or its 

transfer agent; provided further, however, that the Corporation shall not be obligated to issue 

certificates evidencing the shares of Series 1 Common Stock issuable upon such Automatic 

Preferred Conversion Event unless either the certificates evidencing such shares of Preferred Stock 

are delivered to the Corporation or its transfer agent as provided above, or the holder notifies the 

Corporation or its transfer agent that such certificates have been lost, stolen or destroyed and 

executes an agreement satisfactory to the Corporation to indemnify the Corporation from any loss 

incurred by it in connection with such certificates. On the date of the occurrence of an Automatic 
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Preferred Conversion Event, each holder ofrecord of shares of Preferred Stock shall be deemed to 

be the holder of record of the Series 1 Common Stock issuable upon such conversion, 

notwithstanding that the certificates representing such shares of Preferred Stock shall not have been 

surrendered at the office of the Corporation, that notice from the Corporation shall not have been 

received by any holder of record of shares of Preferred Stock, or that the certificates evidencing 

such shares of Series 1 Common Stock shaH not then be actually delivered to such holder. 

(d) Adjustments for Subdivisions or Combinations of Series 1 Common Stock. 

In the event the outstanding shares of Series 1 Common Stock shall be subdivided (by stock split, 

reclassification, payment of a stock dividend or otherwise), into a greater number of shares of Series 

1 Common Stock, the Conversion Price of each series of Preferred Stock in effect immediately 

prior to such subdivision shall, concurrently with the effectiveness of such subdivision, be 

proportionately decreased. In the event the outstanding shares of Series l Common Stock shall be 

combined (by reclassification or otherwise) into a lesser number of shares of Series 1 Common 

Stock, the Conversion Price of each Series of Preferred Stock in effect immediately prior to such 

combination shall, concurrently with the effectiveness of such combination, be proportionately 

increased. 

( e) Adjustments for Subdivisions or Combinations of Preferred Stock. In the 

event the outstanding shares of Preferred Stock or a series of Preferred Stock shall be subdivided 

(by stock split, reclassification, payment of a stock dividend or otherwise), into a greater number 

of shares of Preferred Stock, the Original lssue Price and Liquidation Preference of the affected 

series of Preferred Stock in effect immediately prior to such subdivision shall, concurrently with 

the effectiveness of such subdivision, be proportionately decreased. Jn the event the outstanding 
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shares of Preferred Stock or a series of Preferred Stock shall be combined (by reclassification or 

otherwise) into a lesser number of shares of Preferred Stock, the Original Tssue Price and 

Liquidation Preference of the affected series of Preferred Stock in effect immediately prior to such 

combination shall, concurrently with the effectiveness of such combination, be proportionately 

increased. 

(f) Adjustments for Reclassification, Exchange and Substitution. Subject to 

Section 2 above ("Liquidation Rights''), if the Series 1 Common Stock issuable upon conversion 

of tbe Preferred Stock shall be changed into tbe same or a different number of shares of any other 

class or classes of stock, whether by capital reorganization, reclassification or otherwise ( other than 

a subdivision or combination of shares provided for above), then, in any such event, in lieu of the 

number of shares of Seri.es 1 Common Stock which the holders would otherwise have been entitled 

to receive each holder of such Preferred Stock shall have the right thereafter to convert such shares 

of Preferred Stock into a number of shares of such other class or classes of stock which a holder of 

the number of shares of Series I Common Stock deliverable upon conversion of such series of 

Preferred Stock immediately before that change would have been entitled to receive in such 

reorganization or reclassification, all subject to further adjustment as provided herein with respect 

to such other shares. 

(g) Certificate as to Adjustments. Upon the occurrence of each adjustment or 

readjustment of the Conversion Price pursuant to this Section 3, the Corporation at its expense shall 

promptly compute such adjustment or readjustment in accordance with the terms hereof and furnish 

to each holder of Preferred Stock a certificate setting forth such adjustment or readjustment and 

showing in detail the facts upon which such adjustment or readjustment is based. The Corporation 
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shall, upon the written request at any time of any holder of Preferred Stock, furnish or cause to be 

furnished to such holder a like certificate setting forth (i) such adjustments and readjustments, 

(ii) the Conversion Price at the time in effect and (iii) the number of shares of Series 1 Common 

Stock and the amount, if any, of other property which at the time would be received upon the 

conversion of Preferred Stock. 

(h) Notices of Record Date. ln the event that the Corporation shall propose at 

any time: 

(i) to declare any Distribution upon its Series l Common Stock, whether 

in cash, property, stock or other securities, whether or not a regular cash dividend and whether or 

not out of earnings or earned surplus; 

(ii) to effect any reclassification or recapitalization of its Series 1 

Common Stock outstanding involving a change in the Series I Common Stock; or 

(iii) to voluntarily liquidate or dissolve or to enter into any transaction 

deemed to be a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation pursuant to Section 2(d); 

then, in connection with each such event, the Corporation shall send to the holders of the Preferred 

Stock at least ] 0 days' prior written notice of the date on which a record shal I be taken for such 

Distribution (and specifying the date on which the holders of Series 1 Common Stock shall be 

entitled thereto and, if applicable, the amount and character of such Distribution) or for determining 

rights to vote in respect of the matters referred to in (ii) and (iii) above. 

Such written notice shall be given by first class mail (or express courier), postage prepaid, 

addressed to the holders of Preferred Stock at the address for each such holder as shown on the 

books of the Corporation and shall be deemed given on the date such notice is mailed. 
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The notice provisions set forth in this section may be shortened or waived prospectively or 

retrospectively by the consent or vote of the holders of a majority of the Preferred Stock, voting as 

a single class and on an as-converted basis. 

(i) Reservation of Stock Issuable Upon Conversion. The Corporation sha11 at all 

times reserve and keep available out of its authorized but un issued shares of Series I Common 

Stock solely for the purpose of effecting the conversion of the shares of the Preferred Stock, such 

number of its shares of Series 1 Common Stock as shall from time to time be sufficient to effect 

the conversion of all then outstanding shares of the Preferred Stock; and if at any time the number 

of authorized but unissued shares of Series 1 Common Stock shall not be sufficient to effect the 

conversion of all tl1en outstanding shares of the Preferred Stock, the Corporation will take such 

corporate action as may, in the opinion of its counsel, be necessary to increase its authorized but 

unissued shares of Series 1 Common Stock to such number of shares as shall be sufficient for 

such purpose. 

4. Conversion of Series 2 Common Stock. 

(a) Optiona.l Conversion. Each share of Series 2 Common Stock shall be 

convertible into one (1) fully paid andnonassessable share of Series l Common Stock at the option 

of the holder thereof at any time upon written notice to the Corporation. Before any holder of Series 

2 Common Stock shaJJ be entitled to convert the same into full shares of Series l Common Stock, 

and to receive certificates therefor, such holder shall either (A) surrender the certificate or 

certificates therefor, duly endorsed, at the office of the Corporation or of any transfer agent for tbe 

Series 2 Common Stock or (B) notify the Corporation or its transfer agent that such certificates 

have been lost, stolen or destroyed and execute an agreement satisfactory to the Corporation to 
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indemnify the Corporation from any loss incurred by it in connection with such certificates, and 

shall give written notice to the Corporation at such office that he elects to convert the same; 

provided, however, that on the date of an Automatic Common Conversion, the outstanding shares 

of Series 2 Common Stock shall be converted automatically without any further action by the 

holders of such shares and whether or not the certificates representing such shares are surrendered 

to the Corporation or its transfer agent; provided further, however, that the Corporation shall not 

be obligated to issue certificates evidencing the shares of Series I Common Stock issuable upon 

such Automatic Common Conversion Event unless either the certificates evidencing such shares of 

Series 2 Common Stock are delivered to the Corporation or its transfer agent as provided above, or 

the holder notifies the Corporation or its transfer agent that such certificates have been lost, stolen 

or destroyed and executes an agreement satisfactory to the Corporation to indemnify the 

Corporation from any loss incurred by it in connection with such certificates. On the date of the 

occurrence of an Automatic Common Conversion Event, each holder of record of shares of Series 

2 Common Stock shal I be deemed to be the holder of record of the Series 1 Common Stock issuable 

upon such conversion, notwithstanding that the certificates representing such shares of Series 2 

Common Stock shall not have been surrendered at the office of the Corporation, that notice from 

the Corporation shall not have been received by any holder of record of shares of Series 2 Common 

Stock, or that the certificates evidencing such shares of Series J Common Stock shall not then be 

actually delivered to such holder. 

(b) Automatic Common Conversion. Each share of Series 2 Common Stock shall 

automatically be converted into one (1) folly paid and nonassessable share of Series I Common 

Stock immediately prior to the close of business on the earlier of the date, if any, specified by the 
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affirmative vote of the holders of Series 2 Common Stock representing not less than a majority of 

the voting power oftbe outstanding shares of Series 2 Common Stock, voting separately as a single 

class (the "Automatic Common Conversion"). The Corporation shall provide notice of the 

Automatic Common Conversion of shares of Series 2 Common Stock pursuant to this Section 4(b) 

to record holders of such shares of Series 2 Common Stock as soon as practicable following the 

Automatic Common Conversion; provided, however, that the Corporation may satisfy such notice 

requirements by providing such notice prior to the Automatic Common Conversion. Such notice 

shall be provided by any means then permitted by the General Corporation Law of the State of 

Delaware; provided, however, that no failure to give such notice nor any defect therein shall affect 

the validity of the Automatic Common Conversion. Upon and after the Automatic Common 

Conversion, the person registered on the Corporation's books as the record holder of the shares of 

Series 2 Common Stock so converted immediately prior to the Automatic Common Conversion 

shall be registered on the Corporation's books as the record holder of the shares of Series 1 Common 

Stock issued upon Automatic Common Conversion of such shares of Series 2 Common Stock, 

without further action on the part of the record bolder thereof. lmmediately upon the effectiveness 

of the Automatic Common Conversion, the rights of the holders of shares of Series 2 Common 

Stock as such shall cease, and the holders shall be treated for all purposes as having become the 

record holder or holders of such shares of Series 1 Common Stock into which such shares of Series 

2 Common Stock were converted. 

(c) Conversion on Transfer. Each share of Series 2 Common Stock shall 

automatically, without further action by the Corporation or the holder thereof, be converted into 

one (l) fully paid and nonassessable share of Series l Common Stock, upon the occurrence of a 
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Transfer (as defined herein), other than a Permitted Transfer (as defined herein), of such share of 

Series 2 Common Stock. 

(d) Definitions. For purposes only of this Section 4: 

(i) "Family Member" shall mean with respect to any natural person 

who is a Qualified Stockholder (as defined below), the spouse, domestic partner, parents, 

grandparents, lineal descendants, siblings and lineal descendants of siblings of such Qualified 

Stockholder. Lineal descendants shall include adopted persons, but only so long as they are adopted 

during minority. 

(ii) "Qualified Stockholder" shalJ mean (i) the record holder of a share 

of Series 2 Common Stock; (ii) each natural person who Transferred shares of capital stock of the 

Corporation to a Permitted Entity that is or becomes a QuaLified Stockholder; (iii) each natural 

person who Transferred shares of, or equity awards for, Series 2 Common Stock (including any 

Option exercisable or Convertible Security exchangeable for or convertible into shares of Series 2 

Common Stock) to a Permitted Entity that is or becomes a Qualified Stockholder; and (iv) a 

Permitted Transferee. 

(iii) "Permitted Entity" shall mean with respect to a Qualified 

Stockholder (a) a Permitted Trust (as defined below) solely for the benefit of (i) such Qualified 

Stockholder, (ii) one or more Family Members of such Qualified Stockholder and/or (iii) any other 

Permitted Entity of such Qualified Stockholder, or (b) any general partnership, limited partnership, 

limited liability company, corporation or other entity exclusively owned by (i) such Qualified 

Stockholder, (ii) one or more Family Members of such Qualified Stockholder and/or (iii) any other 

Permitted Entity of such Qualified Stockholder. 
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(iv) "Transfer" of a share of Series 2 Common Stock shall mean any 

sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance, hypothecation or other transfer or disposition of such share 

or any legal or beneficial interest in such share, whether or not for value and whether voluntary or 

involuntary or by operation of law, including, without limitation, a transfer of a share of Series 2 

Common Stock to a broker or other nominee (regardless of whether there is a corresponding change 

in beneficial ownership), or the transfer of, or entering into a binding agreement with respect to, 

Voting Control (as defined below) over such share by proxy or otherwise; provided, however, that 

the following shall not be considered a "Transfer" within the meaning of this Section 4: 

(l) the granting of a revocable proxy to officers or directors of 

the Corporation at the request of the Board of Directors in connection with actions to be taken at an 

annual or special meeting of stockho.lders; 

(2) entering into a voting trust, agreement or arrangement (with 

or without granting a proxy) solely with stockholders who are holders of Series 2 Common Stock 

that (A) is disclosed either in a Schedule 13D filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission 

or in writing to the Secretary of the Corporation, (B) either has a term not exceeding one (l) year 

or is terminable by the holder of the shares subject thereto at any time and (C) does not involve any 

payment of cash , securities, property or other consideration to the holder of the shares subject 

thereto other than the mutual promise to vote shares in a designated manner; 

(3) entering into a voting trust, agreement or arrangement (with 

or without granting a proxy) with stockholders who are holders of Preferred Stock (with or without 

stockholders who are holders of Common Stock); or 
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(4) the pledge of shares of Series 2 Common Stock by a 

stockholder that creates a mere security interest in such shares pursuant to a bona fide loan or 

indebtedness transaction for so long as such stockholder continues to exercise Voting Control over 

such pledged shares; provided, however, that a foreclosure on such shares or other similar action 

by the pledgee shall constitute a Transfer unless such foreclosure or similar action qualifies as a 

Permitted Transfer. 

A Transfer shall also be deemed to have occurred with respect to a share of Series 2 Common Stock 

beneficially held by (i) an entity that is a Permitted Entity, if there occurs any act or circumstance 

that causes such entity to no longer be a Permitted Entity or (ii) an entity that is a Qualified 

Stockholder, if there occurs a Transfer on a cumulative basis of a majority of the voting power of 

the voting securities of such entity or any direct or indirect Parent of such entity, other than a 

Transfer to parties that are holders of voting securit1es of any such entity or Parent of such entity. 

(v) "Parent" of an entity shall mean any entity that directly or indirectly 

owns or controls a majority of the voting power of the voting securities of such entity. 

(vi) "Permitted Transfer" shall mean, and be restricted to, any Transfer 

of a share of Series 2 Common Stock: 

(J) by a Qualified Stockholder to (A) one or more Family 

Members of such Qualified Stockholder, or (B) any Permitted Entity of such Qualified Stockholder; 

or 
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(2) by a Permitted Entity of a Qualified Stockholder to (A) such 

Qualified Stockholder or one or more Family Members of such Qua] ified Stockholder, or (B) any 

other Permitted Entity of such Qua! ified Stockholder. 

(vii) "Permitted Transferee" shall mean a transferee of shares of Series 

2 Common Stock received in a Transfer that constitutes a Permitted Transfer. 

(viii) "Permitted Trust" shall mean a bona fide trust where each trustee 

1s (i) a Qualified Stockholder, (ii) a Family Member or (iii) a professional in the business of 

providing trustee services, including private professional fiduciaries, trust companies and bank trust 

departments. 

(ix) "Voting Control" shall mean, with respect to a share of Series 2 

Common Stock, the power (whether exclusive or shared) to vote or direct the voting of such share 

by proxy, voting agreement or otherwise. 

(x) "Convertible Securities" shall mean securities (other than shares of 

Series 2 Common Stock) convertible into or exchangeable for Series J Common Stock or Series 2 

Common Stock, either directly or indirectly. 

(xi) "Options" shall mean rights, options or warrants to subscribe for, 

purchase or otherwise acquire Series 1 Common Stock, Series 2 Common Stock or Convertible 

Securiti.es. 

(e) Reservation. The Corporation shall at all times reserve and keep available 

out of its authorized but unissued shares of Series 1 Common Stock solely for the purpose of 
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effecting the conversion of the shares of the Series 2 Common Stock, such number of its shares of 

Series 1 Common Stock as shall from time to time be sufficient to effect the conversion of all then 

outstanding shares of the Series 2 Common Stock; and if at any time the number of authorized but 

unissued shares of Series 1 Common Stock shall not be sufficient to effect tbe conversion of all 

then outstanding shares of the Series 2 Common Stock, the Corporation will take such corporate 

action as may, in the opinion of its counsel, be necessary to increase its authorized but unissued 

shares of Series 1 Common Stock to such number of shares as shall be sufficient for such purpose. 

5. Voting 

(a) Restricted Class Voting. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein or as 

required by law, the holders of Common Stock and Preferred Stock shall vote together as a single 

class, and not as separate classes. 

(b) No Series Voting. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein or as 

required by law, all series of any class of stock shall vote together as a single class, and not as 

separate series. 

(c) Preferred Stock. Each holder of Preferred Stock shall be entitled to vote on 

each matter submitted to a vote of the stockholders generalJy , and each holder of Preferred Stock 

shall be entitled to the number of votes equal to the number of shares of Series l Common Stock 

into which the shares of Preferred Stock held by such holder could be converted as of the record 

date; provided, however, that fractional votes shall not be permitted and any fractional voting rights 

resulting from the above formula (after aggregating all shares into which shares of Preferred Stock 

held by each holder could be converted) shall be disregarded. 
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( d) Adjustment in Authorized Common Stock. The number of authorized shares 

of Series 1 Common Stock or Series 2 Common Stock may be increased or decreased (but not 

below the number of shares of Series 1 Common Stock or Series 2 Common Stock then outstanding) 

by an affirmative vote of the holders of a majority in voting power of the outstanding shares of 

capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote thereon. 

( e) Series I Common Stock. Each holder of shares of Series 1 Common Stock, 

as such, shall be entitled to one vote for each share of Series l Common Stock held of record by 

such holder. 

(f) Series 2 Common Stock. Each holder of shares of Series 2 Common Stock, 

as such, shall be entitled to ten (10) votes for each share of Series 2 Common Stock held of record 

by such holder. 

6. Amendments and Changes. As long as any shares of Preferred Stock sha11 be issued 

and outstanding, the Corporation shall not, without first obtaining the approval (by vote or written 

consent as provided by law) of the holders of at least a majority in voting power of the outstanding 

shares of the Preferred Stock amend, alter or repeal any provision of this Third Amended and 

Restated Certificate of Incorporation if such action would adversely alter the rights, preferences, 

privileges or powers of, or restrictions of the Preferred Stock or any series thereof. 

7. Re issuance of Preferred Stock. In the event that any shares of Preferred Stock shal I 

be converted pursuant to Section 3, repurchased or otherwise reacqujred by the Corporation, the 

shares so converted, repurchased or otherwise reacquired shall be retired and cancelled and shall 

not be issuable by the Corporation as shares of Preferred Stock. 
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8. Reissuance of Series 2 Common Stock. Tn the event that any shares of Series 2 

Common Stock shall be converted pursuant to Section 4, repurchased or otherwise reacquired by 

the Corporation, the shares so converted, repurchased or otherwise reacquired shall be retired and 

cancelled and shall not be issuable by the Corporation as shares of Series 2 Common Stock. 

9. Certain Distributions. For purposes of Section 500 of the California Corporations 

Code, distributions by the Corporation may be made without regard to any preferential rights or 

preferential dividends arrears amount. 

ARTICLE VI 

The Corporation is to have perpetual existence. 

ARTICLE VII 

Elections of directors need not be by written ballot unless the Bylaws of the Corporation 

shaJI provide otherwise. 

ARTICLE YIU 

The number of directors which shall constitute the initial Board of Directors of the 

Corporation shall be one. Thereafter, unless otherwise set forth herein, the number of directors 

which constitute the Board of Directors of the Corporation shall be fixed by, or in the manner 

provided in, the Bylaws of the Corporation. 

-21-



ARTICLE IX 

In furtherance and not in limitation of the powers conferred by statute, the Board of 

Directors of the Corporation is expressly authorized to adopt, amend or repeal the Bylaws of the 

Corporation. 

ARTICLEX 

1. To the fullest extent permitted by the General Corporation Law as the same exists 

or as may hereafter be amended, a director of the Corporation shall not be personally liable to the 

Corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for a breach of fiduciary duty as a director. 

If the General Corporation Law is amended to authorize corporate action further eliminating or 

limiting the personal liability of directors, then the liability of a director of the Corporation shall be 

eliminated or limited to the fullest extent permitted by the General Corporation Law as so amended. 

2. The Corporation shall have the power to indemnify, to the fullest extent permitted 

by the General Corporation Law, as it presently exists or may hereafter be amended from time to 

time, any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending 

or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal , administrati ve or investigative (a 

"Proceeding") by reason of the fact that he or she is or was a director, officer, employee or agent 

of the Corporation or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, 

employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, 

includ ing service with respect to employee benefit plans, against expenses (including attorneys' 

fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such 

person in connection with any such Proceeding. 
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3. Neither any amendment nor repeal of this ARTICLE X, nor the adoption of any 

provision of the Corporation's Certificate oflncorporation inconsistent with this AR TI CLE X, shall 

eliminate or reduce the effect of this ARTICLE X, in respect of any matter occurring, or any action 

or proceeding accruing or arising or that, but for this ARTICLE X, would accrue or arise, prior to 

such amendment, repeal or adoption of an inconsistent provision. 

4. Any failure of a director without a conflict of interest ( as described in Section 365( c) 

of the Delaware General Corporation Law) to satisfy a balancing requirement in Section 365 of the 

General Corporation Law shall not, for the purposes of Section I 02(b )(7) or Section 145 of the 

General Corporation Law, constitute an act or omission not in good faith, or a breach of the duty of 

loyalty. 

ARTICLE XI 

1. The Corporation shall (i) provide its stockholders a public benefit statement 

satisfying the requirements of Section 366(b) of the General Corporation Law (the "Statement") 

no less than annually, and (ii) use a third-party standard in connectfon with, and attain a periodic 

third party certification addressing, the Corporation's promotion of the public benefits identified in 

this Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and the best interests of those 

materially affected by the Corporation's conduct. 

2. For purposes of this Article XI, the tenn "third-party standard" shall mean a credible 

standard for defining, reporting, and assessing the Corporation's performance in achieving the 

public benefits identified in this Third Amended and Restated Certificate offncorporation that: (i) 

assesses the effect of the Corporation's business and operations on all of the interests materially 
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affected by tbe Corporation's conduct; (ii) is developed by an organization that is not under the 

control of the Corporation and its affiliates; (iii) has infonnation publicly available concerning (A) 

the criteria and relative weighting of the standard uses to assess the Corporation's performance in 

achieving the public benefits identified in this Third Amended and Restated Certificate of 

Incorporation, (B) tJ1e process by which the standard is developed and revised, and (C) the 

independence of the organization that developed and/or revised the standard vis-a-vis the 

Corporation and its controlled affiliates and its and their directors, officers, managers, employees 

and agents. 
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AMENDED AND REST A TED BYLAWS OF 
HEROIC ENTERPRISES, PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION 

ARTICLE I 
STOCKHOLDERS 

I. I Place of Meetings. All meetings of stockho lders of the corporation (as 
defined herein) shall be held at such place (if any) with in or w ithout the State of Delaware 
as may be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors, the President or Chief 
Executive Officer. For all purposes of these By laws, the term ·'corporation" shall refer to 
Heroic Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation, a public benefit corporation fo rmed under 
Subchapter XV of the Delaware General Corporation Law, and the term " Bylaws'' shall 
refer to these Amended and Restated Bylaws of the corporation, as may be amended from 
time to time. 

1.2 Annual Meeting. The annual meeting o f stockho lders for the election o f 
directors and for the transaction of such other business as may properly be bro ught before 
the meeting shall be held on a date to be fixed by the Board of Directors at the time and 
place to be fixed by the Board of Directors and stated in the notice of the meeting. In lieu 
of holding an annual meeting of stockho lders at a designated place, the Board of Directors 
may, in its so le discretion, determine that any annual meeting of stockholders may be held 
solely by means of remote communication. 

1.3 Specia l Meetings. Special meetings of stockho lders may be called at any 
time by the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board, the President or the ho lders o f 
record of not less than I 0% of a ll shares entitled to cast votes at the meeting, fo r any 
purpose or purposes prescribed in the notice of the meeting and shal l be held at such place 
(if any), on such date and at such time as the Board may fi x. In lieu o f holding a special 
meeting of stockholders at a designated place, the Board of Directors may, in its so le 
discretion, determine that any specia l meeting of stockholders may be held sole ly by 
means o f remote communication. Business transacted at any special meeting of 
stockholders shall be confined tO lhe purpose or purposes stated in the notice of meeting. 
Upon request in writing sent by registered mail to the President or Chie f Executive Officer 
by any stockho lder or stockholders entitled to request a specia l meeti ng of stockho lders 
pursuant to this Section 1.3, and containing the in fo rmation required pursuant to 
Sections 1.10 and 2. 15, as applicable, the Board o f Directors shall determine a place and 
time for such meeting , which time shal I be not less than l O nor more than 30 days after the 
rece ipt o f such request and a record date for the determination of stockho lders entitled to 
vote at such meeting shall be fi xed by the Board of Directors, in advance, which shall not 
be more that 15 days nor less than IO days before the date of such meeting. Following 
such receipt of a request and determination by the Secretary o f the validity thereof, it shall 
be the duty of the Secretary to present the request to the Board of Directors, and upon 
Board action as prov ided in this Section 1 .3, to cause notice to be given to the 
stockholders entitled to vote at such meeting, in the manner set forth in Section 1.4, 
hereof, that a meeting will be held at the place, if any, and time so determined, for the 



purposes set forth in the stockho lder's request, as well as any purpose or purposes 
determined by the Board of Directors in accordance with this Section 1.3. 

1.4 Notice of Meetings. 

(a) Written notice of each meeting of stockholders, whether annua l or 
special, shall be g iven not less than IO nor more than 60 days before the date on which the 
meeting is to be held , to each stockholder entitled to vote at such meeting, except as 
otherwise provided herein or as required by law (meaning here and hereafter, as required 
from time to time by the Delaware General Corporation Law or the Certificate of 
Incorporation). The notice of any meeting shal l state the place, if any , date and hour of 
the meeting, and the means of remote communication, if any, by which stockholders and 
proxy holders may be deemed to be present in person and vote at such meeting. The 
notice of a special meeting shall state , in addition, the purpose or purposes for which the 
meeting is called. If mailed, notice is given w hen deposited in the United States mail, 
postage prepaid, directed to the stockholder at his address as it appears on the records of 
the corporation. 

(b) Subject to the provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law, 
notice to stockho lders may be given by personal delivery, mail, or, with the consent of the 
stockholder entitled to receive notice, by facs imile or other means of e lectronic 
transmission, provided that no such consent is requ ired for notice by electron ic mail 
(emai l) unless the stockho lder has notified the corporatio n in writing or by electronic 
transmission of an objection to receiving notice by e lectron ic mail or such notice is 
prohibited by Section 232(e) of the Delaware General Corporation Law. A notice by 
e lectronic mail must include a prominent legend that the communication is an impotiant 
notice of the corporation (which electronic mail sha ll be deemed to include any fil es 
attached thereto and any in fo rmation hypcrlinked to a websi te if such electronic mail 
includes the contact information of an officer or agent of the corporation who is availab le 
to assist with accessing such files and information) . Notwithstand ing the foregoing, a 
notice may not be g iven by electronic transmission from and after the time that (i) the 
corporation is unable to deliver by such electronic transmission two consecutive notices 
by the corporation and (ii) such inabi lity becomes known to the secretary or ass istant 
secretary of the corporation or to the transfer agent or other person responsible for the 
giving notice, prov ided, however, that the inadvertent failure to such inability shall not 
invalidate any meeting o r other action. If mailed, such noti ce shall be delivered by U.S. 
mail, postage prepaid, directed to each stockholder at such stockho lder's address as it 
appears in the records of the corporation and shall be deemed given when deposited in the 
United States mail. If delivered by courier service, the notice shall be deemed given upon 
the earlier of when the notice is received or le ft at such stockholder' s address. Notice 
given by electronic transmission pursuant to this subsection shall be deemed given: (I) if 
by facsimile te lecommunication, when directed to a facs imile telecommunication number 
at which the stockho lder has consented to receive notice; (2) if by electronic mail, when 
directed to an electronic mail address of the stockho lder; (3) if by posting on an electronic 
network together with separate notice to the stockholder of such specific posting, upon the 
later of (A) such posting and (B) the g iving of such separate notice; and ( 4) if by any other 
form of e lectronic transmission, when directed to the stockholder. An affidav it of the 

2 



secretary or an ass istant secretary or of the transfer agent or other agent of the corporation 
that the notice has been given by persona l delivery, by mail, or by a fo rm of electronic 
transmission shall, in the absence of fraud, be prima facic evidence of the facts stated 
therein. 

(c) Notice of any meeting of stockholders need not be g iven to any 
stockholder if waived by such stockholde r either in a writing s igned by such stockholder 
or by electronic transmission by the stockholder, whether such waiver is given before or 
after such meeting is held. Attendance of a person at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of 
notice of such meeting, except when the person attends a meeting for the express purpose 
of object at the beginning o f the meeting, to the transaction or any bus iness because the 
meeting is not lawfully called or convened. 

1.5 Voting List. The officer who has charge of the stock ledger of the 
corporatio n shall prepare, at least IO days before each meeting of stockholders, a complete 
list of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting, arranged in alphabetical order for 
each class o f stock and showing the address of each stockho lder and the number o f shares 
reg istered in the name of each stockho lder. Such list shall be open to the examination of 
any such stockholder, for any pu rpose germane to the meeting, during ord ina ry business 
hours, for a period of at least 10 days prior to the meeting, in the manner provided by law . 
The list shall also be produced and kept at the time and place of the meeting during the 
whole time of _the meeting, and may be inspected by any stockholder who is present. This 
list shall determine the identity of the stockho lders entitled to vote at the meeting and the 
number o f shares held by each of them. 

1.6 Quorum. Except as otherwise provided by law or these By laws, the 
holders o f a majority of the shares of the capital stock or the corporation entitled to vote at 
the meeting, present in person or represented by proxy, sha ll constitute a quorum for the 
transaction of bus iness. Where a separate class vote by a c lass or classes or series is 
required, a majority of the shares of such c lass or c lasses or series present in person or 
represented by proxy shal I constitute a quorum entitled to take aclio n with respect to thal 
vote on that matter. 

1.7 Adjournments. Any meeting of stockholders may be adjourned to any 
other time and to any other place al which a meeting of stockholders may be he ld under 
these Bylaws by the chairman of the meeting or, in the absence of such pe rson, by any 
officer entitled to preside at or to act as secretary of such meeting, or by the ho lders of a 
majority o f the shares of stock present or represented at the meeting and entitled to vote, 
although less than a quorum. When a meeting is adjourned to another place, date or time, 
written notice need not be given of the adjourned meeting if the date, time, and place, if 
any, thereo f, and the means of remote communication, if any, by which stockholders and 
proxy ho lders may be deemed to be present in person and vote at such adjourned meeting, 
arc announced at the meeting at which the adj ournment is taken; provided, however, that 
if the date of any adjourned meeting is more than 30 days a fter the date for which the 
meeting was original ly noticed, or if a new record date is fixed for the adjourned meeting, 
w ritten notice o f the p lace, if any, date, and time of the adjourned meeting and the means 
of remote communications, if any, by which stockholders and proxy ho lders may be 
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<-kerned to be present in person and vote at such adjourned meeting, shall be g iven in 
conformity herewith. J\t the adjourned meeting, the corporation may transact any 
business which might have been transacted at the original meeting. 

1.8 Voting and Proxies. Each stockholder shall have one vote for each share o r 
stock entitled to vote held of record by such stockholder and a proportionate vote for each 
fractional share so held, unless otherwise provided by law or in the Certificate of 
Incorporation. Each stockholder o f record entitled to vote at a rneeting of stockho lders 
rnay vote in person or rnay authorize any other person or persons to vote or act for hirn by 
written proxy executed by the stockholder or his authorized agent or by a transrnission 
permitted by law and delivered to the Secretary of the corporation. Any copy, facs imile 
transmission or other reliable reproduction of the writing or transmission created pursuant 
to this Section may be substituted or used in lieu of the original writing or transmission for 
any and all purposes for which the original writing or transmission could be used, 
provided that such copy, facsimile transmission or other reproduction shall be a complete 
reproduction of the entire original writing or transmission. 

1.9 Action at Meeting. When a quorum is present at any meeting, any election 
of directors shall be determined by a plurality of the votes cast by the stockholders entitled 
to vote at the election, and any other matter shall be determined by a majority in voting 
power of the shares entitled to vote o n the matter (or if there arc two or more c lasses of 
stock entitled to vote as separate classes, then in the case of each such class, a majority or 
the voting power o f the shares of each such class entitled to vote on the matter) shall 
decide such matter, except when a different vote is required by express provision of law, 
the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws. 

J\11 voting, including on the e lection of directors, but excepting where otherwise 
required by law, may be by a voice vote; provided, however, that upon demand therefor 
by a stockholder entitled to vote or his or her proxy, a vote by ballot shall be taken. Each 
ballot shall state the name of the stockholder or proxy voting and such other information 
as may be required under the procedure established for the meeting. The corporation may, 
and to the extent required by law, shall, in advance of any meeting or stockholders , 
appoint one or more inspectors to act at the meeting and make a written report thereof. 
The corporation may designate one or more persons as an alternate inspecto r to replace 
any inspector who fails to act. lf no inspector or alternate is able to act at a meeting of 
stockholders, the person presiding at the meeting may, and to the extent required by law, 
shall, appoint one or more inspectors to act at the meeting. Each inspector, before 
entering upon the discharge or his duties, shall take and s ign an oath to faithfu lly execute 
the duties of inspector with strict impartiality and according to the best of his or her 
ability. 

1.1 O Conduct o f Business. At every meeting of the stockholders, the Chairman 
of the Board, or, in his or her absence, the President, or, in his or her absence, such other 
person as may be appointed by the Board of Directors, shall act as chairman. The 
Secretary of the corporation or a person designated by the chairman o f the meeting shall 
act as secretary of the meeting. Un less otherwise approved by the chairman of the 
meeting, attendance at the stockholders' meeting is restricted to stockholders of record, 
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persons authorized in accordance with Section 1.8 of these Bylaws to act by proxy, and 
officers of the corporation. 

The chairman of the meeting shall call the meeting to order, establish the agenda, 
and conduct the business of the meeting in accordance therewith or, at the chairman's 
discretion, it may be conducted otherwise in accordance with the wishes of the 
stockholders in attendance. The date and time of the opening and closing o f the polls for 
each matter upon which the stockholders will vote at the meeting shall be announced at 
the meeting. 

The chairman shall also conduct the meeting in an orderly manner, rule on the 
precedence of, and procedure on, motions and other procedural matters, and exercise 
discretion with respect to such procedural matters with fairness and good faith toward all 
those entitled to take part. Without limiting the foregoing, the chairman may (a) restrict 
attendance at any time to bona fide stockholders of record and their proxies and other 
persons in attendance at the invitation of the pres iding officer or Board of Directors, (b) 
restrict use of audio or video recording devices at the meeting, and (c) impose reasonable 
limits on the amount of time taken up at the meeting on discussion in general or on 
remarks by any one stockholder. Should any person in attendance become unruly or 
obstruct the meeting proceedings, the chairman shal l have the power to have such person 
removed from the meeting. Notwithstanding anything in the Bylaws to the contrary, no 
bus iness shall be conducted at a meeting except in accordance with the procedures set 
forth in this Section 1.10. The chairman of a meeting may determine and declare to the 
meeting that any proposed item of business was not brought before the meeting in 
accordance with the provisions of this Section 1.10 and Section 1.9, and if he should so 
determine, he shall so declare to the meeting and any such business not properly brought 
before the meeting shall not be transacted. 

1.11 Stockholder Action Without Meeting. Any action which may be taken at 
any annual or special meeting of stockholders may be taken without a meeting and 
without prior notice, if a consent in writing, setting forth the actions so taken, is s igned by 
the holders of outstanding shares having not less than the minimum number of votes 
which would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting at which a ll shares 
entitled to vote thereon were present and voted and is delivered to the corporation in the 
manner required by the Delaware General Corporation Law. No consent sha ll be effective 
to take the corporate action referred to therein unless consents s igned by a sufficient 
number of stockholders to take action arc delivered to the corporation within 60 days o f 
the first date on which a consent is so del ivered. All such consents shall be filed with the 
Secretary of the corporation and shall be maintained in the corporate records. Prompt 
notice of the taking of a corporate action without a meeting by less than unanimous 
written consent shall be given to those stockholders who have not consented in writing. 

An electronic transmission consenting to an action to be taken and transmitted by a 
stockholder, or by a proxy holder or other person authorized to act for a stockholder, shall be 
deemed to be written, s igned and dated for the purpose of this Section 1.1 I, prov ided that 
such electronic transmission sets forth or is delivered with information from which the 
corporation can determine (i) that the electronic transmission was transmitted by the 
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stockholder or by a person authorized to act for the stockholder and (ii) the date on which 
such stockholder or authorized person transmitted such electronic transmission. The date on 
which such electronic transmission is transmitted shall be deemed to be the date on which 
such consent was signed. No consent given by electronic transmission shall be deemed to 
have been delivered until such consent is reproduced in paper form and until such paper form 
shall be delivered to the corporation by delivery to its registered office in the State of 
Delaware, its principal place of business or an officer or agent of the corporation having 
custody of the books in which proceedings of meetings o f stockholders arc recorded. 

1.12 Meetings by Remote Communication. If authorized by the Board of 
Directors, and subject to such guidelines and procedures as the Board may adopt, 
stockho lders and proxy holders not physically present at a meeting of stockholders may, 
by means of remote communication, participate in the meeting and be deemed present in 
person and vote at the meeting, whether such meeting is to be held at a designated place or 
solely by means of remote communication, provided that (i) the corporation shall 
implement reasonable measures to verify that each person deemed present and permitted 
to vote at the meeting by means of remote communication is a stockholder or proxy 
holder, (ii) the corporation shall implement reasonable measures to provide such 
stockholders and proxy holders a reasonable oppotiunity to participate in the meeting and 
to vote on matters submitted to the stockholders, including an opportunity to read or hear 
the proceedings of the meeting substantially concurrently with such proceed ings, and (iii) 
if any stockholder or proxy holder votes or takes other action at the meeting by means of 
remote communication, a record of such vote or other action shall be maintained by the 
corporation. 

ARTICLE II 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

2 .1 General Powers. The business and affairs o f the corporation shall be 
managed by or under the direction of a Board of Directors, who may exercise all of the 
powers o f the corporation except as otherwise provided by law or the Certificate of 
Incorporation. In the event of a vacancy in the Hoard of Directors, the remaining 
directors, except as otherwise provided by law, may exercise the powers of the full Board 
until the vacancy is filled. 

2.2 Number and Term of Office. Subject to the rights of the holders of any 
series of preferred stock to elect directors under specified circumstances, the number of 
directors shall initially be one (I) and, thereafter, shall be fixed from time to time 
exclusively by the Board o f Directors pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the 
total number of authorized directors (whether or not there exist any vacancies in 
previously authorized directorships at the time any such reso lution is presented to the 
Board for adoption). All directors shall hold office unti I the expiration of the term for 
which elected and until their respective successors arc e lected, except in the case of the 
death, resignation or removal of any director. 

2 .3 Vacancies and Newly Created Directorships. Subject to the rights of the 
ho lders of any series of Preferred Stock then outstanding, newly created directorships 
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resulting from any increase in the authorized number of directors or any vacancies in the 
Board of Directors resulting from death, resignation, retirement, disqualifi cation or other 
cause (including removal from office by a vote of the stockho lders) may be filled only by 
a majority vote o r the directors then in office, though less than a quorum (and not by 
stockholders), or by the sole remaining director, or, to the extent req uired by the 
Certificate of Incorporation, by the stockholders, and directors so chosen sha ll hold office 
for a term expiring at the next annual meeting o f stockho lders at which the term of office 
of the class to which they have been elected expires or until such director's successor shall 
have been duly elected and qualified. No decrease in the number of authorized directors 
shall shorten the term of any incumbent director. 

2.4 Resignation. Any director may resign by del ivering notice in writing or by 
electronic transmiss ion to the President, Chairman o r the Board or Secretary. Such 
resignation sha ll be effective upon receipt unless it is specifi ed to be effective at some 
other time or upon the happening of some other event. 

2.5 Removal. Subject to the rights of the ho lders of any series of Preferred 
Stock then outstanding, any directors, or the entire Board of Directors, may be removed 
from office at any time, w ith or w ithout cause, by the affirmative vote of the holders of a 
majority of the voting power of all of the outstanding shares of capital stock entitled to 
vote generally in the election o f directors, voting together as a s ingle class. 

2 .6 Regular Meetings. Regular meetings o f the Board of Directors may be he ld 
without notice at such time and place, either w ithin or without the State of Delaware, as 
shall be determined fro m time to time by the Board of Directors; provided that any 
director who is absent when such a determination is made shall be given notice o f the 
determination. J\ regular meeting of the Board of Directors may be held without noti ce 
immediately after and at the same place as the annual meeting of stockho lders. 

2.7 Special Meetings. Special meetings or the Board of Directors may be 
called by the Chai rman of the Board, the President or two or more directors and may be 
held at any time and place, w ithin or without the State of Delaware. 

2.8 Notice o f Special Meetings. Notice of any special meeting of directors 
shall be given to each direc tor by whom it is not waived by the Secretary or by the officer 
or one of the directors calling the meeting. Notice shall be duly g iven to each director by 
(i) g iving notice to such director in person or by telephone, e lectronic transmission or 
voice message system at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting, (i i) sending a facsimi le 
to his last known facsimile number, or de livering written notice by hand to his last known 
business or home address, at least 24 hours in advance o f the meeting, or (iii) mailing 
written notice to his last known business or home address at least three days in advance of 
the meeting. J\ notice or waiver o f notice o f a meeting o f the Board of Directors need not 
specify the purposes of the meeting. Unless otherwise indicated in the notice thereof, any 
and al l business may be transacted at a specia l meeting. 

2.9 Participation in Meetings by Telephone Conference Calls or Other Methods 
of Communication. Directors or any members of any committee designated by the 
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directors may partic ipate in a meeting of the Board of Directors or such committee by 
means of conference telephone or other communications equipment by means of which a ll 
persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, and participation by such means 
shall constitute presence in person at such meeting. 

2. 10 Quorum. A majority of the total number of authorized directors sha ll 
constitute a quorum at any meeting of the Board of Directors. In the absence of a quorum 
at any such meeting, a majority o[ the directors present may adjourn the meeting from 
time to time without futther notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a 
quorum sha ll be present. Interested directors may be counted in determ ining the presence 
of a quorum at a meeting of the Board of Directors or at a meeting of a committee which 
authorizes a particular contract or transaction. 

2. 1 I Action at Meeting. At any meeting of the Board of Directors at wh ich a 
quorum is present, the vote of a majority of those present shall be sufficient to take any 
action, un less a different vote is speci fi ed by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these 
Bylaws. 

2. 12 Action by Written Consent. Any action required or permitted to be taken at 
any meeting of the Board of Directors or of any committee of the Board of Directors may 
be taken without a meeting if all members of the Board or committee, as the case may be, 
consent to the action in writing or by electronic transm ission, and the wri tings or 
e lectronic transmiss ions arc fil ed w ith the minutes o f proceedi ngs of the Board or 
committee. Such fi ling shall be in paper form if the minutes arc maintained in paper form 
and sha ll be in e lectronic form if the minutes arc maintained in e lectronic form. 

2.13 Committees. The Board of Directors may designate one or more 
committees, each committee to consist of one or more of the directors of the corporation, 
with such lawfully delegated powers and duties as it therefor confers, to serve at the 
pleasure of the Board. The Board may designate one or more directors as a lternate 
members of any committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified member at any 
meeting of the committee. In the absence or d isquali fication of a member o f a committee, 
Lhc member or members of the committee present at any meeting and not disqualified 
from voting, whether or not he or they constitute a quorum, may unan imously appoint 
another member of the Board of Directors to act at the meeting in the place of any such 
absent or disqua lified member. Any such committee, to the extent prov ided in the 
resolution of the Board of Directors and subject to the provis ions of the Delaware General 
Corporation Law, shall have and may exerc ise a ll the powers and authority of the Board of 
Directors in the management of the business and affairs of the corporation and may 
authorize the seal of the corporation to be a ffi xed to a ll pape rs which may require it. Each 
such committee sha ll keep minutes and make such reports as the Board of Directors may 
from time to time request. Except as the Board of Directors may otherwise determine, any 
committee may make rules for the conduct of its business, but unless otherwise provided 
by such rules, its business shall be conducted as nearly as possible in the same manner as 
is provided in these Bylaws for the Board o f Directors. 
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2. 14 Compensation of Directors. Directors may be paid such compensation for 
the ir services and such reimbursement for expenses o f attendance at meetings as the Board 
of Directors may from time to time determine. No such payment sha ll prec lude any 
director from serving the corporation or any o f its parent or subsid iary corporations in any 
other capacity and receiving compensation for such service. 

2. 15 Nomination of Director Candidates . Subject to the rights o f ho lders of any 
class or series of Preferred Stock then outstanding, nominations for the election o f 
Directors may be made by (i) the Board of Directors o r a duly authorized committee 
thereof or (ii) any stockholder entitled to vote in the election of Directors. 

ARTICLE III 
OFFICERS 

3. 1 Enumeration. The o ffi cers of the corporation shall consist of a Chief 
Executive Officer, a President, a Secretary, a Treasurer, a Chief Financia l Officer and such 
other officers w ith such other titles as the Board o f Directors shall determine, includ ing, at 
the di scretion of the Board of Directors, a Chairman of the Board and one or more Vice 
Presidents and Assistant Secretaries. The Board of Directors may appo int such other 
officers as it may deem appropriate . 

3.2 Electi on. Officers shall be elected annually by the Board of Directors at its 
first meeting fo llowing the annual meeting of stockholders. Officers may be appointed by 
the Board of Directors at any other meeting. 

3.3 Qualification. No officer need be a stockholder. Any two or more offices 
may be held by the same person. 

3.4 Tenure. Except as otherwise provided by law, by the Certificate of 
Incorporation or by these By laws, each o fficer shall ho ld office until his successor is 
e lected and qual ified , unless a different term is specified in the vote appointing him, or 
until his earlier death, resignation or removal. 

3.5 Resignation and Removal. Any officer may res ign by delivering his 
written resignation to the corporation at its principal o ffice or to the President or Secretary. 
Such resignation shall be effective upon receipt unless it is specified to be effective at 
some other time or upon the happening o f some other event. Any o fficer elected by the 
Board of Directors may be removed at any time, with or without cause, by the Board o f 
Directors. 

3.6 Chairman of the Board . The Board of Directors may appoint a Chairman 
of the Board. If the Board of Directors appo ints a Chairman of the Board, he sha ll 
perform such duties and possess such powers as arc assigned to him by the Board of 
Directors. Unless otherwise provided by the Board of Directors, he shall preside at all 
meetings of the Board of Directors . 

3.7 Chief Executive Officer. The Chief Executive Officer of the corporation 
shall, subject to the d irection of the Board of Directors, have general supervision, direction 
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and control of the business and the officers of the corporation. I-le shall preside at all 
meetings of the stockholders and, in the absence or nonexistence of a Chairman of the 
Board, at all meetings of the Board of Directors. He shall have the general powers and 
duties of management usually vested in the chief executive officer of a corporation, 
including general supervision, direction and control of the business and supervision of 
other officers of the corporation, and shall have such other powers and duties as may be 
prescribed by the Board of Directors o r these Bylaws. 

3.8 President. Subject to the direction of the Board of Directors and such 
supervisory powers as may be given by these Bylaws or the Board of Directors to the 
Chairman of the Board or the Chief Executive Officer, if such titles be held by other 
officers, the President shall have general supervis ion, direction and control of the business 
and superv is ion of other officers of the corporation. Unless otherw ise designated by the 
Board of Directors, the President shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the corporation. 
The President shall have such other powers and duties as may be prescribed by the Board 
of Directors or these Bylaws. He or she shall have power to s ign stock certificates, 
contracts and other instruments of the corporation which are authorized and shall have 
general superv ision and direction of a ll o f the other officers, employees and agents of the 
corporation, other than the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive O ffi cer. 

3.9 Vice Presidents. Any Vice President shall perform such duties and possess 
such powers as the Board o f Directors or the President may from time to time prescribe. 
In the event of the absence, inability or refusal to act of the President, the Vice President 
(or if there sha ll be more than one, the Vice Presidents in the order determined by the 
Board of Directors) shall perform the duties of the President and when so performing shall 
have at the powers of and be subject to a ll the restrictions upon the President. The Board 
of Directors may assign to any Vice President the title of Executive Vice President, Seni or 
Vice President or any other title selected by the Board of Directors. 

3.10 Secretary and Assistant Secretaries. The Secretary shall perform such 
duties and shall have such powers as the Board of Directors or the President may from 
time to time prescribe. In addition, the Secretary shall perform such duties and have such 
powers as arc incident to the office o f the Secretary, including, without limitat ion, the d uty 
and power to give notices of a ll meetings of stockholders and special meetings of the 
Board of Directors, to keep a record of the proceedings of all meetings of stockholders and 
the Board of Directors, to maintain a stock ledger and prepare lists of stockholders and 
the ir addresses as required, to be custodian of corporate records and the corporate seal and 
to affix and attest to the same on documents. 

Any Assistant Secretary shall perform such duties and possess such powers as the 
Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, the President or the Secretary may from 
time to time prescribe. In the event of the abse nce, inabil ity or refusal to act of the 
Secretary, the Assistant Secretary (or if there shall be more than one, the Assistant 
Secretaries in the order determined by the Board of Directors) shall perform the duties and 
exercise the powers of the Secretary. 
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In the absence o f the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary at any meeting of 
stockholders or directors, the person presiding at the meeting shall designate a temporary 
secretary to keep a record of the meeting. 

3.11 Treasurer. The Treasurer shall perform such duties and have such powers 
as arc incident to the office of treasure r, including w ithout limitation, the duty and power 
to keep and be responsible for all funds and securities of the corporation, to maintain the 
financial records of the corporation, to deposit funds of the corporation in depositories as 
authorized, to disburse such funds as authorized, to make proper accounts of such funds, 
and to render as required by the Board of Directors accounts of al l such transactions and 
of the financial condition o f the corporation. 

3. 12 Chief Financial Officer. The Chief Financial Officer shall perform such 
duties and shall have such powers as may from time to time be ass igned to him by the 
Board of Directors, the Chief ~xecutivc Officer or the President. Un less otherwise 
designated by the Board of Directors, the Chief Financial Officer shall be the Treasurer of 
the corporation. 

3.13 Salaries. Officers of the corporation shall be entitled to such salaries, 
compensation or reimbursement as shall be fixed or allowed from time to time by the 
Board of Directors. 

3 .14 Delegation or Authority. The Board of Directors may from time to time 
delegate the powers or duties of any officer to any other officers or agents, 
notwithstanding any provis ion hereof. 

ARTICLE IV 
CAPITAL STOCK 

4.1 Issuance of Stock. Subject to the provisions of the Certificate of 
Incorporation, the w ho le or any part of any uni ssucd balance of the authorized capital 
stock of the corporation or the w hole or any pa1i of any unissued balance of the authorized 
capital stock of the corporation held in its treasury may be issued, so ld, transferred or 
otherwise disposed of by vote of the Board of Directors in such manner, for such 
consideration and on such terms as the Board of Directors may determine. 

4.2 Certificates of Stock. The shares of the corporation shall be represented by 
certificates, provided that the Board of Directors may prov ide by resolution o r resolutions 
that some or all of any class or series of its stock shall be unccrtificatcd shares; provided, 
however, that no such resolution sha ll apply to shares represented by a certificate unti l 
such certificate is surrendered to the corporation. Every holder of stock of the corporation 
represented by certificates shall be entitled to have a certificate, in such form as may be 
prescribed by law and by the Board of Directors, certifying the number and c lass of shares 
owned by him in the corporation. Each such certificate shall be s igned by, or in the name 
o r the corporation by, the Chairman or Vice Chairman, if any, of the Board of Directors, 
or the President or a Vice President, and the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer, or the 
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Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the corporation. Any or all of the s ignatures on the 
certificate may be a facsi mile. 

Each certificate for shares of stock which arc subject to any restriction on transfer 
pursuant to the Ce1iificate of Incorporation, the Bylaws, appl icable securities laws or any 
agreement among any number of shareholders or among such ho lders and the corporation 
sha ll have conspicuously noted on the face or back of the cc1iificate either the full text of 
the restriction or a statement of the existence of such restriction. 

4.3 Transfers. Except as otherwise establ ished by rules and regulations 
adopted by the Board of Directors, and subject to applicable law, shares of stock may be 
transferred on the books of the co rporation: (i) in the case of shares represented by a 
certi ficate, by the surrender to the corporation or its transfer agent of the ce11ificatc 
representing such shares properly endorsed or accompanied by a w ritten assignment or 
power of attorney properly executed, and with such proof of authority or authenticity o f 
signature as the corporation or its transfer agent may reasonably require; and (i i) in the 
case of uncertificated shares, upon the receipt of proper t ransfer instructions from the 
registered owner thereo f. Except as may be otherwise required by law, the Ce11ificatc o f 
Incorporation or the Bylaws, the corporation shal I be entitled to treat the record ho lder of 
stock as shown on its books as the owner of such stock for all purposes, including the 
payment of dividends and the right to vote w ith respect to such stock, regardless o f any 
transfer, p ledge or other disposition o f such stock unti I the shares have been transferred on 
the books of the corporation in accordance with the requi rements of these Bylaws. 

4.4 Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Cctiificates. The corporation may issue a new 
certificate of stock in place o f any previously issued certificate a lleged to have been lost, 
sto len, or destroyed, or it may issue unce1ii ficatcd shares if the shares represented by such 
certificate have been designated as unecrtificatcd shares in accordance with Section 4.2, 
upon such terms and conditio ns as the Board of Directors may prescribe, including the 
presentation of reasonable evidence of such loss, theft or destruction and the g iving o f 
such indemnity as the Board o f Directors may require fo r the protection o f the corporation 
or any trans fer agent or registrar. 

4.5 Record Date. The Board of Directors may fi x in advance a record date for 
the determination of the stockho lders entitled to notice of o r to vote at any meeting of 
stockholders or to express consent to corporate action in w riting w ithout a meeting, or 
entitled to receive payment o f' any div idend or other distribution or a llotment of any rights 
in respect o f any change, concession or exchange of stock, or for the purpose of any other 
lawfu l action. Such record date shal I not precede the date on which the reso lution fixing 
the record date is adopted and sha ll not be more than 60 nor less than IO days before the 
date of such meeting, nor more than 60 days prior to any other action to which such record 
date re lates. 

If no record date is fixed by the Board of Directors, the record date f'or determining 
stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall be at the 
close of business on the day before the day on which notice is given, or, if notice is 
waived, at the close o f business on the day before the day on which the meeting is held. If 
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no record date is fixed by the Board of Directors, the record date for determining 
stockholders entitled to express consent to corporate action in writing without a meeting 
when no prior action by the Board o f Directors is necessary shall be the day on which the 
first written consent is expressed. The record date for determining stockho lders for any 
other purpose shall be at the close o f business on the day on which the Board of Directors 
adopts the reso lution relating to such purpose. 

/\ determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a 
meeting of stockho lders shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting; provided, 
however, that the Board of Directors may fix a new record date for the adjourned meeting. 

4.6 Restrictions on Transfer; Right of First Refusal. 

(a) No stockholder sha ll sell , assign, pledge, or in any manner transfer 
any of the shares of stock of the corporation or any right or interest therein, whether 
voluntarily or by operation of law, or by gift or otherwise, except by a transfer which 
meets the requirements he reinafter set forth in this Section 4.6(a): 

(I) If the stockholder des ires to sell or otherwise trans fer any of 
his shares of stock, then the stockho lder shall first give written notice thereof to the 
corporation. T he notice shall name the proposed transferee and state the number of shares 
to be transferred , the proposed consideration, and a ll o ther terms and conditions of the 
proposed transfer. 

(2) For 30 days following receipt of such notice, the corporation 
shall have the option to purchase al l or a po1tion of the shares specified in the notice at the 
price and upon the terms set forth in such notice. In the event of a g ift, property 
settlement or other transfer in which the proposed transferee is not paying the full price fo r 
the shares, and that is not otherwise exempted from the prov is ions of this Section 4.6(a), 
the price shal l be deemed to be the fa ir market value of the stock at such time as 
determined in good faith by the Board of Di rectors. In the event the corporation elects to 
purchase a ll of the shares or a lesser portion of the shares, it sha ll give written notice to the 
transferring stockho lder of its election and settlement for said shares shall be made as 
provided below Section 4.6(a)(4) . 

(3) The corporation may assign its rights hereunder. 

(4) In the event the corporation and/or its assignee(s) elect to 
acquire any of the shares o f the trans ferring stockholder as specified in said transferring 
stockho lder' s notice, the Secretary o f the corporation shall so notify the transferring 
stockholder and settlement thereo f shall be made in cash w ithin thirty (30) days after the 
Secretary of the corporation receives said transferring stockho lder's notice; provided, that 
if the terms of payment set forth in said trans[ erring stockho lder's notice were other than 
cash against de livery, the corporation and/or its ass ignce(s) shall pay fo r said shares on the 
same terms and conditions set forth in said transferring stockholder's notice. 
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(5) In the event the corporation and/or its assignces(s) do not 
elect to acquire a ll of the shares specified in the transferring stockho lder' s notice, said 
transferring stockholder may, w ithin the sixty-day period fo llowing the expiration of the 
option rights granted to the corporation and/or its assignecs(s) herein, transfer the shares 
specified in said transferring stockho lder's notice which were not acquired by the 
corporation and/or its assignees(s) as specified in said transferring stockholder's notice. 
All shares so sold by said transferring stockholder shall continue to be subject to the 
provisions of this Section 4.6(a) in the same manner as before said transfer. 

(6) If a stockholder is subject to an agreement to which the 
corporation is patiy wh ich subjects the stockholder to a right of first refusal with respect to 
a transfer of shares of common stock, the right o f first refusal prov is ions in suc h 
agreement shall govern instead of this Section 4.6(a). 

(b) In addition to the restr iction set forth in Section 4.6(a) above, no 
stockholder shall sell, assign, pledge, or in any manner transfer any of the shares of stock 
of the corporation or any right or interest therein, whether voluntarily or by operation of 
law, or by gift or otherw ise w ithout the prior consent of the corporation, upon du ly 
authorized action of its Board of Directors. Without in any way limiting the bas is on 
which the corporat ion may elect not to consent to a sale, assignment, pledge or transfer, 
the corporation docs not at any time intend to consent to any requested sale, assignment, 
pledge or transfer (i) to indi viduals, companies or any other form or entity identified by 
the corporation as a potential competitor or considered by the corporation to be unfriend ly, 
or (i i) if such sale, assignment, pledge or transfer increases the risk of the corporation 
being required to register a class of securities pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Ruic 12g5-1 promulgated thereunder, or 
otherwise requiring the corporation to register any class of securities under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; or (iii) if such sale, assignment, pledge or transfer 
would result in the loss of any federal or state securities law exemption relied upon by the 
corporation in connection with the initial issuance of such shares or the issuance of any 
other securities; or (iv) if such sale, assignment, pledge or transfer is faci litated in any 
manner by any public posting, message board, trading portal, internet site, or simi lar 
method of communication, including without limitation any trad ing portal or internet s ite 
intended to faci litate secondary transfers of securities; or (v) if such sale, assignment, 
pledge or transfer is to be effected in a brokered transaction; or (vi) if such sale, 
assignment, pledge or transfer represents a sale, assignment, pledge or transfer of less than 
al l of the shares then held by the stockholder and its affil iates or is to be made to more 
than a s ingle transferee. All shares sold , assigned, pledged or transferred with the 
corporation's consent pursuant to this Section 4.6(b) shall continue to be subject to the 
provisions of this Section 4.6(b) in the same manner as before said sale, assignment, 
pledge or transfer. 

(c) Anything to the contrary contained here in notwithstand ing, the 
following transactions shall be exempt from the provisions of this Section 4.6: 

( I ) A stockho lder's transfer of any or al l shares held either 
during such stockholder's lifetime or on death by wi ll or intestacy to such stockholder's 
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immediate fami ly or to any custodian or trustee for the account of such stockholder or 
such stockholder's immediate fam ily or to any limited pa11ncrship of which the 
stockholder, members of such stockholder's immediate family or any trust for the account 
of such stockholder or such stockholder's immediate fami ly will be the general of limited 
partncr(s) of such partnership. ''Immediate fam ily" as used in this Section 4.6 shall mean 
spouse, lineal descendant, father, mother, brother, or sister of the stockholder making such 
transfer. 

(2) A stockholder's transfer of any or all of such stockholder's 
shares to the corporation pursuant to a stock restriction agreement or other agreement 
between the corporation and the stockholder. 

(3) A stockholder's transfer of any or a ll such stockholder' s 
shares to the public pursuant to a reg istration statement filed with, and declared effective 
by, the Securities Exchange Commission under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 

(4) A corporate stockholder' s transfer of any or all of its shares 
pursuant to and in accordance with the terms of any merger, consolidation, reclassification 
of shares or capital reorganization of the corporate stockholder, or pursuant to a sale of a ll 
or substantial ly all of the stock or assets of a corporate stockholder. 

(5) A corporate stockholder's transfer of any or al l of its shares 
to any or a l I of its stockho lders. 

(6) A transfer by a stockholder that is a limited or general 
partnership to any or a ll of its partners or former partners. 

(7) A transfer by a stockholder that 1s a limited liabil ity 
company to any or all of its members or fo rmer members. 

In any such case, the transferee, assignee, or other recipient shall receive and hold such 
stock subject to the provisions of this Section 4.6, and there shall be no further transfer of 
such stock except in accord with th is Section 4.6. 

(d) The provisions of this Section 4.6 may be waived w ith respect to 
any transfer either by the corporation, upon duly authorized action of the Board of 
Directors, or by the stockho lders, upon the express written consent of the owners of a 
majority of the voting power of the corporation (exc luding the votes represented by those 
shares to be transferred by the transferring stockho lder). This Section 4.6 may be amended 
or repealed e ither by a duly authorized action of the Board o f Directors, or by the 
stockholders upon the express written consent of the owners of a majority of the voting 
power of the corporation. 

(e) Any sale or transfer, or purported sale or transfer, of securities of 
the corporation shall be null and void unless the terms, conditions, and provisions o f thi s 
Section 4.6 arc strictly observed and fo llowed. 
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(f) The foregoing right of first refusal and restriction on transfer shall 
terminate upon the date securities of the corporation arc first offered to the public pursuant 
to a registration statement filed with, and declared effective by, the United States 
Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities /\ct of 1933, as amended. 

(g) The certificates representing shares of stock of the corporation shall 
bear on their face the following legends so long as the foregoing right of first refusal and 
restriction on transfer remains in effect: 

"THE SI-1/\RES REPRESENTED BY TI 11S 
CERTrFICATE ARE SUBJECT TO A RIG! IT or FIRST 
REFUSAL OPTION IN FAVOR OF TIIE COMPANY 
AND/OR ITS ASSIGNEE(S), AS PROVIDED IN THE 
/\MENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS OF THE 
COMPANY, AS MAY BE /\MENDED FROM TIME TO 
TIME_,-

"TIIE SIIARCS REPRESENTED BY TI-11S 
CERTIFICATE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED 
WIT! !OUT Tl-IE CONSENT OF THE COMPANY, AS 
PROVIDED IN TIIE AMENDED AND RESTATED 
BYLAWS OF TIIE COMPANY, J\S MAY BE /\MENDED 
FROM TIME TO TIME. '" 

ARTICLE V 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

5.1 Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the corporation shall be as fixed by the 
Board of Directors. 

5 .2 Corporate Seal. The corporate seal shall be 111 such form as shall be 
approved by the Board of Directors. 

5.3 Waiver of Notice. Whenever any notice whatsoever is requ ired to be given 
by law, by the Certificate of Incorporation or by these Bylaws, a waiver of such notice 
either in writing signed by the person entitled to such notice or such person's duly 
authorized attorney, or by electronic transmission or any other method permitted under the 
Delaware General Corporation Law, whether before, at or after the time stated in such 
waiver, or the appearance of such person or persons at such meeting in person or by 
proxy, shall be deemed equivalent to such notice. Neither the business nor the purpose of 
any meeting need be specified in such a waiver. Attendance at any meeting shall 
constitute waiver of notice except attendance for the sole purpose of objecting to the 
timeliness of notice. 

5.4 Actions w ith Respect to Securities of Other Corporations. Except as the 
Board of Directors may otherwise des ignate, the Chief Executive Officer or President or 
any officer o f the corporation authorized by the Chie f Executive Officer or President shall 
have the power to vote and otherwise act on behalf of the corporation, in person or proxy, 
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and may waive notice of, and act as, or appoint any person or persons to act as, proxy or 
attorney-in-fact to this corporation (with or without power of substitution) at any meeting 
of stockholders or shareholders (or with respect to any action of stockholders) of any other 
corporation or organization, the securities of which may be held by this corporation and 
otherwise to exercise any and all rights and powers which this corporation may possess by 
reason of this corporation' s ownership of securities in such other corporation or other 
organization. 

5.5 Evidence of Authority. A certificate by the Secretary, or an Assistant 
Secretary, or a temporary Secretary, as to any action taken by the stockholders, directors, a 
committee or any officer or representative of the corporation shall as to a ll persons who 
rely on the certificate in good faith be conclusive evidence of such action. 

5.6 Certificate of Incorporation. All references in these Bylaws to the 
Cc1iificatc o f Incorporation shall be deemed to refer to the Certificate of Incorporation of 
the corporation, as amended and in effect from time to time. 

5.7 Severab il ity. Any determination that any provision of these Bylaws is for 
any reason inapplicable, illegal or ineffective shall not affect or invalidate any other 
provision of these Bylaws. 

5.8 Pronouns. All pronouns used in these Bylaws shall be deemed to refer to 
the masculine, feminine or neuter, s ingular or plural, as the identity of the person or 
persons may require. 

5.9 Notices. Except as otherwise specifical ly provided here in or required by 
law, all notices required to be given to any stockholder, directo r, officer, employee or 
agent shall be in writing and may in every instance be effectively given by hand delivery 
to the rec ipient thereof, by depositing such notice in the mails, postage paid, or by sending 
such notice by commercial courier serv ice, or by facsimile or other electronic 
transmission, provided that notice to stockholders by electron ic transmission shall be 
given in the manner provided in Section 232 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. 
J\ny such notice sha ll be addressed to such stockho lder, director, officer, employee or 
agent at his or her last known address as the same appears on the books of the corporation. 
The time when such notice shall be deemed to be given shall be the time such notice is 
received by such stockholder, director, officer, employee or agent, or by any person 
accepting such notice on behalf of such person, if delivered by hand, facsim ile, other 
e lectronic transmission or commercial courier service, or the t ime such notice is 
dispatched, if delivered through the mails. Without limiting the manner by which notice 
otherwise may be given effectively and subject to Section 232 o f the Delaware General 
Corporati on Law, notice to any stockho lder shall be deemed g iven: ( 1) if by facsimile, 
when directed to a number at which the stockholder has consented to receive notice; (2) if 
by electron ic mail (emai l) to the stockholder' s e lectronic mail address unless the 
stockholder has notified the corporation in wri ting or by e lectronic transmission of an 
objection to receiving notice by electronic mail or such notice is prohibited by Section 
232(e) of the Delaware General Corporation Law; (2) if by a posting on an electronic 
network together w ith separate notice to the stockholder of such specific posting, upon the 
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later of (A) such posting and (B) the giv ing of such separate notice; (4) if by any other 
form of electronic transmission, when directed to the stockholder; and (5) if by mail, when 
deposited in the mail, postage prepaid, directed to the stockholder at such stockholder's 
address as it appears on the records of the corporation. J\ notice by electronic mail to 
stockholders must include a prominent legend that the communication is an important 
notice of the corporation (which electronic mail shall be deemed to include any files 
attached thereto and any information hypcrlinked to a website if such electronic mail 
includes the contact information of an officer or agent of the corporation who is available 
to assist with accessing such files and information). 

5.10 Reliance Upon Books, Reports and Records. Each director, each member 
of any committee designated by the Board of Directors, and each officer of the corporation 
shall, in the performance of his duties, be fully protected in relying in good faith upon the 
books of account or other records of the corporation as provided by law, including reports 
made to the corporation by any of its officers, by an independent certified publ ic 
accountant, or by an appraiser selected with reasonable care. 

5.11 Time Periods. In app ly ing any provision of these Bylaws which require 
that an act be done or not done a specified number of days prior to an event or that an act 
be done during a period of a specified number of days prior to an event, calendar days 
shall be used, the day of the doing of the act shall be excluded, and the day of the event 
shall be included. 

5.12 Facsimile Signatures. In addition to the prov1s10ns for use of facsimile 
signatures elsewhere specifically authorized in these Bylaws, facsimile signatures of any 
officer or officers of the corporation may be used whenever and as authorized by the 
Board of Directors or a committee thereof. 

5.13 Annual Report. For so long as the corporation has fewer than I 00 holders 
of record of its shares, the mandatory requ irement of an annual report under Section 150 I 
of the California Corporations Code, to the extent that it might otherwise apply, is hereby 
expressly waived. 

ARTICLE VI 
AMENDMENTS 

6. I Bv the Board of Directors. Except as otherwise set forth in these Bylaws, 
and subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock then outstanding, 
these Bylaws may be altered, amended or repealed or new Bylaws may be adopted by the 
affirmative vote of a majority of the directors present at any regular or special meeting of 
the Board of Directors at which a quorum is present. 

6.2 By the Stockholders. Except as otherwise set forth in these Bylaws, and 
subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock then outstanding, these 
Bylaws may be altered, amended or repealed or new Bylaws may be adopted by the 
affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of the voting power of all of the 
shares of capital stock of the corporation issued and outstanding and entitled to vote 
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general ly in any election of directors, voting together as a s ing le class. Such vote may be 
held at any annual meeting of stock.holders, or at any special meeting of stockholders 
provided that notice of such alteration, amendment, repeal or adoption of new Bylaws 
shal l have been stated in the notice of such specia l meeting. 

ARTICLE VII 
INDEMNIFICATION Ol? DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

7. 1 Right to Indemnification. Each person who was or is made a pa11y or is 
threatened to be made a party to or is involved in any action, su it or proceeding, whether 
civi l, criminal, administrative or investigative ("proceeding"), by reason of the fact that he 
or she or a person of whom he or she is the legal representative, is or was a director or 
officer of the corporation or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a d irector 
or officer o f another corporation, or as a controlling person o f a patincrship, j oint venture, 
trust or other enterprise, including service with respect to employee benefit plans, whether 
the basis of such proceed ing is a lleged action in an official capacity as a director or 
officer, or in any other capacity while serving as a director o r offi cer, sha ll be indemnified 
and held harmless by the corporation to the f ullcst extent authorized by the Delaware 
General Corporation Law, as the same ex ists or may hereafter be amended (but, in the 
case of any such amendment, only to the extent that such amendment permits the 
corporation to prov ide broader indemnification rights than said Law permitted the 
corporation to provide prior to such amendment) against all expenses, liability and loss 
reasonably incurred or su ffered by such person in connection therewith and such 
indemnification shall continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director or officer and 
shall inure to the benefit of his or her heirs, executors and administrators; provided, 
however, that except as prov ided in Section 7.2 of this Artic le VII, the corporation shall 
indemnify any such person seeking indemnity in connection w ith a proceed ing (or part 
thereof) initiated by such person only if (a) such indemnification is expressly required to 
be made by law, (b) the proceeding (or part thereof) was authorized by the Board o f 
Directors o f the corporation, (c) such indemnification is provided by the corporation, in its 
sole discretion, pursuant to the powers vested in the corporation under the Delaware 
General Corporation Law, or (d) the proceeding (or part thereof) is brought to establish or 
enforce a right to indemnification or advancement under an indemnity agreement or any 
other statute or law or otherwise as required under Section 145 of the Delaware General 
Corporation Law. The rights hereunder sha ll be contract rights and shall inc lude the right 
to be pa id expenses incurred in defending any such proceeding in advance of its final 
disposition ; provided. however, that the payment o f such expenses incurred by a director 
or o fficer of the corporation in his or her capacity as a director or officer (and not in any 
other capacity in which service was or is tendered by such person while a director or 
officer, including, w ithout limitation, service to an employee benefit p lan) in advance o f 
the final d isposition of such proceeding, shall be made only upon de livery to the 
corporation of an undertaking, by or on behalf of such director or o ffi cer, to repay a ll 
amounts so advanced if it should be determined ultimately by final judicial decision from 
which there is no fu rther right to appeal that such director or officer is not entitled to be 
indemnified under this Section or otherwise. 
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7.2 Right of Claimant to Bring Suit. If a claim under Section 7.1 is not paid in 
full by the corporation within 60 days after a written claim has been received by the 
corporation, or 20 days in the case of a claim for advancement of expenses, the claimant 
may at any time thereafter bring suit against the corporation to recover the unpaid amount 
of the claim and, if such suit is not frivolous or brought in bad faith, the claimant shall be 
entitled to be paid also the expense of prosecuting such claim. It shall be a defense to any 
such action (other than an action brought to enforce a c lai m for expenses incurred in 
defending any proceeding in advance o f its final dispositio n where the required 
undertaking, if any, has been tendered to this corporation) that the claimant has not met 
the standards of conduct which make it permissible under the Delaware General 
Corporation Law for the corporation to indemnify the claimant for the amount claimed. 
Neither the failure of the corporation (including its Board of Directo rs, independent legal 
counsel, or its stockholders) to have made a determination prior to the commencement of 
such action that indemnification of the claimant is proper in the c ircumstances because he 
or she has met the applicable standard of conduct set fo rth in the Delaware General 
Corporation Law, nor an actual determination by the corporation (including its Board of 
Directors, independent legal counsel or its stockholders) that the claimant has not met 
such applicable standard of conduct, sha ll be a defense to the action or create a 
presumption that cla imant has not met the applicable standard of conduct. In any suit 
brought by the corporation to recover an advancement of expenses pursuant to the terms 
of an undertaking, the corporation shall be entitled to recover such expenses upon a final 
j udicial decision from which there is no f urthcr right to appeal that the indemnitce has not 
met any applicable standard for indemnification set forth in the Delaware General 
Corporation Law. In any suit brought by the indcmnitce to enforce a right to 
indemnification or to an advancement of expenses hereunder, or brought by the 
corporation to recover an advancement of expenses pursuant to the terms of an 
undertaking, the burden of proving that the indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified , or 
to such advancement of expenses, shall be on the corporation. 

7.3 Indemnification of Employees and Agents. The corporation may, to the 
extent authori7-cd from time to time by the Board of Directors, grant rights to 
indemnification , and to the advancement o f related expenses, to any employee or agent of 
the corporation to the fullest extent of the provisions of this Article with respect to the 
indemnification of and advancement of expenses to directors and officers of the 
corporation. 

7.4 Non-Exclusivity of Rights. The rights conferred on any person in this 
Article VTI shall not be exclusive of any other right which such persons may have or 
hereafter acquire under any statute, provision of the Ccrti ficate of Inco rporation, bylaw, 
agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise . 

7.5 Indemnification Contracts. The Board of Directors is authorized to enter 
into a contract with any director, o fficer, employee or agent o f the corporation, or any 
person serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent o f 
another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, including 
employee benefit plans, providing for indemnification rights equivalent to or, if the Board 
of Directors so determines, greater than, those provided for in this Article VII. 
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7.6 Insurance. The corporation may maintain insurance to the extent 
reasonably available, at its expense, to protect itself and any such director, officer, 
employee or agent of the corporation or another corporation, partnership, joint venture, 
trust or other enterprise against any such expense, liability or loss, whether or not the 
corporation would have the power to indemnify such person against such expense, li abi lity 
or loss under the Delaware General Corporation Law. 

7.7 Effect of Amendment. Any amendment, repeal or modification of any 
provision of this Artic le VII shall not adversely affect any right or protection of an 
indemnitec or his successor ex isting at the time of such amendment, repeal or 
modification. 
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CERTIFICATE or SECRETAR y 

OF 

IIEROlC ENTERPRISES, PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION 

(a Delaware corporation) 

I, Brian Johnson, the Secretary of Ifcroic Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation, 
a Delaware public benefit corporation (the "Corporation"), hereby certify that the 
Amended and Restated Bylaws to which this Certificate is attached arc the bylaws of the 
Corporation. 
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SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT 

THIS INVESTMENT INVOLVES A HIGH DEGREE OF RISK. THIS INVESTMENT JS 

SUITABLE ONLY FOR PERSONS WHO CAN BEAR Tl!E ECONOMIC RISK FOR AN 

INDErINITE PERIOD or TIME AND WHO CAN AFFORD TO LOSE THElR ENTIRE 

INVESTMENT. FURTHERMORE, INVESTORS MUST UNDERSTAND THAT SUCJ J 

INVESTMENT IS ILLIQUID AND IS EXPECTED TO CONTINUE TO BE ILLIQUID FOR AN 
INDEFINITE PERIOD OF TIME. NO PUBLIC MARKET EXISTS FOR Tl IE SECURITIES, AND NO 

PUBLIC MARKET JS EXPECTED TO DEVELOP FOLLOWING TIIIS OFFERING. 

THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREBY HA VE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE 
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT"), OR ANY STATE 
SECURITIES OR BLUE SKY LAWS AND ARE BEING OFFERED AND SOLD IN RELIANCE 
ON EXEMPTIONS FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THI<~ SECURITIES 
ACT AND STATE SECURITIES OR BLUE SKY LAWS. ALTHOUGH AN OFFERING 

STATEMENT I !AS BEEN FILED WITI I TI IE SECURITIES AND EXCI !ANGE COMMISSION (THE 

"SEC"), THAT OFFERING STATEMENT DOES NOT INCLUDE THE SAME IN FORM/\ TION 

TlIJ\T WOULD 13E INCLUDED IN J\ REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER T HE SECURITIES 

ACT AND IT IS NOT REVIEWED IN ANY W J\ Y BY Tl IE SEC. Tl IE SECURITIES 11/\ VE NOT 

BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE SEC, ANY STATE SECURITfES COMMISSION 
OR OTHER REGULATORY AUTI IORITY, NOR HA VE ANY OF TIIE fOREGOING 

AUTHORITIES PASSED UPON THE MERITS OF THIS OFFERING OR THE ADEQUACY OR 

J\CCUR.J\CY OF TIIE SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER MATERIALS OR 

INFORMATION MADE AVAILABLE TO SUBSCRIBER IN CONNECTION WIT! I TI IIS 

OFFERING OVER TIIE WEB-BASED PLATFORM MAINTAINED BY WEFUNDER PORTAL LLC 

(THE "INTERMEDIARY"). ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS UNLJ\ WFUL. 

INVESTORS ARE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS ON THE AMOUNT THEY MAY INVEST, AS 
SET OUT IN SECTION 4(d). TIIE COMPANY IS RELYING ON Tl m REPRESENTATIONS /\ND 

WARRANTIES SET FORTH l3Y EACH SUl3SCRII3ER IN TIIIS SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT 
AND TI lE OT! lER INFORMATION PROVIDED BY SUBSCR113ER IN CONNECTION WIT! I TI 11S 

OFFERING TO DETERMINE TIIE APPLICABILITY TO THIS OFFERING OF EXEMPTIONS 

FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF TIIE SECURITIES ACT. 

PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS MAY NOT TREAT THE CONTENTS OF THE SUBSCRIPTION 
AGREEMENT, THE OFFERING STATEMENT OR ANY OF THE OTHER MATERIALS 
AVAILABLE ON THE INTERMEDIARY'S WEBSITE (COLLECTIVELY, THE "OFFERING 
MATERIALS") OR ANY COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE COMPANY OR ANY OF ITS 
OFFICERS, EMPLOYEI~S OR AGENTS AS INVESTMENT, LEGAL ORT AX ADVICE. IN 

MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION, INVESTORS MUST RELY ON TIIEIR OWN 

EXAMINATION OF Tl IE COMPANY AND THE T ERMS OF THIS OFFERING, INCLUDING TI IE 
MERITS AND TI IE RISKS lNYOL VEl). EJ\Cl l PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR SI IOULD CONSULT 

Tl IE INVESTOR'S OWN COUNSEL, ACCOUNTANT AND OTI IER PROFESSIONAL ADVISOR 



AS TO INVESTMENT, LEGAL, TAX AND OTHER RELATED MATTERS CONCERNING TI-IE 
INVESTOR' S PROPOSED INVESTMENT. 

THE OFFERING MATERIALS MAY CONTAIN FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND 
INFORMATION RELATING TO, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE COMPANY, ITS BUSINESS 
PLAN AND STRATEGY, AND ITS INDUSTRY. TIIESE f-ORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

ARE BASED ON THE BELIEFS OF, ASSUMPTIONS MADE BY, AND INf-ORMA TION 

CURRENTLY AVAILABLE TO TI IE COMPANY'S MANAGEMENT. WllEN USED IN T IIE 

OFFERING MATERIALS, THE WORDS "ESTIMATE," "PROJECT." " BELIEVE," "ANTICIPATE," 

"INTEND," "EXPECT'' AND SIMILAR EXPRESSIONS ARE INTENDED TO IDENTIFY 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, WIIICII CONSTITUTE f-ORWARD LOOKING 

STATEMENTS. THESE STATEMENTS REFLECT MANAGEMENT'S CURRENT VIEWS WITH 

RESPECT TO FUTURE EVENTS AND ARE SUBJECT TO RISKS AND UNCERTAINTI ES T HAT 

COULD CAUSE THE COMPANY' S ACTUAL RESULTS TO DIFFER MATERIALLY FROM 

TIIOSE CONTAINED IN TIIE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. INVESTORS ARE 

CAUTIONED NOT TO PLACE UNDUE RELIANCE ON THESE FORWARD-LOOKING 

STATEMENTS, WHICH SPEAK ONLY AS OF Tl IE DATE ON WI IlCI I Tl IEY ARE MADE. THE 

COMPANY DOES NOT UNDERTAKE ANY OBLIGATION TO REVISE OR UPDATE THESE 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS TO REfLECT EVENTS OR CIRCUMSTANCES AFTER 

SUCH DATE OR TO RErLECT Tl!E OCCURRENCE or UNANTICIPATED EVENTS. 

THE INFORMATION PRESENTED IN THE OFFERING MATERIALS WAS PREPARED BY 
THE COMPANY SOLELY FOR THE USE BY PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS IN CONNECTION 
WITH THIS OFFERING. NO REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES ARE MADE AS TO THE 

ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF TI IE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN ANY OFFERING 

MATERIALS, AND NOTHING CONTAINED IN THE OFFERING MATERIALS IS OR SI IOULD BE 
RELIED UPON AS A PROMISE OR REPRESENTATION AS TO THE FUTURE PERFORMANCE 

OF Tl IE COMPANY. 

THE COMPANY RESERVES TIU~ RJGHT IN ITS SOLE DTSCRRTION AND FOR ANY 
REASON WHATSOEVER TO MODIFY, AMEND AND/OR WITHDRAW ALL OR A PORTION 
OF THE OFFERING AND/OR ACCEPT OR REJECT IN wnou: OR IN PART ANY 
PROSPECTIVE INVESTMENT IN THE SECURITIES OR TO ALLOT TO ANY 
PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR LESS THAN THE AMOUNT OF SECURITIES SUCH INVESTOR 
DESin.ES TO PURCHASK EXCEPT AS OTIIERWISE INDICATED, TIIE OFFERING 

MATERIALS SPEAK AS OF TIIEIR DATE. NEITHER THE DELIVERY NOR THE PURCHASE or 
THE SECURITIES SIIALL, UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES, CREATE ANY IMPLICATION 

THAT THERE llAS BEEN NO CllANGE IN THE AFFAIRS OF THE COM PANY SINCE TIIAT 

DATE. 
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TO: Heroic CF SPV, LLC 

c/o Heroic Enterprises, Pub I ic Benefi t Corporation. 

9901 Brodie Lane, Suite 160 #1388 
Austin, Texas 78748 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

I . Note Subscription. 

(a) The undersigned ("Subscriber") hereby subscribes for and agrees to purchase Security I ntercsts 

(the "Securities"), of Heroic CF SPY, LLC, a Delaware limited liabi lity company (the '·Company"), upon 

the terms and conditions set forth herein. The Company is serving as a "crowdfunding vehicle" as defined 

under Ruic 3a-9 of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as a mended, for securities to be acquired from 

Heroic Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation, a Delaware public benefit corporation (the "Crowdfunding 
Issuer"). The Securities being subscribed for under this Subscription Agreement constitute limited liabi lity 

company membership interests of the Company which relate to securities issued by the Crowdfunding 

Issuer on a one-to-one basis. The rights o f the Securities are as set forth in the Operating Agreement of the 

Company and any description of the Securities that appears in the Offering Materials is qualified in its 
entirety by such document. 

(b) By executing this Subscription Agreement, Subscriber acknowledges that Subscriber has received 

this Subscription Agreement, a copy of the Offering Statement of the Company and Crowdfunding Issuer 

fi led with the SEC and any other information required by the Subscriber to make an investment decision. 

It is a condition of the Company' s acceptance of this subscript ion that Subscriber becomes a party to the 
Operating Agreement. 

(c) Subscriber understands that the Crowdfunding Issuer, as Manager of the Company, w ill make all 

decis ions for the Company even through the Subscri ber's investment is not made with the Crowdfunding 
Issuer. 

( d) This Subscription may be accepted or rejected in whole or in part, at any time prior to a Closing 

Date (as hereinafter defined), by the Company at its sole discretion. In addition, the Company, at its sole 

discretion, may allocate to Subscriber only a po,tion of the number of Securit ies S ubscriber has subscribed 

for. The Company will notify Subscriber whether this subscription is accepted (whether in whole or in 
part) o r rejected. If Subscriber's subscription is rejected, Subscriber's payment (or portion thereof if 

partially rejected) will be returned to Subscriber without interest and all of Subscriber's obligations 
hereunder shall terminate. 

(e) The aggregate value of Securities sold sha ll not exceed $1 ,000,000.00 (the "Oversubscription 
Offering"). The Company may accept subscriptions until August 15th

, 2023 (the "Termination Date"). 



Providing that subscriptions for $300,000 wo11h of Securities arc received (the "Minimum Offering"), the 

Company may elect at any time to close all or any po1iion of this offering, on various dates at or prior to 
the Termination Date (each a "Closing Date"). 

(f) In the event of rejection of this subscription in its entirety, or in the event the sale of the Securities 

(or any portion thereof) is not consummated for any reason, this Subscription Agreement shall have no 
force or effect. 

2. 

3. 

(a) 

Joinder to Operating Agreement. By executing this Subscription Agreement, Subscriber wi ll 

become party to the Operating Agreement of the Company as a Member holding the Security 
Interests of the Company. 

Purchase Procedure. 

Payment. The purchase price for the Securities shall be paid simultaneously w ith the execution and 
delivery to the Company of the signature page of this Subscription Agreement, which signature and delivery 

may take place through digital on line means. Subscriber shall del iver a signed copy of this Subscription 

Agreement, along with payment for the aggregate purchase price of the Securities in accordance with the 
onlinc payment process established by the Intermediary. 

(b) Escrow arrangements. Payment for the Securities shall be received by the escrow agent appointed 

by the securities intermed iary in this o ffering (the "Escrow Agent") from the undersigned by transfer of 

immediately available funds or other means approved by the Company prior to the applicable Closing, in 

the amount as set forth on the signature page hereto and otherwise in accordance with Intermediary' s 
payment processing instructions. Upon such C losing, the Escrow Agent shall release such funds to the 

Crowdfunding Issuer. The undersigned shall receive notice and evidence of the dig ital entry of the number 
ofthe Securities owned by unders igned reflected on the books and records of the Company, which books 

and records shall bear a notation that the Securities were sold in reliance upon Regulation Cf. 

4. Representations and Warranties o f the Company and Crowdfunding Issuer. 

The Company and Crowdfunding Issuer each represent and warrant to Subscriber that the fol lowing 

representations and warranties arc true and complete in all material respects as of the date of each Closing 

Date, except as otherwise indicated. for purposes o f this Agreement, an individual shall be deemed to have 
"knowledge" of a particular fact or other matter if such individual is actually aware of such fact. The 

Company and Crowd funding Issuer wi II be deemed to have ''knowledge'' of a particular fact or other matter 
if one of the Company' s or Crowd funding Issuer' s current officers has, or at any time had, actual knowledge 

of such fact or other matter. 

(a) Organization and Standing. The Crowd funding Issuer is a public benefit corporation duly formed, 

validly existing and in good stand ing under the laws of the State of Delaware. The Company is a limited 

liability com pany, duly formed , validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of 
Delaware. The Company and Crowdfunding Issuer have all requisite power and authority to own and 
operate its properties and assets, to execute and deliver this Subscription Agreement, and any other 
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agreements or instruments required hereunder. The Crowd funding Issuer is duly qualified and is authorized 

to do business and is in good standing as a foreig n corporation in all j urisdictions in which the nature of its 

activit ies and of its prope11ies (both owned and leased) makes such qualification necessary, except for those 

jurisdictions in which failure to do so would not have a material adverse effect on the Company or its 
business. 

(b) Eligibility of the Company to Make an O ffering under Section 4(a)(6). The Company and the 

Crowd funding Issuer arc eligible to make an offering under Section 4(a)(6) of the Securities Act and the 
rules promulgated thereunder by the SEC. 

(c) Issuance of the Securities. The issuance, sale and delivery of the Securi ties in accordance with this 

Subscription Agreement and the underlying securities to be issued to the Company has been duly authorized 

by all necessary corporate action on the pa1t of the Company, and by the Crowdfunding Issuer. The 

Securities, when so issued, sold and delivered against payment therefor in accordance wi th the provisions 

of this Subscription Agreement, w ill be duly and validly issued and outstanding and wi ll constitute valid 
and legally binding obligations of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with their 

terms. Further, the underlying securit ies to be issued by the Crowdfunding Issuer to the Company wil l be 
duly and validly issued and outstanding and will constitute valid and legally bind ing obligations of the 

Crowd funding Issuer, enforceable against the Crowdfunding Issuer in accordance w ith the ir terms. 

(d) Authority for Agreement. T he execution and delivery by the Company and Crowdfunding Issuer 

of this Subscription Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby (including 

the issuance, sale a nd de livery of the Securities) arc within the Company's and Crowd funding Issuer's 

powers and have been duly authorized by all necessary actions on the part of the Company, and necessary 
actions of the Crowdfunding Issuer. Upon full execution hereof, th is Subscription Agreement shall 

constitute a valid and binding agreement of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance 
with its terms, except (i) as li mited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, and 

other laws of general application affecting enforcement of creditors' rights generally, (ii) as Jim ited by laws 
relating to the availability or specific performance, inj unctive relief, or other equitable remedies and (iii) 

with respect to provisions relating to indemnification and contribution, as limited by considerations of 

pub! ic pol icy and by federal or state securities laws. 

(c) No filings. Assuming the accuracy of the Subscriber' s representations a nd warranties set forth in 

Section 4 hereof, no order, license, consent, authorization or approval of, or exemption by, or action by or 
in respect of, or notice to, or filing or registration with, any governmenta l body, agency or official is 
required by or with respect to the Company in connection with the execution, delivery and performance by 

the Company and Crowdfunding Issuer of th is Subscription Agreement except ( i) for such filings as may 

be required under Section 4(a)(6) of the Securities Act or the rules promulgated thereunder or under any 

applicable state securities laws, (i i) for such other filings and approvals as have been made or obtained, or 
( iii) where the failure to obtain any such order, lice nse, consent, authorization, approval or exemption or 

give any such notice or make any fili ng or registration would not have a material adverse effect on the 

abi lity of the Company to perform its obligations hereunder. 

(f) financial statem ents. Complete copies of the Company's and Crowdfunding Issuer's fi nancial 

statements consisting of (i) for the Crowdfunding Issuer, the statement o f financial position of the 
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Crowdfunding Issuer as at December 3 1, 2021 and the related consolidated statements of income and cash 

nows for the two-year period then ended or since inception, and (ii) for the Company, the statement of 

financial position of the Company at April 2 1, 2022 and the related consolidated statements of income and 

cash flows for the period then ended (the "Financial Statements") have been made available to the 

Subscriber and appear in the Offering Statement and on the site of the Intermed iary. The Financial 

Statements arc based on the books and records of the Company and Crowd funding Issuer and fairly present 

the financial condition of the Company and Crowdfunding Issuer as of the respective dates they were 

prepared and the results of the operations and cash flows of the Company and Crowdfunding Issuer for the 

periods indicated. Fruci & Associates 11, PLLC, who has audited or reviewed the Financial Statements, is 

an independent accounting firm within the rules and regulations adopted by the SEC. The Financial 

Statements comply with the requi rements of Ruic 20 I of Regulation Crowd funding, as promulgated by the 
SEC. 

(g) Proceeds. The Company shall use the proceeds from the issuance and sale of the Securities as set 

forth in the Offering Materials. 

(h) L itigation. There is no pending act ion, suit, proceeding, arbitration, mediation, complaint, claim, 

charge or investigation before any court, arbitrator, mediator or governmental body, or to the Company's 

and Crowdfund ing Issuer's knowledge, currently threatened in writing (a) against the Company or 

Crowdfundi ng Issuer or (b) against any consultant, officer, manager, d irector or key employee of the 

Company or Crowd funding Issuer arising out of his or her consulting, employment or board relationship 

with the Company or that could otherwise materially impact the Company or Crowdfunding Issuer. 

5. Representations and Warranties of Subscriber. By executing th is Subscription Agreement, Subscriber 

(and, if Subscriber is purchasing the Securities subscribed for hereby in a fiduciary capacity, the person or 

persons for whom Subscriber is so purchasing) represents and warrants, which representations and 
warranties arc true and complete in all material respects as of the date of the Subscriber's Closing Date(s): 

(a) Requisite Power and Authority. Such Subscriber has all necessary power and authority under all 

applicable provisions oflaw to execute and deliver this Subscription Agreement, the Operating Agreement 

and other agreements required hereunder and to carry out their provisions. All action on Subscriber's pai1 

required for the lawful execution and delivery of this Subscription Agreement and other agreements 

required hereunder have been or will be effectively taken prior to the C losing. Upon their execution and 

delivery, this Subscription Agreement and other agreements required hereunder will be valid and binding 

obligations of Subscriber, enforceable in accordance with their terms, except (a) as limi ted by applicable 

bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws of general application affecting 

enforcement of creditors ' rights and (b) as limited by general principles of equity that restrict the availability 

of equitable remedies. 

(b) Investment Representations. Subscriber understands that the Securities have not been registered 

under the Securities Act. Subscriber also understands that the Securities arc being o ffered and sold pursuant 

to an exemption from registration contained in the Act based in pa1i upon Subscriber' s representations 

contained in thi s Subscription Agreement. Subscriber is a natural person . 
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(c) Manner of Holding. Subscriber understands that the Subscriber is investing into the Company, 

which will serve as a "crowdfunding vehicle" for an investment between the Company and the 

Crowdfunding Issuer. The Company will maintain records of security holders and provide rights as if the 
Subscriber invested directly into the Crowd funding Issuer. 

(d) Illiguidity and Continued Economic Risk. Subscriber acknowledges and agrees that there is no 

ready public market for the Securities and that there is no guarantee that a market for their resale will ever 

exist. Subscriber must bear the economic risk of this investment indefinitely and the Company has no 

obligation to list the Securities on any market or take any steps (including registration under the Securit ies 

Act or the Securities Exchange /\ct of 1934, as amended) with respect to facilitating trading or resale of the 

Securities. Subscriber acknowledges that Subscriber is able to bear the economic risk of losing Subscriber's 

entire investment in the Securities. Subscriber also understands that an investment in the Company involves 

significant risks and has taken full cogn izance of and understands all of the risk factors relating to the 
purchase of Securities. 

(c) Resales. Subscriber agrees that during the one-year period beginning on the date on which it 

acquired Securities pursuant to this Subscription J\grccmcnt, it shall not transfer such Securities except: 

(i) To the Company; 

(ii) To an "accredited investor" within the meaning of Ruic 50 I of Regulation D under the Securities 
!\ct; 

(iii) J\s pai1 of an offering registered under the Securities !\ct with the SEC; or 

(iv) To a member of the Subscriber's family or the equivalent, to a trust control led by the Subscriber, 

to a trust created for the benefit of a member of the family of the Subscriber or equivalent, or in 

connection with the death or divorce of the Subscriber or other similar circumstance. 

(f) Investment Limits. Subscriber represents that either: 

(i) Either of Subscriber's net worth or annual income is less than $107,000, and that the amount it is 

investing pursuant to this Subscription J\g rccment, together with all other amounts invested in offerings 

under Section 4(a)(6) of the Securities /\ct within the previous 12 months, is either less than(/\) 5% of the 

greater of its annual income or net worth, or (B) $2,200; or 

(ii) Both of Subscriber' s net worth and annual income are more than $ 107,000, and that the amount it 

is investing pursuant to this Subscription Agreement, together with all other amounts invested in offerings 

under Section 4(a)(6) of the Securities Act within the previous 12 months, is less than 10% of the greater 

of its annual income or net worth, and docs not exceed $107,000; or 

(iii) Subscriber is an "accred ited investor" within the meaning of Ruic 50 I of Regulation D under the 

Securities Act, and no investment limits shall apply. 
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(g) Subscriber information. Within five days after receipt of a request from the Company, the 

Subscriber hereby agrees to provide such information with respect to its status as a securityholder and to 

execute and deliver such documents as may reasonably be necessary to comply w ith any and all laws and 

regulations to which the Company or the Crowdfunding Issuer is or may become subject. Subscriber 
further agrees that in the event it transfers any Securities, it will require the transferee of such 
Securities to agree to provide such information to the Company or the Crowdfunding Issuer as a 
condition of such transfer. 

(h) Crowdfunding Issuer Information. Subscriber has read the Offering Statement. Subscriber 

understands that the Crowdfunding Issuer is subject to all the risks that apply to early-stage companies, 

whether or not those risks are explicitly set out in the Offering Materials. Subscriber has had an opportunity 

to d iscuss the Crowdfunding lssuer· s business, management and financial affairs with managers, officers 

and management of the Crowdfunding Issuer and has had the oppo11unity to review the Crowdfunding 

Issuer's operations and facilities. Subscriber has also had the opportunity to ask questions of and receive 

answers from the Crowdfunding Issuer and its management regarding the terms and conditions of this 

investment. Subscriber acknowledges that except as set forth herein, no representations or warranties have 

been made to Subscriber, or to Subscriber's advisors or representative, by the Crowdfunding Issuer or 

others with respect to the business or prospects of the Crowd funding Issuer or its financial condition. 

(i) Valuation. The Subscriber acknowledges that the price of the Securities was set by the 

Crowd funding Issuer on the basis of the Crowd funding Issuer's internal valuation and no warranties arc 

made as to val ue. The Subscriber fw1her acknowledges that future offerings of Securities may be made at 

lower valuations, with the result that the Subscriber's investment wi ll bear a lower valuation. 

U) Domici le. Subscriber maintains Subscriber's domicile (and is not a transient or temporary resident) 

at the address provided with Subscriber's subscription. 

(k) foreign Investors. If Subscriber is not a United States person (as defined by Section 770l(a)(30) 

of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended), Subscriber hereby represents that it has satisfied itself 

as to the full observance of the laws of its jurisdiction in connection with any invitation to subscribe for the 
Securities or any use of this Subscription Agreement, including (i) the legal requirements within its 

jurisdiction for the purchase of the Securities, ( ii) any foreign exchange restrictions appl icable to such 

purchase, (ii i) any governmental or other consents that may need to be obtained, and (iv) the income tax 

and other tax consequences, if any, that may be relevant to the purchase, holding, redemption, sale, or 

transfer of the Securities. Subscriber's subscription and payment for and continued beneficia l ownership 
of the Securities will not violate any applicable securities or other laws of the Subscriber 's jurisdiction. 

6. Indemnity. The representations, warranties and covenants made by the Subscriber herein shall 

survive the closing of this Agreement. The Subscriber agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the 

Company, the Crowdfunding Issuer and their respective officers, directors and a ffili ates, and each other 

person, if any, who controls the Company or the Crowdfunding Issuer, as the case may be, within the 

meaning of Section 15 of the Securities J\.ct, against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense 

whatsoever (including, but not limited to, any and al l reasonable attorneys' fees, including attorneys' fees 

on appeal) and expenses reasonably incurred in investigating, preparing or defending against any false 

representation or warranty or breach of failure by the Subscriber to comply with any covenant or 
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agreement made by the Subscriber herein or in any other document furnished by the Subscriber to any of 

the foregoing in connection with this transaction. 

7. Transfer Restrictions. 

(a) "Market Stand-Off'' Agreement. The Subscriber hereby agrees that it will not, w ithout the prior written 

consent of the managing underwriter, during the period commencing on the date of the fina l prospectus 

relating to the Crowdfunding Issuer' s first underwritten publ ic offering (the "IPO") of its Common Stock 

under the Securities /\ct, and ending on the date specified by the Crowdfunding Issuer and the managing 

underwriter(s) (such period not to exceed one hundred eighty (180) days, or such other period as may be 

requested by the Crowdfonding Issuer or an underwriter to accommodate regulatory restrictions on (i) the 

publication or other distribution of research reports, and (ii) analyst recommendations and opinions): (/\) 

lend; offer; pledge; sel l; contract to sell; sel l any option or contract to purchase; purchase any option or 

contract to sell; grant any option, rig ht, or warrant to purchase; or otherwise trans fer or dispose of, directly 

or indirectly, any shares of Common Stock or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable 

(directly or indirectly) for Common Stock (whether such shares or any such securities are then owned by 

the Subscriber or arc thereafter acquired); or (B) enter into any swap or other arrangement that transfers to 

another, in whole or in pa1t , any of the economic consequences of ownership of such securities; whether 

any such transaction described in clause(/\) or (B) above is to be settled by delivery of Common Stock or 

other securities, in cash, or otherwise. The foregoing provisions of this Section 7(a) will: (x) apply only to 

the I PO and wi 11 not apply to the sale of any shares to an underwriter pursuant to an underwriting agreement; 

(y) not apply to the transfer of any shares to any trust for the direct or indirect benefit of the Subscriber or 

the immediate family of the Subscriber, provided that the trustee of the trust agrees to be bound in writing 

by the restrictions set forth herein, and provided further that any such transfer will not involve a disposition 

for value; and (z) be applicable to the Subscriber only if a ll officers and d irectors of the Crowdfunding 

Issuer arc subject to the same restrictions and the Crowd funding Issuer uses commercially reasonable effo11s 

to obtai n a sim ilar agreement from all stockholders individually owning more than 5% of the outstanding 

Common Stock. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the underwriters in connection with the 

JPO are intended third-party beneficiaries of this Section 7(a) and will have the right, power and authority 

to enforce the provisions hereof as though they were a party hereto. The Subscriber fu11her agrees to execute 

such agreements as may be reasonably requested by the underwriters in connection with the !PO that arc 
consistent with this Section 7(a) or that arc necessary lo give further effect the reto. 

In order to enforce the foregoing covenant, the Crowdfunding Issuer may impose stop transfer 

instructions w ith respect to the Subscriber's registrable securities of the Crowdfunding Issuer (and the 

Crowdfunding Issuer shares or securities of every other person subject to the forego ing res triction) until the 

end of such period. The Subscriber agrees that a legend reading substantially as follows may be placed on 

all ce1tificates representing all of such Subscriber' s registrable securities of the Crowd funding Issuer (and 

the Crowd funding Issuer shares or securities of every other person subject to the restriction contained in 

this Section 7(a)): 

TllE S ECURITIES REPRESENTED BY Tl 11S CERTIFICATE /\RE SUBJECT TO J\ LOCK-UP 

PERIOD 13EGINNING ON Tl IE EFFECTIVE 0/\TE or Tl TE REGISTRJ\ TION ST/\TEMENT OF 

I I ERO IC ENTERPRISES, PUBLIC Bl~NEFIT CORPORATION ("HEROIC"), FILED UN DER Tl IE 

SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, J\S /\MENDED, AS SET FORTI-I IN J\N AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
1 IEROIC AND T HE ORIGINAL HOLDER OF Tl IESE SECURITIES,/\ COPY OF WHIC!l MJ\ Y 13E 
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OBTAINED AT IIEROIC'S PRINCIPAL Of<FICE. SUCll LOCK- UP PERIOD IS BINDING ON 
TRANSFEREES OF TI IESE SECURITIES. 

(b) Further Limitations on Disposition. Without in any way limiting the representations and warranties 

set fo1ih in this Agreement, the Subscriber agrees not to make any disposition of all or any portion of the 

Crowdfunding Issuer's Common Stock or any securities which may be converted into the Crowdfunding 

Issuer's Common Stock unless and until the transferee has agreed in writing for the benefit of the 

Crowdfunding Issuer to make the representations and warranties set out in Section 5 and the undertaking 
set out in Section 7(a) of this Agreement and: 

(i) there is then in effect a registration statement under the Securities Act covering such proposed 

disposition, and such disposition is made in connection with such registration statement; or 

(ii) such Subscriber has (A) notified the Crowd funding Issuer of the proposed disposition; (13) 

furnished the Crowdfunding Issuer with a detailed statement of the circumstances surrounding 

the proposed disposition; and (C) if requested by the Crowdfunding Issuer, furnished the 

Crowdfunding Issuer with an opinion of counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Crowd funding 

Issuer that such disposition will not require registration under the Securities Act. 

The Subscriber agrees that it will not make any disposition of any ofthc Crowd funding Issuer's 

securities to the Crowdfunding Issuer's competitors, as determined in good faith by the 
Crowdfunding Issuer. 

(c) Restrictions on Transfer of Convertible Shares. The Subscriber understands and acknowledges that 

(i) the Company will be entering into a Note Purchase Agreement with the C rowdfunding Jssuer, (ii) the 

notes the Company is acquir ing from the Crowd funding Issuer may convert into the Crowdfunding Issuer's 

capital stock (the "Convertible Shares"). (iii) the Convertible Shares may be subject to additional 

restrictions on transfer, (iv) the Common Stock and Series Seed Preferred Stock and any other equity 
securities of the Crowdfunding Issuer arc subject to a right of refusal option in favor of the Crowdfunding 

Issuer and/or its assignee(s), as provided in the Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Crowdfunding Issuer, 

as may be amended from time to time (the "Bylaws"), (v) the Common Stock and Series Seed Preferred 

Stock and any other equity securities of the Crowdfunding Issuer may not be transferred without the consent 
of the Crowdfunding Issuer, as provided in the Bylaws, and (vi) the By laws may be amended from time to 
time in a manner that may alter such right of first refusal option or transfer restrictions on the Common 

Stock, Series Seed Preferred Stock or any other equity securities of the Crowdfunding Issuer or include or 
add restrictions with respect to any of the Convertible Shares. 

8. Governing Law; Jurisdiction. This Subscription Agreement shall be governed and construed 111 

accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware. 

EACH OF THE SUBSCRIBER, THE COMPANY AND TI-IE CROWDFUNDING ISS UER CONSENTS 
TO THE JURISDICTION OF /\NY STA TE OR FEDERAL COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION 

LOCATED WIT! !IN Tl IE ST /\TE OF DEL/\ WARE AND NO OTHER PLACE AND IRREVOCABLY 

AGREES TIIAT ALL ACTIONS OR PROCEEDINGS RELATING TO TIIIS SUBSCRIPTION 

AGREEMENT MA y BE LITIGATED IN suer I COURTS. EACI I OF SUBSCRIBER, TI IE COMPANY 

AND Tl!E CROWDFUNDING ISSUER ACCEPTS FOR ITSELF AND HIMSELF AN D IN 
CONNECTION WITII ITS AND HIS RESPECTIVE PROPERTIES, GENERALLY AND 
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UNCONDITIONALLY, TIIE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF TIIE AFORESAID COURTS AND 

WAIVES ANY DEFENSE OF FORUM NON CONVENIENS, AND IRREVOCABLY AGREES TO BE 

BOUND BY ANY JUDGMENT RENDERED THEREBY IN CONNECTION WITI I Tl IIS 

SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT. EACII OF SUBSCRIBER, TIIE COMPANY /\ND TIIE 

CROWDFUNDING ISSUER FURTHER IRREVOCJ\I3LY CONSENTS TO TIIE SERVICE OF 

PROCESS OUT OF /\NY OF THE AFOREMENTIONED COURTS IN Tl IE MANNER /\ND IN THE 

ADDRESS SPECIFIED IN SECTION 9. 

EACH OF THE PARTIES IIERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES /\LL RIGIITTO TRIAL BY 

JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM (WI IETI IER BASED IN CONTRACT, 

TORT OR OTIIERWlSE) ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO TIIIS SUBSCRIPTION 

AGREEMENT OR T HE ACTIONS OF EITHER PARTY IN TI IE NCGOTIA TION, 

ADMINISTRATION, PERFORMANCE AND ENFORCEMENT THEREOF, EACI I OF THE PARTIES 

I IERETO ALSO W !\IVES J\NY BOND OR SU RETY OR SECURITY UPON SUCI I BOND WI IICI I 

MIGHT, BUT FOR THIS WAIVER, BE REQUIRED OF SUCI I PARTY. EACII OF TTIE PARTIES 

HERETO FURTHER WARRANTS AND REPRESENTS TIIAT IT KNOWINGLY AND 

VOLUNTARILY WAIVES ITS JURY TRIAL RIGHTS. TflIS WAIVER IS IRREVOCABLE, 

MEANING TIIAT IT MAY NOT BE MODIFIED EITHER OR.ALLY OR IN WRITING, AND THI S 

WJ\IVER SI IALL J\PPLY TO ANY SUBSEQUENT AMENDMENTS, RENEWALS, SUPPLl~MENTS 

OR MODIFICATIONS TO THIS SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT. IN T HE EVENT OF LITIGJ\TION , 

TI IIS SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT Ml\ Y BE FILED J\S A WR.I'ITEN CONSENT TO A TRIJ\L 13Y 

TIIECOURT. 

9. Notices. Notice, requests, demands and other communications relating to this Subscription Agreement 

and the transactions contemplated herein shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly g iven i r 

and when (a) delivered personally, on the date or such del ivery; or (b) mai led by registered or certi fied mail , 

postage prepaid, return receipt requested, in the third day after the posting thereof; or (c) emailed, telecopied 

or cabled , on the date of such del ivery to the address of the respective parties as fo llows: 

Ifto Lhc Company, to: 

Heroic Cf< SPY, LLC 

c/o l leroic Enterprises, Public Benefit 

Corporation 

9901 Brodie Lane 
Suite 160 # 1388 
Austin, Texas 78748 

1rto the Crowd funding Issuer, to: 

Heroic Enterprises, Public I3cncfit Corporation 

990 I Brodie Lane 
Suite 160 # 1388 
Aus tin, Texas 78748 
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If to a Subscriber, to Subscriber's address provided with Subscriber's subscri pt ion 

or to such other address as may be specified by written notice from time to time by the pa11y entitled to 

receive such notice. Any notices, requests, demands or other communications by telecopy or cabl_e shall be 
confirmed by letter given in accordance with (a) or (b) above. 

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

Miscellaneous. 

/\I I pronouns and any variations thereof shall be deemed to refer to the masculine, feminine, neuter, 

singular or plural, as the identity of the person or persons or entity or entities may requ ire. 

This Subscription Agreement is not transferable or assignable by Subscriber. 

The representations, warranties and agreements contained herein shall be deemed to be made by 

and be binding upon Subscriber and its heirs, executors, adm inistrators and successors and shall 

inure to the benefi t of the Company and the Crowd funding Issuer and their resepctive successors 
and assigns. 

(d) None of the provisions of this Subscription Agreement may be waived, changed or terminated 

orally or otherwise, except as specifically set forth herein or except by a writ ing signed by the 

Company, the Crowdfunding Issuer and Subscriber. 

(e) In the event any part of this Subscription Agreement is found to be void or unenforceable, the 

remai ning provisions arc intended to be separable and binding with the same effect as if the void 

or unenforceable part were never the subject of agreement. 

(f) The invalidity, illegality or unenforceability of one or more of the prov is ions of this Subscription 

Agreement in any jurisdiction shall not affect the validity, legality or enforceabi lity of the 

remainder of this Subscription Agreement in suc h jurisdiction or the val idity, legality or 

enforceability of this Subscription Agreement, including any such provision, in any other 
jurisdiction, it being intended that a ll rights and obligations of the parties hereunder shal l be 

enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

(g) This Subscription /\greement supersedes all prior discussions and agreements between the parties 

with respect to the subject matter hereof and contains the sole and entire agreement between the 

parties hereto with respect to the subject matler hereof. 

(h) The terms and provisions of this Subscription Agreement arc intended solely for the bene fit o f each 

party he reto and their respective successors and assigns, and it is not the intention of the parties to 

confer, and no provision hereof shall confer, third-party benefi ciary rights upon any o ther person. 

(i) The headings used in this Subscription Agreement have been inse1ied for convenience of reference 

only and do not define or limi t the provis ions hereof. 
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(i) This Subscription Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which will 

be deemed an original, but all of which together wil l constitute one and the same instrument. 

(k) If any recapitalization or other transaction affecting the stock of the Crowdfunding Issuer is 

effected, then any new, substituted or additional securities or other property which is distributed 

with respect lo the Securities shall be immediately subject to this Subscription Agreement, to the 

same extent that the Securities, immediately prior thereto, shal l have been covered by this 

Subscription Agreement. 

(I) No fai lure or delay by any party in exercis ing any right, power or privilege under this Subscription 

Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any single or partia l exercise thereof preclude 

any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege. The 

rights and remedies herein provided shall be cumulative and not exclus ive of any rights or remedies 

provided by law. 

ISIGNATURH PAGE FOLLOWS! 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this agreement as of - ---- ---

Investment Amount: 

Read and Approved (For IRA Use Only): 

By: 

HEROIC CF SPV, LLC 
By : Heroic Enterprises, Public Benefit 
Corporation, its Manager 

Name: Brian Johnson 
Title: CEO 

HEROIC ENTElU'lUSES, PUBLIC 
BENEFIT CORPORATION 
By : 

Name: Brian Johnson 
Title: CEO 

SUBSCRIBER: 

By: 
Name: 
Title: 

The Subscriber is an "accredited investor'' as that term is defined in Regulation D promulgated by the 

Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Act. The Subscriber is a resident of the state 
set forth herein. 

Please indicate Yes or No by checking the appropriate box: 
[ ] Accredited 
[ ] Not Accredited 

SIGNATURE PAGE 



LIMITED LIABILITY COMP ANY AGREEMENT 

This Limited Liabi lity Company Agreement (this "Agreement") of Heroic CF SPY, 
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the "Company"), is entered into as of April 27, 
2022 by and among the Company, Heroic Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation (the 
"Manager") and any other Person who, after the date hereof, becomes a Member in accordance 
with the terms of this Agreement (col lectively, the "Members"). Unless otherwise noted or 
defined elsewhere in this Agreement, capitalized terms used in this Agreement have the 
meanings ascribed herein, as more fully set forth in ARTICLE X. 

RECITALS 

Whereas, the Company is being formed to serve as a "crowd funding vehicle" pursuant to 
Rule 3a-9 under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, which provides that the 
Company must be organized and operated for the sole purpose of directly acquiring, ho lding, and 
disposing of securities issued by a s ing le crowdf unding issuer and rais ing capital in one or more 
offerings made in compliance with Regulation Crowdfunding under the Securities Act of 1933, 
as amended (the "Securities Act"). 

Whereas, the Company w ill unde1take the limited purpose of acquiring, holding, and 
disposing of securities (the "Securities") issued by Heroic Enterprises, Public Benefit 
Corporation (the "Crowd funding Issuer"), which will also serve as the Manager o f the 
Company. 

Whereas, it is the intent of the Company to issue interests (the "Security Interests") that 
mainta in a one-to-one relationship between the number, denomination, type and rights of the 
securities issued by the Manager to the Company pursuant to Regulation Crowdfunding. 

Now therefore, the Company, its Manager, and the Members agree as fol lows: 

ARTICLE I 
Organizational Matters 

Section 1.01 Name. The name of the Company is Heroic CF SPY, LLC. 

Section 1.02 Principal Office. The principal office of the Company is located at 913 
Main St. Bastrop, Texas 78602, or such other location as may from time to time be determined 
by the Manager. The Manager shall give prompt notice of any such change to each of the 
Members. 

Section 1.03 Registered Office; Registered Agent. The reg istered office of the 
Company and the reg istered agent for service of process on the Company in the State of 
Delaware shall be that office and Person named in the Certificate of Formation or such other 
office (which need not be a place of business of the Company) or such other Person or Persons as 
the Manager may designate from time to ti me in the manner provided by the Delaware Act and 

Applicable Law. 



Section 1.04 Purpose; Powers. 

(a) The purpose of the Company to serve as a "crowdfunding vehicle'' 
pursuant to Ru ic 3a-9 under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the 
"Investment Company Act"), specifically, to undertake the acqu iring, holding, and 
disposing of the Securities issued by the Crowdfunding lssuer and to engage in any and 
all activities necessary or incidenta l thereto. 

(b) Ir there is any uncerta inty regarding the interpretation of any prov ision of 
this Agreement, the unce1tainty shall be resolved in favor of maintaining the Company's 
status as a "crowdfunding vehic le''. 

Section 1.05 Term. The term of the Company commenced on the date and time the 
Certificate of Formation was filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and shal l 
continue in existence perpetually or until any earlier date when the Company is terminated in 
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement or as provided by law. 

Section 1.06 Fiscal Year. The Company 's fi scal year shall be the same as that o f the 
Crowdfunding Issuer. 

Section 1.07 Reimbursement and Payment of Expenses. All expenses incurred by the 
Company for the formation. operation, or w inding up of the Company shall be paid by the 
Crowdfund ing Issuer, or the Crowdfund ing Issuer shal l reimburse the Company for any such 
expenses paid by the Company. Further, any expenses incurred by the Company for its 
operations pursuant to its purpose identified in Section 1.04 shal l be paid solely by the 
Crowd[ unding Issuer. 

ARTICLE II 
Members 

Section 2.01 Members. The names, mailing addresses, and Security Interests of the 
Members arc set out in Schedule I attached hereto (the "Members Schedule"). The Manager 
shall maintain and update the Members Schedule upon the issuance or Transfer of any Securi ty 
interests to any new or existing Member in accordance with this Agreement. The Manager may 
also engage a registered transfer agent to mainta in the Members Schedule. Members may only be 
natural persons. 

Section 2.02 Purchase Contributions; No Withdrawals. 

(a) The Members have contributed to the Company the amounts, in the form 
of cash, property, services, or a promissory note or other obligation (as such amounts 
may be amended herein from time to time, the "Purchase Contributions") set out in the 
Members Schedu le. No Member is required to make additional capital contributions to 
the Company. 
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(b) No Member shall be entitled to withdraw any part of a Purchase 
Contribution or to receive any distribution from the Company, except as otherwise 
provided in this Agreement. 

Section 2.03 Admission of Additional Members. 

(a) Additional Members may be admitted upon (i) the Crowdfunding Issuer 
selling additional securities of the same class or rights as in the when Members were first 
admitted the Company, or (ii) a Transfer o f Security Interests, subject to compliance with 
the provisions of ARTICLE VI, and in either case, fo llowing compliance w ith the 
provisions o f Section 2 .03(b). 

(b) In order fo r any Person not already a Member of the Company to be 
admitted as a Member, whether pursuant to an issuance or a Transfer ( including a 
Permitted Transfer) of Security Interests, such Person shall have executed and delivered 
to the Company a written undertaking accepting the terms of this Agreement. Upon the 
amendment of the Members Schedule by the Manager and the satisfaction of any other 
applicable conditions, including, if a condition, the receipt by the Company of payment 
for the issuance of the applicable Security Interests, such Person shall be adm itted as a 
Member, sha ll be a party hereto, shall be deemed listed as such on the books and records 
of the Company, and thereupon shall be issued his, her, or its Security Interests. 

Section 2.04 No Withdrawal; Death of Member. 

(a) So long as a Member continues to hold any Security Interest, such 
Member shall not have the ability to withdraw as a Member prior to the dissolution and 
winding up of the Company and any such w ithdrawal or attempted w ithdrawal by a 
Member prior to the disso lution and winding up of the Company shall be null and void. 
As soon as any Member ceases to hold any Security Interests, such Person shall no longer 
be a Member. A Member sha ll not cease to be a Member as a result o f the bankruptcy of 
such Member or as a result of any other events specified in the Delaware Act. 

(b) T he death of any Member sha ll not cause the dissolution of the Company. 
ln such event, the Company and its business shall be continued by the remaining Member 
or Members and the Security Interests owned by the deceased Member shall be 
automaticall y Transferred to such Member's executors, administrators, testamentary 
trustees, legatees, distributecs, or benefi ciaries, as applicable. as Permitted Transferees; 
provided, that any such Permitted Transferee shall be adm itted as a Member only upon 
compliance with the prov isions o f Section 2.03(6). 

Section 2.05 Ccr·tification of Security Interests. 

(a) The Company may, but sha ll not be required to, issue certificates 
evidencing Security lntercsts in the Company. 
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(b) Securi ty J ntcrests shall be reflected in the books and records of the 
Company as Units. 

(c) If the Manager shall issue certificates representing Security Interests in 
accordance with Section 2.05(a), then in addition to any other legend required by 
Applicable Law, all certificates representing issued and outstanding Security Interests 
sha ll bear a legend substantia lly in the following form: 

TIIE SECURITY INTERESTS REPRESENTED BY TIITS CERTIFICATE /\RE 
SUBJECT TO A LIMITED Llt\BILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT AMONG 
THE COMPANY AND ITS MEMBERS, /\ COPY OF WJJICJ I IS ON FILE AT 
THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICE OF TIIE COMPANY. NO 
TRANSFER, SALE, ASSIGNMENT, GIFT, PLEDGE, ENCUMBRANCE, 
HYPOTHECATION, OR OT! IER DI SPOSITION OF TI IE SECURITY 
INTERESTS REPRESENTED BY Tl IIS CERTIFICATE MAY BE MADE 
EXCEPT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF SUCII LIMITED 
Llt\BILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT. 

THE SECURITY INTERESTS REPRESENTED BY TI !IS CERTIFIC/\ TE 
HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED U 1DER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, 
t\S /\MENDED, AND HA VE BEEN ISSUED PUSUANT TO SECTION 
4(A)(6) OF THE SECURITIES ACT AN D REGULATION CROWDFUNDJNG 
PROMULGATED TI JERE UNDER. TI IE TRAN SER, SALE, ASSIGNMENT, 
PLEDGE, 1-IYPOTHECATION, OR OTHER DISPOSISTION IS LIMITED BY 
SUCI I LAW AND REGULATION. 

Section 2.06 Meetings. 

(a) To the extent the Securities, and thus the Security Interests, provide the 
right to vote, or requi re approva l of the holders of the Security Interests, meetings of the 
Members may be cal led by the Manager. 

(b) Written notice stating the place, electronic access in formati on, date. and 
time o f the meeting and, in the case of a meeting o f the Members not regularly scheduled, 
describing the purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be delivered not fewer than 
10 days and not more than 30 days before the date of the meeting to each Member, by or 
at the direction of the Manager or the Mcmber(s) cal ling the meeting, as the case may be. 
The Members may ho ld meetings at the Company's principal office or at such other 
place, or by electronic means as the Manager or the Mcmber(s) cal ling the meeting may 
des ignate in the notice for such meeting. To the extent poss ible, the Manager shall give 
Members the same notice as provided for in the Crowd funding Issuer's constitutive 
documents. 

(c) Any Member may pa11icipate in a meeting of the Members by means of 
telephone or other e lectronic communications equipment by means of wh ich a ll Persons 
partic ipating in the meeting hear each other, and part ic ipation in a meeting by such means 
sha ll consti tute presence in person at such meeting. 
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(d) On any matter that is to be voted on by the Members, a Member may vote 
in person or by proxy, and such proxy may be granted in writi ng, by means of Electronic 
Transmission, or as otherwise permitted by Applicable Law. Every proxy shall be 
revocable in the discretion of the Member executing it unless otherwise provided in such 
proxy; provided, that such right to revocation shall not invalidate or otherw ise affect 
actions taken under such proxy prior to such revocation. 

(c) The business to be conducted at such meeting need not be limited to the 
purpose described in the notice and can include other bus iness to be conducted by the 
Members;provided, that the Members shall have been notified of the meeting in 
accordance with Section 2.06(b ). Attendance of a Member at any meeting shall constitute 
a waiver or notice of such meeting, except where a Member attends a meeting fo r the 
express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the ground that the 
meeting is not lawfully called or convened. 

(f) Un less otherwise provided in the Crowdfunding Issuer' s constitutive 
documents, whose provisions shall govern with respect to matters o f quorum, a quorum 
of any meeting of the Members shall require the presence, whether in person or by proxy, 
of the Members ho lding a majority of the Security Interests. Subject to Section 2.07, no 
action may be taken by the Members unless the appropriate quorum is present at a 
meeting. 

(g) Unless otherwise provided in the Crowdr unding Issuer's constitutive 
documents, whose provisions shall govern with respect to matters of voting, subject to 
Section 2.07 , Section 3.02, and Section 11 .09, and any other prov ision of this Agreement 
or the Delaware /\ct requiring the vote, consent, or approval of a different percentage o r 
the Security Interests, no action may be taken by the Members at any meeting at which a 
quorum is present without the affi rmative vote of the Members ho ldi ng a majority of the 
Security Interests. 

Section 2.07 Action Without Meeting. Unless otherwise prov ided in the 
Crowdfunding Issuer's constitutive documents, whose provisions shall govern with respect to 
matters o r action witho ut meeting, notwithstand ing the provisions of Section 2 .06, any matter 
that is to be voted on, consented to, or approved by Members may be taken without a meeting, 
without prior notice, and without a vote if consented to, in writing or by Electronic Transmission, 
by a Member or Members holding not less than the minimum number of votes that would be 
necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting at which each Member entitled to vote on 
the action is present and votes/all Members entitled to vote on the matter. A record shall be 
maintained by the Manager of each such action taken by written consent or a Member or 
Members. 

ARTICLE III 
Management 

Section 3.01 Management of the Company. Subject to the provisions of Section 3.02 
and except as otherwise provided by the Delaware Act, the business, property, and affairs of the 
Company shall be managed by the Manager. The actions of the Manager taken in accordance 
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with the provisions of this Agreement shall bind the Company. No other Member of the 
Company shall have any authority or right to act on behalf of or bind the Company, unless 
otherw ise provided herein or un less specifically authorized by the Manager pursuant to a duly 
adopted resolution expressly authoriz ing such action. 

Section 3.02 Actions Requiring Approval of Members. Without the written approval 
of Members holding a majo rity of the Security Interests, the Company shall not, and shall not 
enter into any commitment to: 

(a) Amend, modify, or waive any provisions of the Certificate of formatio n 
or this Agreement; provided that the Manager may, without the consent o f the other 
Members, amend the Members Schedule fo llowing any new issuance, redemption, 
repurchase, or Transfer of Security Interests in accordance with this Agreement. 

(b) lssuc additional Security Interests or other securities, except in connection 
w ith a Transfer of Security Interests that complies w ith the applicable provisions o f 
ARTICLE VI and Section 2.03(b), admit additional Members to the Company. 

(c) Dissolve, wind up, or liquidate the Company or initiate a bankruptcy 
proceeding invo lving the Company; provided that no vote shall be required when such 
dissolution, w ind ing up, o r liquidation occurs under the terms of the Securities or 
Security Interests. 

Notwithstanding the above, the Manager sha ll be able to take al I actions necessary without the 
consent of the Members in order to maintain the Company's status as a crowd funding vehicle. 

Section 3.03 Prohibited Actions. The Manager is prohibited from having the Company 
take the fo llowing actions, or any other action which would result in the Company v io lating the 
conditions to be a "crowdfunding veh ic le" pursuant to Rule 3a-9 under the Investment Company 
/\ct , except for transactions with the Crowdfunding Issuer pursuant to Regu lation 
Crowdfund ing. Such prohi bited actions inc lude, but arc not limited to : 

(a) Incurring any indebtedness, pledge or granting liens on any assets, or 
guarantee, assume, endorse, or otherw ise become responsible for the obligations o f any 
other Person. 

(b) Making any loan or advance to, or a capital contribution or investment in, 
any Person. 

(c) Entering into or effecting any transaction or series of related transactions 
involving the purchase, lease, license, exchange, or other acquis ition (including by 
merger, consolidatio n, sa le of stock, or acquisition of assets) by the Company of any 
assets and/or equi ty interests. 

(d) Entering into or effect any transaction or series o f re lated transactions 
involving the sale, lease, license, exchange, or other disposition (inc lud ing by merger, 
consolidation, sale of stock, or sale of assets) by the Company of any assets and/or equity 
interests. 
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Section 3.04 Officers. The Manager may appoint one or more individuals as officers of 
the Company (the "Officers") as the Manager deems necessary or desirable to carry on the 
business of the Company and may delegate to such Officers such power and authority as the 
Manager deems advisable. An Officer is not required to be a Member of the Company. Any 
individual may hold two or more offices of the Company. Each Officer shall hold office until his 
or her successor is des ignated by the Manager or until his or her earlier death, resignation, or 
removal. Any Officer may resign at any time upon written notice to the Manager. Any Officer 
may be removed by the Manager at any time, with or w ithout cause. A vacancy in any office 
occurring because of death, resignation, removal, or otherwise may, but need not, be fill ed by the 
Manager. 

Section 3.05 Replacement and Resignation of Manager. The Manager may be 
removed at any time, w ith or without cause, by the Members holding 66% of the Security 
Interests. The Manager may resign at any time by del ivering a written resignation to the 
Company, which resignation shall be effective upon receipt thereof un less it is specified to be 
effective at some other time or upon the occurrence of a particular event. r o ll owing the 
Manager's removal or resignation, a successor Manager shall be elected by the a ffirmative vote 
of the Members holding a majority of the Security Interests. The removal of the Manager shall 
not affect the Manager's rights as a Member and shall not constitute a withdrawa l of such 
Member from the Company. 

Section 3.06 Votes. Any vote required pursuant to this Article Ill may be made in 
accordance with Section 2.06 or Section 2 .07. 

ARTICLE IV 
Allocations 

Section 4.01 Allocation of Profits and Losses. 

(a) Al l items of income, gain, loss, deduction and cred it incurred or accrued 
by the Company shall be allocated among the Members pro rata in accordance with their 
respective Security [ntcrests. 

(b) Notwithstanding any other prov ision of this Agreement, (i) "partner 
nonrccoursc deductions" (as defined in Treasury Regu lations Section I . 704-2(i)), if any, 
of the Company shall be a llocated for each fisca l Year to the Member that bears the 
economic risk of loss w ithin the mean ing of Treasury Regulations Section I .704-2(i) and 
"nonrecourse deductions" (as defined in Treasury Regu lations Section l .704-2(b)) and 
"excess nonrecoursc liabilities" (as defi ned in Treasury Regulations Section 1.752-3(a)), 
if any, shall be a llocated to and among the Members in accordance with the ir Security 

Interests. 

(c) This Agreement shall be deemed to include "qualified income offset," 
"minimum gain chargeback," and "partner nonrecourse debt minimum gain chargeback" 
prov is ions w ithin the meaning of Treasury Regulations under Section 704(b) of the Code. 
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Section 5.01 Distributions. 

ARTICLE V 
Distributions 

(a) In the event that any distributable cash or other assets arc received by the 
Company from the Crowd funding Issuer pursuant to the terms of the Securities, the 
Manager shall make such distributions promptly to the ho lders of the Security Interests 
on a one-to-one basis as if the ho lders o f the Securi ty Inte rests held the Securities 
directly. The Manager may instruct the Crowdfunding Issuer to make such distribution 
directly to the ho lders of the Security Interests. 

(b) Notwithstand ing any provision to the contrary conta ined in thi s 
Agreement, the Company shall not make any distribution to Members if such distribution 
would v io late the Delaware /\ct or other Applicable Law. 

ARTICLE VI 
Transfers 

Section 6.01 General Restrictions on Transfer. 

(a) No Member shall Transfer a ll or any portion of its Membership Interest in 
the Company, except with the written consent of the Manager. No Transfer of Security 
Interests to a Person not already a Member of the Company shall be deemed completed 
until the prospective Transferee is admitted as a Member of the Company in accordance 
w ith Section 2.03 hereof. 

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement (including Section 
6.02), each Member agrees that it w ill not Transfer all or any portion of its Membership 
Interest in the Company, and the Company agrees that it shall not issue any Security 
Interests: 

( i) except as permitted under the Securities Act and other applicable 
federal or state securities or blue sky laws; 

(i i) if such Transfer or issuance would affect the Company's existence 
or qualification as a limited liabili ty company under the Delaware /\ct; 

(iii) if such Transfer or issuance would cause the Company to be 
required to reg ister as an investment company under the Investment Company Act 
of 1940, as amended; or 

(iv) if such Trans fer or issuance would cause the assets of the 
Company to be deemed "Plan Assets" as defined under the Employee Retirement 
Income Security Act of 1974 or its accompanying regulations or result in any 
"prohibited transaction" thereunder invo lving the Company. 
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(c) J\ny Transfer or attempted Transfer of any Security Interest in violation of 
this Agreement shall be null and void, no such Transfer shall be recorded on the 
Company's books, and the purported Transferee in any such Trans fer shall not be treated 
(and the purported Transferor shall continue be treated) as the owner of such Membership 
Interest for a ll purposes of this J\grecment. 

(d) Except as provided in Section 2 .04(b), no Transfer (inc luding a Permitted 
Transfer) of Security Interests to a Person not already a Member of the Company shall be 
deemed completed until the prospective Transferee (including a Permitted Trans feree) is 
admitted as a Member of the Company in accordance with Section 2 .03(b) hereo f. 

(e) For the avoidance of doubt, any Transfer of a Security Interest permitted 
by this Agreement sha ll be deemed a sale, transfer, assignment, or other disposal of such 
Secur ity Interest in its entirety as intended by the parties to such Transfer, and shal I not 
be deemed a sale, transfer, assignment, or other di sposal of any less than a ll o f the rights 
and benefits described in the definition of the term "Security Interest," unless otherwise 
expl icitly agreed to by the parties to such Transfer. 

Section 6.02 Further Restrictions on Transfer. 

(a) During the one-year period beginning on the date on which it acquired the 
Securi ty Interest, a Member may not transfer such Security Interest except: 

(b) To the Crowd funding Issuer; 

(c) To an "accredited investor" with in the meaning of Ruic 50 1 of Regulation 
D under the Securities Act; 

(d) J\s part o f an offering registered under the Securiti es J\ct; or 

(e) To a member of the Security Interest holder's family or the equivalent, to 
a trust controlled by the Security Interest ho lder, to a trust created for the benefit of a 
member of the fam ily of the Security Interest holder or equivalent, or in connection w ith 
the death or divorce of the Security Interest o r other similar c ircumstance. 

Section 6.03 Restrictions on Transfer; Right of First Refusal. r or so long as the 
Crowdfunding Issuer's bylaws (the "Bylaws") conta in restrictions on transfers or a right of fi rst 
refusal in favor of the Crowd funding Issuer, the Company shall have a right to restrict transfe rs 
and a right of first refusa l w ith identical rights to those contained in the Bylaws w ith respect to 
any member who desires to sell or otherw ise transfer any of their interests in the Company. 

ARTICLE Vil 
No Personal Liability and Indemnification 

Section 7.01 No Personal Liability: Members; Manager. 

(a) Except as otherwise provided in the Delaware Act, by Applicable Law, or 
expressly in this Agreement, no Member wil l be obligated personally fo r any debt, 
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obligation, or liability o f the Company or other Members, whether aris ing in contract, 
tort, or otherwise, solely by reason of be ing a Member. 

(b) Except as otherwise provided in the Delaware /\ct, by Applicable Law, or 
expressly in this Agreement, no Manager w ill be obligated persona lly fo r any debt, 
obligation, or liability of the Company, whether aris ing in contract, tort, or othe rwise, 
solely by reason of be ing a Manager. 

Section 7.02 Indemnification. 

(a) To the fullest extent permitted under the Delaware Act, any Covered 
Person (as defined in section (c) below) shall be entitled to indemnification and 
reimbursement of expenses by the Crowdfunding Issuer for and against any loss. damage, 
cla im, or expense (inc luding attorneys' fees) (collective ly, "Losses") whatsoever incurred 
by the Covered Person relat ing to or aris ing out o f any act or omiss ion or alleged acts or 
omissions (whether or not constituting negligence) performed or omitted by any Covered 
Person on behalf of the Company; provided, however, that ( i) any indemnity under this 
Sect ion 7.02 sha ll be provided by the Crowdfunding Issuer, and nei ther any Member or 
any other Person sha ll have any personal liability to co ntribute to such indemnity by the 
Crowdfunding lssuer; (ii) such Covered Person acted in good faith and in a manner 
be lieved by such Covered Person lo be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the 
Company and, w ith respect to any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to 
be lieve his conduct was unlawful ; and (iii) such Covered Person's conduct did not 
constitute fraud or w illful misconduct, in either case as determined by a final, 
nonappealable order o f a court o f competent jurisdictio n. 

(b) Upon receipt by the Company o f a written undertaking by or on beha lf of 
the Covered Person to repay such amounts if it is fina lly judic ially determined that the 
Covered Person is not entitled to indemnification under this Section 7.02, the 
Crowdfund ing Issue r sha ll advance, to the extent reasonably required, each Covered 
Person fo r reasonabl e legal or other expenses (as incurred) o f such Covered Person in 
connection with investigating, preparing to defend, or defending any c laim, lawsuit, or 
other proceeding relating to any Losses for which such Covered Person may be 
indemnifi ed pursuant to this Section 7.02. 

(c) For purposes of this Section 7.02, "Covered Person" means (i) each 
Member whom the Manager has designated as an agent of the Company; (ii) each 
Manager and Officer of the Company; and (iii) each o ffi cer, director, shareho lder, 
pa1tner, manager, member, /\ ffiliate, employee, agent, or representa tive o f each Member 
and of each Manager. 

ARTICLE VIII 
Reports, Accounting and Tax Matters 

Section 8.01 Inspection Rights. Upon reasonable notice from a Member, the Company 
shall afford the Member access during normal business hours to the corporate, financ ia l, and 
s imilar records, reports, and documents o f the Company, and shall permit the Member to 
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examine such documents and make copies thereof. Further, upon reasonable notice from a 
Member, the Manager shall make available the same such information of the Crowdfunding 
Issuer. 

Section 8.02 Income Tax Status. It is the intent of this Company and the Members that 
this Company shall be treated as a partnership for US, federal , state, and loca l income tax 
purposes. Neither the Manager nor any Member shall make an election for the Company to be 
classified as other than a partnership pursuant to Treasury Regulations Section 301.7701-3. 

Section 8.03 Tax Matters Representative. 

(a) Appointment; Resignation. The Members hereby appoint the Manager as 
the "partnership representative" as provided in Section 6223(a) of the Code (the 
"Partnership Representative"). The Partnership Representative can be removed at any 
time by a vote of Members holding 66% of the Security Inte rests of the Company, and 
shall resign if it is no longer the Manager. In the event of the resignation or removal of 
the Tax Matters Representative, the holders of a majority of the Security Interests of the 
Company shall appoint a new Tax Matters Representative. 

(b) Tax Examinations and Audits. The Partnership Representative is 
authorized and required to represent the Company (at the Company's expense) in 
connection w ith a ll examinations of the Company's affairs by any federal, state, local, or 
foreign tax ing authority, inc luding resu lting administrative and judicial proceedings, and 
to expend Company funds for professional services and costs associated therewith. 

The Partnership Representative sha ll have sole authority to act on behalf 
of the Company in any such examinations and any resulting administrative or judicial 
proceedings, and sha ll have sole discretion to determine whether the Company (either on 
its own behalf or on behalf o f the Members) w ill contest o r continue to contest any lax 
deficiencies assessed or proposed to be assessed by any taxing authority. 

(c) US Federal Tax Proceedings .. To the extent permitted by applicable law 
and regulations, the Partnership Representative wil l cause the Company to annually elect 
out of the partnership audit procedures set forth in Subchaptcr C of Chapter 63 o f the 
Code as amended by the Bipartisan Budget ;\ct of 2015 (the "Revised Partnership 
Audit Rules") pursuant to Section 6221 (b) of the Code. fo r any year in which applicable 
law and regulations do not permit the Company to e lect out of the Revised Partnership 
Audit Ru les, then within forty-five (45) days of any notice of final partnership 
adjustment, the Partnership Representative will cause the Company to e lect the 
alternative procedure under Section 6226 of the Code, and furnish to the Internal 
Revenue Service and each Member (including former Members) during the year or years 
to w hich the notice of final pa1tnership adjustment relates a statement of the Member's 
share of any adjustment set forth in the notice of final pa rtnership adjustment. 

( d) Section 754 Election. The Partnership Representative sha ll make an 
election under Section 754 of the Code only with the agreement in writing of a majority 
of the outstanding Security Interests. 
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(e) Indemnification. The Company, through the Crowdfunding Issuer, sha ll 
defend, indemnify, and ho ld harm less the Partnership Representative against any and all 
liabili ties sustained as a result o f any act or decision concerning Company tax matters and 
w ithin the scope of such Member's responsibilities as Partnership Representative, so long 
as such act or decision was done or made in good faith and docs not constitute gross 
negligence or willful misconduct. 

Section 8.04 Tax Returns. 

(a) At the expense of the Crowdfunding Issuer, the Manager will cause the 
preparation and timely filing (including extensions) of a ll tax returns required to be filed 
by the Company pursuant to the Code as well as all other required tax returns in each 
jurisdiction in which the Company owns property or docs business. As soon as 
reasonably possible after the end of each Piscal Year, the Manager will deliver to each 
Member, Company in formation necessary for the preparation of such Member's federal, 
state, and local income tax returns for such Fiscal Y car. 

(b) Each Member agrees that such Member shall not treat any Company item 
on such Member's federal , state, foreign, or other income tax return incons istently with 
the treatment of the item on the Company's return. 

Section 8.05 Reports under Regulation Crowd funding 

(a) The Manager shall provide all information necessary to the Crowdfunding 
Issuer for the Crowdrunding issuer to make such ongoing reports as required by 
Regulation Crowdfunding. 

(b) The Manager will cause the prompt distribution of any disclosure, and 
ongo ing repolis prepared by the Crowd funding Issuer as soon as such disclosures and 
ongo ing reports arc completed by the Crowdfunding Issuer. 

ARTICLE IX 
Dissolution and Liquidation 

Section 9.01 Events of Dissolution. The Company shall be dissolved and its affairs 
wound up only upon the occurrence of any of the fo llowing events: 

(a) An election to dissolve the Company made by holders of a 66% of the 
Security Interests; 

(b) The sale, exchange, involuntary conversion, or other dispos ition or 
Transfer of al I or substantially a ll the assets of the Crowd r und ing Issuer; 

(c) Declaration of effectiveness of a reg istration statement covering the 
Securities under the Securities Act or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, 
by the Crowdfunding Issuer; or 

(d) The entry o f a decree ofjudicial dissolution under of the Delaware Act. 
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Section 9.02 Effectiveness of Dissolution. Disso lution o f the Company shall be 
effective on the day on which the event described in Section 9.01 occurs, but the Company shall 
not terminate unti l the w inding up of the Company has been completed, the assets of the 
Company have been distributed as prov ided in Section 9.03, and the Certificate of Formation 
shall have been cancelled as provided in Section 9.04. 

Section 9.03 Liquidation. If the Company is dissolved pursuant to Sect ion 9 .0 1, the 
Company sha ll be liquidated and its business and affairs wound up in accordance with the 
Delaware Act and the following provis ions: 

(a) The Manager, or another Person selected by the Manager, shall act as 
liquidator to wind up the Company (the "Liquidator"). The Liquidator sha ll have full 
power and authority to distribute, sell , assign, and encumber any or a ll of the Company's 
assets and to w ind up and liquidate the affairs o f the Company in an orderly and business­
like manner, in compliance w ith rules and regulations applicable to a "crowdfunding 
vehicle". 

(b) As promptly as poss ible after dissolution and again after final liquidation, 
the Liquidator sha ll cause a proper accounting to be made of the Company's Securities, 
assets, liabilities, and operations through the last day of the calendar month in which the 
disso lutio n occurs or the final liquidation is completed, as applicable. 

(c) The Liquidator shall transfer ownership of the Securities to the Security 
Interest ho lders. 

(d) The Liquidator shal l then liqu idate the assets of the Company, if any, and 
distribute the proceeds o f such liquidation in the fo llowing order of priority, unless 
otherwise required by mandatory provisions of Applicable Law, and with any amounts to 
be paid to creditors to be pa id by the Crowdfunding Issuer: 

(i) f-irst, to the payment of the Company's debts and liabili ties to its 
creditors (including Members, if applicable) and the expenses of I iquidation 
(inc luding sales commissions inc ident to any sales of assets o f the Company); 

( ii) Second, to the establishment of and additions to reserves that arc 
determined by the Manager to be reasonably necessary for any contingent 
unforeseen liabi lities or obligations of the Company; and 

(iii) Third, to the Members, on a pro rata basis, in accordance w ith the 
positive balances in their respective Capita l Accounts, as determined after taking 
into account all Capita l Account adjustments for the taxable year of the Company 
during which the liquidation of the Company occurs. 

Section 9.04 Required Filings. Upon completion of the w inding up of the Company, 
the Liquidator sha ll make a ll necessary filings required by the Delaware Act. 
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ARTICLEX 
Definitions 

Section 10.01 Definitions. Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defi ned shall 
have the meanings set forth in this Section I 0.0 I: 

(a) "Affiliate" means, with respect to any Person, any other Person who, 
directly or ind irectly, controls, is control led by, or is under common control with such 
Person. For purposes o f this definition, "control" when used w ith respect to any specified 
Person, shall mean the power, direct or indirect, to direct or cause the direction of the 
management and policies of such Person, whether through ownersh ip of voting securities 
or partnership or other ownership interests, by contract, or otherwise; and the terms 
"controlling" and "controlled" shall have correlative meanings. 

(b) "Applicable Law" means a ll applicable provisions of (i) constitutions, 
treaties, statutes, laws (including the common law), rules, regulations, decrees, 
ord inances, codes, proclamations, declarations, or orders of any Governmental Authority; 
(ii) any consents or approvals of any Governmental /\uthority; and (iii) any orders, 
deci sions, advisory, or interpretative opin ions, injunctions, judgments, awards, decrees 
of, or agreements w ith, any Governmenta l Authority. 

(c) "Certificate of Formation" means the certificate of formation filed with 
the Delaware Secretary of State on April 21 , 2022. 

(d) "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

(e) "Delaware Act" means the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act and 
any successor statute, as it may be amended from ti me to time. 

(f) "Electronic Transmission" means any form of communication not 
directly involving the physical transmission of paper that creates a record that may be 
retained, retrieved, and reviewed by a recipient thereof and that may be directly 
reproduced in paper form by such a recipient through an automated process. 

(g) "Fiscal Y car" means the calendar year, unless the Company is required or 
e lects to have a taxable year other than the ca lendar year, in wh ich case Piseal Y car shall 
be the period that conforms to its taxable year. 

(h) "Governmental Authority" means any federal , state, local, or foreign 
government or politica l subdivision thereof, or any agency or instrumenta lity of such 
government or polit ica l subdivision, or any self-regulated organ ization or other non­
governmental regulatory authority or quasi-governmental authority (to the extent that the 
rules, regulations, or orders of such organ ization or authority have the force of law), or 
any arbitrator, court, or tribunal of competent jurisdiction. 

(i) "Lien" means any mortgage, pledge, security interest, option, right o f first 
offer, encumbrance, or other restriction or limitation of any nature whatsoever. 
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(j) "Manager" means, initial ly, Heroic Enterprises, Public Benefit 
Corporation, a Delaware public benefit corporation, or such other Member as may be 
designated or become the Manager pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. 

(k) "Security Interest" means an interest in the Company owned by a 
Member, inc lud ing such Member's rights to (i) receive a distributive share of Company 
assets and items of Company income, gain, loss, and deduction ; (ii) vote, consent, or 
participate in any Member decisions prov ided in this Agreement and the Delaware Act; 
and (i ii) receive any and a l I other benc11ts due to a Member under this Agreement and the 
Delaware Act.. 

(I) "Person" means an indiv idual, corporation, pa1incrship, j o int venture, 
limited liabil ity company, Governmental Authority, unincorporated organization, trust, 
association, or other entity. 

(m) "Securities" means the convertible promissory notes of the Crowdf unding 
Issuer. 

(n) "Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or any 
successor federal statute, and the ru les and regu lations thereunder , which shall be in 
effect at the time. 

(o) "T ransfer" means to sell , transfer, ass ign, gift, pledge, encumber, 
hypothecate, or similarly dispose of, directly or indirectly, voluntari ly or involuntarily, by 
operation of law o r otherw ise, or to enter into any contract, option, or other arrangement 
or understanding with respect to the sale. transfer, assignment, gift, pledge, encumbrance, 
hypothecation, or s imilar disposition of, any Security Interests or any interest (including a 
beneficial interest) there in. "Transfer" when used as a noun sha ll have a correlative 
meaning. 

(p) "Transferor" and "Transferee" mean a Person who makes or receives a 
Transfer, respectively. 

ARTICLE XI 
Miscellaneous 

Section 11.01 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the internal laws or the State of Delaware, without giving effect to any choice or 
conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of Delaware or any jurisdiction). 

Section 11.02 Submission to Jurisdiction. The part ies hereby agree that any suit, 
action, or proceeding based on any matter arising out of or in connection with, this Agreement or 
the transactions contemplated hereby, sha ll be brought in the federal courts of the United States 
of America or the cou1is of the State of Delaware, in each case located in the City of Wilmington 
and County o f New Castle. Each of the parties hereby irrevocab ly consents to the jurisdiction o r 
such courts (and of the appropriate appellate courts therefrom) in any such suit, action, or 
proceeding. 
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Section 11.03 Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY 
ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ANY CONTROVERSY THAT MAY ARISE 
UNDER THIS AGREEMENT IS LIKELY TO IN VOL VE COMPLICATED AND 
DIFFICULT ISSUES AND, THEREFORE, EACH SUCH PARTY IRREVOCABLY AND 
UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT IT MAY HA VE TO A TRIAL BY JURY 
IN RESPECT OF ANY LEGAL ACTION ARIS.ING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS 
AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY. 

Section 11.04 Waiver. No waiver by any party o f any of the provisions hereof shall be 
effective unless explicitly set forth in writing and signed by the party so waiv ing. No fa ilure to 
exercise, or delay in exercising, any right, remedy, power, or privilege aris ing from this 
Agreement shall operate or be construed as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial 
exercise of any right, remedy, power, or privilege hereunder preclude any other or further 
exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, remedy, power, or privilege. Nothing 
contained in this Section 11 .04 shall diminish the waiver described in Section 11.03. 

Section 11.05 Notices. All notices, requests, consents, claims, demands, waivers, and 
other communications hereunder sha ll be in writing and sha ll be deemed to have been g iven: 

(a) when de livered by hand; 

(b) when received by the addressee if sent by a nationally recognized 
overnight courier; 

(c) on the date sent by facsimile or email or a PDF document (with 
confirmation of transmission) if sent during normal business hours o f the recipient, and 
on the next business day if sent after normal business hours of the rec ipient; or 

(d) on the third day after the date mailed, by certified or registered mail, 
return rece ipt requested, postage prepaid . 

Such communications must be sent to the respective parties at the following addresses (or at such 
other address for a party as sha ll be specified in a notice g iven in accordance with this Section 
11 .05): 

If to the Company: 

If to the Manager: 

990 l Brodie Lane 
Ste 160 # 1388 
Austin, Texas 78748 
!~mail : mail@heroic. us 
Attention: Brian Johnson, Founder and Chie f l~xecutivc O fficer 

990 I Brodie Lane 
Ste 160 # 1388 
Austin, Texas 78748 
Email : rnail@hcro ic.us 
Attention: Brian Johnson, founder and Chief Executive Officer 
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If to a Member: To the Member's respective mailing address as set forth on the 
Members Schedule. 

Section 11.06 Remedies. In the event of any actual or prospective breach or default by 
any party, the other parties shall be entitled to equitable relief, including remedies in the nature 
of injunction and spcci fie performance, awarded by a court of competent jurisdiction (without 
being required to post a bond or other security or to establish any actual damages). In this regard, 
the parties acknowledge and agree that they will be irreparably damaged in the event this 
Agreement is not specifically enforced, s ince (among other things) the Security Interests are not 
readily marketable. A ll remedies hereunder arc cumulative and not exclusive, may be exercised 
concurrently, and nothing herein shall be deemed to prohibit or limit any party from pursuing 
any other remedy or relief available at law or in equity for any actual or prospective breach or 
default, including recovery of damages. In add ition, the parties hereby waive and renounce any 
defense to such equitable relief that an adequate remedy at law may exist. 

Section 11.07 Severability. If any term or provision of this Agreement is held to be 
invalid, illegal, or unenforceable under Applicable Law in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, 
illegality, or unenforccability shall not affect any other term or provis ion of this Agreement or 
invalidate or render unenforceable such term or provision in any other jurisdiction. 

Section 11.08 Successors and Assigns. Subject to the restrictions on Transfers set forth 
herein , this Agreement shall be binding upon and sha ll inure to the benefit of the parties hereto 
and their respective heirs, executors, administrators. successors, and assigns. 

Section 11.09 Amendment. No provision of this Agreement may be amended or 
modified except by an instrument in writing executed by Members ho lding 66%of the Security 
Interests. Any such written amendment or modification wi ll be binding upon the Company and 
each Member. Notwithstanding the foregoing, amendments to the Members Schedule may be 
made by the Manager in accordance with Section 3.02(a). 

Section 11.10 Headings. The headings in this Agreement are inserted for convenience or 
reference only and arc in no way intended to describe, interpret, define, or limit the scope, extent, 
or intent of this Agreement or any provision of this Agreement. 

Section 11.11 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in eountcrpa11s, each of 
which shall be deemed an original, but a ll of which together shall be deemed to be one and the 
same agreement. 

Section 11.12 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together w ith the Certificate of 
Formation and all re lated Exhibits and Schedules, constitutes the sole and entire agreement of the 
parties to this Agreement with respect to the subject matter contained herein and therein, and 
supersedes a ll prior and contemporaneous understandings, agreements, representations, and 
warranties, both written and oral, with respect to such subject matter. 
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Section 11.13 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. Except as provided in ARTICLE VII, this 
Agreement is for the so le benefit of the parties hereto (and the ir respective heirs, executors, 
administrators, legal representatives, successors, and permitted assigns) and nothing herein, 
express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other Person, including any creditor of 
the Company, any legal or equitable right, benefit, or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or 
by reason of this Agreement. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused thi s Agreement to be executed as of 
the date first written above by the ir respective officers thereunto duly authorized. 

The Company: 

Heroic CF SPY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company 
By: Hero ic Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation, a 
Delaware public benefit corporation, its Manager 

~;i~n ~nson 
founder and Chief Executive Officer 
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SCHEDULE I 

MEMBERS SCHEDULE 
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NOTE PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

THIS INVESTMENT INVOLVES A HIGH DEGREE OF IUSK. Tl 11S INVESTMENT IS 
SUITABLE ONLY FOR PERSONS WHO CAN BEAR Tl IE ECONOM IC RISK FOR AN 
INDEFINITE PERlOD OF TIME AND WI IO CAN AFFORD TO LOSE Tl IEIR ENTIRE 
INVESTMENT. FURTHERMORE, INVESTORS MUST UNDERSTAND TITAT SUCII 
INVESTMENT IS ILLIQUID AND IS EXPECTED TO CONTINUE TO BE ILLIQUID FOR 
AN TN DEFINITE PERIOD OF TIME. NO PUBLIC MARKET EXISTS roR THE 
SECURITIES, AND NO PUBLIC MARKET IS EXPECTED TO DEVELOP FOLLOWING 
THIS OFFERING. 

THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREBY HA VE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER 
THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT"), OR ANY 
STATE SECURITIES OR BLUE SKY LAWS AND ARE BEING OFFERED AND SOLD 
IN RELIANCE ON EXEMPTIONS FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS 
OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND STATE SECURITIES OR BLUE SKY LAWS. 
ALTHOUGI I AN OFFERING STATEMENT HAS BEEN FILED WITI I THE SECURITIES 
AND EXCI !ANGE COMMISSION (THE "SEC"), TI IAT OFFERING STATEMENT DOES 
NOT INCLUDE TI IE SAME INFORMATION TIIJ\T WOULD BE INCLUDED IN/\ 
REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER TIIE SECURITIES /\CT AND IT IS NOT 
REVIEWED IN ANY WA.Y BY THE SEC. TIIE Sl:CURITIES HJ\VENOT BEEN 
APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY Tl IE SEC, ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION 
OR OTHER REGULATORY AUTHORITY, NOR HAVE ANY OF TI IE FOREGOING 
AUTI IORITI ES PASSED UPON Tl IE MERITS OF TI US OFFERING OR THE ADEQUACY 
OR ACCURACY OF Tl IE NOTE PURCI JASE AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER 
MATERIALS OR INFORMATION MADE AVAILABLE TO PURCHASER IN 
CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING OVER THE WEB-BASED PLATFORM 
MAINTAINED I3Y WEFUNDER PORTAL !LC (THE ''TNTERMEDI/\RY"). ANY 
REPRESENTATION TO T HE CONTRA.RY IS UN LJ\ WHJL. 

PURSUANT TO SECTION 7.13 HEREOF, THE SECURITIES ARE SUBJECT TO AN 
IRREVOCABLE VOTING PROXY AND POWER OF ATTORNEY AND BY ACCEPTING ANY 
INTEREST JN SUCH SECURITIES TUE PERSON ACCEPTING SUCH INTEREST SHALL BE 
DEEMED TO AGREE TO AND SHALL BECOME BOUND BY THAT IRREVOCABLE 
VOTING PROXY. 
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SENIOR CONVERTIBLE NOTE PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

This Senior Convertible Note Purchase Agreement (this "Agreemen t"), dated as of , 2022, is 
entered into among Heroic Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation, a Delaware public benefit corporation 
(the "Company"), and Heroic Cf SPY, LLC ("Purchaser"). 

WHEREAS, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the Company wishes to issue 
and sell to the Purchaser, and the Purchaser wishes to purchase from the Company, one or more senior 
convertible promissory notes in exchange for $1,000,000 (the "Consideration"). 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration or the mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter set 
forth and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency or which is hereby 
acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

I . Definitions. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Agreement w ill have the meanings 
set forth in this Section I . 

I. l "Common Stock'' means the Company's Series I Common Stock and the Company's 
Series 2 Common Stock, collectively . 

1.2 "Conversion Shares" (for purposes or determining the type of Equity Securities 
issuable upon conversion of the Notes) means: 

(a) with respect to a conversion pursuant to Section 4.1, shares of the Equity 
Securities issued in the Next Equi ty financing; 

(b) with respect to a conversion pursuant to Section 4.2, shares or Series I 

Common Stock; and 

(c) with respect to a convers ion pursuant to Section 4.3, shares or Series I 

Common Stock. 

1.3 "Conversion Price" means (rounded to the nearest I /I 00th of one cent): 

(a) with respect to a convers ion pursuant to Section 4 .1 , the lower of: (/\) the 
product of (x) 100% less the Discount and (y) the lowest per share purchase price of the 
Equity Securities issued in the Next Equity Financing; or (B) the quotient resulting from 
dividing (x) US$50,000,000 by (y) the Fully Diluted Capitalization immediately prior to the 
closing or the Next Equity Financing; 

(b) w ith respect to a conversion pursuant to Section 4.2, the quotient resulting 
from d ividing (x) US$50,000,000 by (y) the Fully Diluted Capita lization immediately prior to 
the closing of the Corporate Transaction; and 

(c) with respect to a conversion pursuant to Section 4.3, the quotient resulting 
from dividing (x) US$50,000,000 by (y) the Fully Diluted Capitalization immediately prior to 
such conversion. 



1.4 "Corporate Transaction" means: 

(a) the closing of the sale, transfer or other disposition, in a s ing le transaction or 
series of related transactions, o f al l or substa ntially all of the Company's assets; 

(b) the consummation of a merger or consolidation of the Company with or into 
another entity ( except a merger or consolidation in which the holders of capital stock of the 
Company immediately prior to such merger or consolidation continue to hold a majority of the 
outstanding voting securities of the capital stock of the Company or the surviving or acquiring 
e ntity immediate ly following the consummation of such transaction); or 

(c) the clos ing of the transfer (whether by merger, consolidation or otherwise), in 
a sing le transaction or series of related transactions, to a " person" or "group" (within the 
meaning of Section 13(d) and Section 14(d) of the Exchange Act) of the Company's capital 
stock if, after such closing, such person or group would become the " beneficial owner" (as 
defined in Ruic I 3d-3 under the Exchange /\ct) of more than 50% of the outstanding voting 
securities of the Company (or the surviving or acquiring entity). 

For the avoidance of doubt, a transaction w ill not constitute a "Corporate Transaction" 
if its sole purpose is to change the state of the Company's incorporation or to create a holding 
company that wi ll be owned in substantially the same proportions by the persons who held the 
Company ' s securities immediately prior to such transaction. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the sale 
of Equity Securities in a bona fide financing transaction will not be deemed a "'Corporate 
Transaction." 

1.5 "Discount" means twenty percent (20%). 

1.6 "Equity Securities" means (a) Common Stock; (b) any securities conferring the right 
to purchase Common Stock; or (c) any securities directly or indirectly convertible into, or 
exchangeable for (with or without additional consideration) Common Stock. Notwithstanding the 
forego ing, the follow ing w ill not be considered " Equity Securities" : (i) any security granted, issued 
or sold by the Company to any director, officer, employee, consultant or adviser of the Company for 
the primary purpose of soliciting or retaining their services; (ii) any convertible promissory notes 
(inc luding the Notes) issued by the Company; and (iii) any SAFEs issued by the Company. 

1.7 "Exchan ge Act" means the Securi ties Exchange /\ct of 1934, as umendcd. 

1.8 "Fully Diluted Capitalization" means the number of issued and outstanding shares of 
the Company's capital stock, assuming the conversion or exercise o f all of the Company's 
outstanding convertible or exercisable securities, including shares of convertible Preferred Stock and 
all outstanding vested or unvested options or warrants to purchase the Company ' s capital stock. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, "Fully Dil uted Capitalization" excludes: (i) any convertible 
promissory notes issued by the Company (inc luding the Notes issued pursuant to th is Agreement); 
(ii) any SJ\FEs issued by the Company; and (iii) any Equity Securities that arc issuable upon 
conversion of any outstanding convertible promissory notes or SJ\FEs. 

1.9 "Maturity Date" means, with respect to each Note issued under this Agreement, 
December 31, 2025. 

1.1 0 "Next Equity Financing" means the next sale ( or series of related sules) by the 
Company of its Equ ity Securities following the date of this Agreement, in one or more offerings with 
the principal purpose of raising capital, from which the Company receives gross proceeds of not less 
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than US$ 10,000,000 (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, the aggregate princ ipal amount of the 
Notes). 

1.11 "Notes" means the one or more senior convertible promissory notes issued to the 
Purchaser pursuant to Section 2, the form of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

1.12 "Preferred Stock" means the Company's preferred stock, whether now existing or 
hereafter created, including the Series Seed Preferred Stock. 

1.13 "Requisite Notcholders" means the holders of a majority- in-interest of the aggregate 
principal amount of the Notes. 

1.14 "SAFE" means any s imple agreement for fu ture equity (or other similar agreement) 
which is issued by the Company for bona lide financing purposes and which may convert into the 
Company ' s capital stock in accordance with its terms. 

1.15 "Secu.-itics" means, collectively, the Notes, the Conversion Shares, and any Series I 
Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Conversion Shares. 

1.16 "Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 

1.17 "Series 1 Common Stock" means the Company 's Series I Common Stock, par value 
US$0.0001 pe r share. 

1.18 "Series 2 Common Stock" means the Company 's Series 2 Common Stock, par value 
US$0.000I per share. 

1.1 9 "Series Seed Preferred Stock" means the Company's Series Seed Preferred Stock, 
par value US$0.000J per share 

2. Purchase and Sale of Notes. In exchange for the Consideration paid by the Purchaser, the 
Company wil l sell and issue to such Purchaser one or more Notes. Each Note will have a principal 
balance equal to that portion of the Consideration paid by such Purchaser for such Note. 

3. Closings. 

3. I Initial C los ing. The init ial closing of the sale o f the Notes in return for the 
Consideration paid by the Purchaser (the "Initial Closing") wil I take place remotely via the 
exchange of documents and s ignatures on the date of this Agreement, or al such other time and place 
as the Company and the Purchaser agree upon orally or in writing. At the Initial C losing, the 
Purchaser will deliver the Consideration to the Company and the Company w ill deliver to the 
Purchaser one or more executed Notes in return for the respective Consideration provided to the 
Company. 

3.2 Subsequent Closings. In any subsequent closing (each a "Subsequent Closing"), the 
Company may sell add itional Notes subject to the terms of this Agreement to any purchaser as it wi ll 
select. Any subsequent purchasers of Notes wi ll become parties to, and will be entitled to receive 
Notes in accordance with, this Agreement. Each Subsequent Closing wi ll take place remotely via the 
exchange of documents and signatures or at such locations and at such times as wi ll be mutually 
agreed upon orally or in writing by the Company and such purchasers of additional Notes. 

4. Convers ion. Each Note will be convertible into Conversion Shares pursuant to this Section 4. 
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4.1 Next Equity Financing Conversion. The principal balance and unpaid accrued interest 
on each Note will automatically convert into Conversion Shares upon the closing of the Next Equity 
Financing. The number of Conversion Shares the Company issues upon such conversion will equal 
the quotient (rounded down to the nearest whole share) obtained by dividing (x) the outstanding 
principal balance and unpaid accrued interest under each converting Note on the date of conversion 
by (y) the applicable Conversion Price. J\t least three (3) days prior to the closing of the Next Equity 
Financing, the Company will notify the ho lder of each Note in writing of the terms of the Equity 
Securities that arc expected to be issued in such financing. The issuance of Conversion Shares 
pursuant to the conversion of each Note will be on, and subject to, the same terms and cond itions 
applicable to the Equity Securities issued in the Next Equity rinancing. 

4.2 Corporate Transaction Conversion. In the event of a Corporate Transaction prior to 
the conversion of a Note pursuant to Section 4.1 or Section 4.3 or the repayment of such Note, at the 
closing of such Corporate Transaction, the holder of each Note may elect that either: (a) the 
Company will pay the holder of such Note an amount equal to the sum of (x) all accrued and unpaid 
interest due on such Note and (y) the outstanding principal balance of such Note; or (b) such Note 
will convert into that number of Conversion Shares equal to the quotient (rounded down to the 
nearest whole share) obtained by dividing (x) the outstanding principal bal ance and unpaid accrued 
interest of such Note on the date of conversion by (y) the appl icable Conversion Price. 

4.3 Maturity Conversion. J\t any time on or after the Maturity Date, at the election of the 
Requisite Noteholdcrs, each Note will convert into that number of Conversion Shares equal to the 
quotient (rounded down to the nearest whole share) obtained by dividing (x) the outstanding 
principal balance and unpaid accrued interest of such Note on the date of such conversion by (y) the 
applicable Conversion Price. 

4.4 Mechanics of Conversion. 

(a) Financing Agreements. The Purchaser acknowledges that the conversion of 
the Notes into Conversion Shares pursuant to Section 4.1 may require such Purchaser's 
execution of certain agreements relating to the purchase and sale of the Conversion Shares, as 
well as registration rights, rights of first refusal and co-sale, rights of first offer and voting 
rights, if any, relating to such securities (collectively, the "Financing Agreements"). The 
Purchaser agrees to execute al l of the Financing Agreements in connection with a Next Equity 
Financing. 

(b) Certi ficatcs. J\ s promptly as practicable after the conversion of each Note and 
the issuance of the Conversion Shares, the Company (at its expense) will issue and deliver to 
the ho lder thereof a certificate or certificates, which may be in paper or electronic form, 
evidencing the Conversion Shares (if certificated), or if the Conversion Shares arc not 
certificated, wi ll deliver a true and correct copy of the Company's share register reflecting the 
Conversion Shares held by such holder. The Company will not be required to issue or deliver 
the Conversion Shares until the holder of such Note has surrendered the Note to the Company 
(or provided an instrument of cancellation or affidavit of loss). The convers ion of the Notes 
pursuant to Section 4.1 and Section 4.2 may be made contingent upon the closing of the Next 
Equity Financing and Corporate Transaction, respectively. 

5. Representations and Warranties of the Company. In connection with the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement, the Company hereby represents and warrants to the Purchaser as 

follows: 
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5.1 Due Organization; Qualification and Good Standing. The Company is a public benefit 
corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of 
Delaware and has all requisite corporate power and authority to carry on its business as now 
conducted. The Company is duly qualified to transact business and is in good standing in each 
jurisdiction in which the failure to so qualify or to be in good standing would have a material adverse 
effect on the Company. 

5.2 J\uthorization and Enforceability. Except for the authorization and issuance of the 
Conversion Shares, all corporate action has been taken on the part of the Company and its officers 
and directors necessary for the authorizat ion, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the 
Notes. Except as may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or s imilar 
laws relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights, the Company has taken all 
corporate action required to make all of the obligations of the Company renccted in the provisions of 
this J\grecmcnt and the Notes valid and enforceable in accordance with their terms. 

6. Representations and Warranties of the Purchaser. In connection wi th the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement, the Purchaser hereby represents and warrants to the Company as 
follows: 

6.1 J\uthorization. The Purchaser has full power and authority (and, if such Purchaser is 
an individual, the capacity) to enter into this J\grccment and to perform all obl igations required to be 
performed by it hereunder. This Agreement, when executed and delivered by the Purchaser, will 
constitute such Purchaser 's valid and legally binding obligation, enforceable in accordance w ith its 
terms, except (a) as limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, 
fraudulent conveyance and any other laws of general application affecting enforcement of credito rs' 
rights generally, and (b) as limited by laws relating to the availability of specific performance, 
injunctive relief or other equitable remedies. 

6.2 [Intentionally Omitted] 

6.3 Disclosure of Information; Non-Reliance. The Purchaser acknowledges that it has 
received al l the information it considers necessary or appropriate to enable it to make an informed 
decis ion concerning an investment in the Securities. The Purchaser further represents that it has had 
an opportunity to ask questions and receive answers from the Company regarding the terms and 
conditions of the offering of the Securities. The Purchaser confirms that the Company has not given 
any guarantee or representation as to the potential success, return, effect o r benefit (either legal, 
regulatory, tax, financial, accounting or otherwise) of an investment in the Securities . In deciding to 
purchase the Securities, the Purchaser is not relying on the advice or recommendations of the 
Company and such Purchaser has made its own independent decision that the investment in the 
Securities is suitable and appropriate for such Purchaser. The Purchaser understands that no federal 
or state agency has passed upon the merits or risks of an investment in the Securities or made any 
finding or determination concerning the fairness or advisability of this investment. 

6.4 

6.5 

[Intentionally Omitted] 

[Intentionally Omitted] 

6.6 Investment Representation. Purchaser understands that the Notes have not been 
registered under the Securities J\ct. Purchaser also understands that the Notes arc being offered and 
sold pursuant to an exemption from registration contained in the Securi ties J\ct based in part upon 
Purchaser's representations contained in this Purchase J\greemcnt. 
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6.7 

6.8 

(Intentionally Omitted] 

flntcntionally Omitted] 

6.9 II liquidity and Continued Economic Risk. Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that 
there is no ready public market for the Securities and that there is no guarantee that a market for their 
resale will ever exist. Purchaser must bear the economic risk of this investment indefinitely and the 
Company has no obligation to list the Securities on any market or take any steps (including 
registration under the Securities Act or the Securities Exchange /\ct of 1934, as amended) with 
respect to facilitating trading or resale of the Securities. Purchaser acknowledges that Purchaser is 
able to bear the economic risk of losing Purchaser's entire investment in the Securities. Purchaser 
also understands that an investment in the Company involves significant risks and has taken full 
cognizance of and understands all of the risk factors relating to the purchase of Securities. 

6.10 Resales. Purchaser agrees that during the one-year period beginning on the date on 
which it acquired Securities pursuant to this Subscription Agreement, it shall not transfer such 
Securities except: 

(a) To the Company; 

(b) To an "accredited investor" within the meaning of Ruic 501 of Regulation D 
under the Securities Act; 

(c) As part of an offering registered under the Securities Act with the SEC; or 

( d) To a member of the Purchaser's fami ly or the equivalent, to a trust controlled 
by the Purchaser, to a trust created for the benefit of a member of the family of the Purchaser 
or equivalent, or in connection with the death or divorce of the Purchaser or other sim ilar 
circumstance. 

6. 11 Valuation. The Purchaser acknowledges that the price of the Securities was set by the 
Crowdfunding Issuer on the basis of the Crowdfunding Issuer's internal valuation and no warranties 
arc made as to value. The Purchaser further acknowledges that future offerings of Securities may be 
made at lower valuations, with the result that the Purchaser's investment will bear a lower valuation. 

7. Miscellaneous. 

7.1 Successors and Assigns. Except as otherwise provided herein, the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement will inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the respective 
successors and assigns of the parties; provided, however, that the Company may not assign its 
obligations under this Agreement without the written consent of the Requisite Notcholdcrs. This 
Agreement is for the sole benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted 
assigns, and nothing herein, express or implied, is intended to or will confer upon any other person 
or entity any legal or equitable right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason 

of this Agreement. 

7.2 Choice of Law. This Agreement and the Notes, and all matters arising out of or 
relating to this Agreement or the Notes, whether sounding in contract, tort, or statute, will be 
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governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Delaware, without 
giving effect to the conilict of laws provisions thereof to the extent such principles or rules would 
require or permit the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than those of the State of 
Delaware. If a dispute arises out of this this Agreement, the Notes, or any matter aris ing out of or 
relating to this Agreement or the Notes, the parties hereto agree to exclusive jurisdiction and venue 
in the state or federal cow1s of Travis County, Austin, Texas. 

7.3 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which will be 
deemed an original, but all of which together will be deemed to be one and the same agreement. 
Counterparts may be delivered via facsimile, email (including PDF or any electronic signature 
complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, e.g., www.docusign.com) or other transmission 
method, and any counterpart so delivered will be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered 
and be valid and effective for all purposes. 

7.4 T itles and Subtitles. The titles and subtitles used in this Agreement are included for 
convenience only and arc not to be considered in construing or interpreting this Agreement. 

7.5 Notices. All notices and other communications given or made pursuant hereto will be 
in writing and will be deemed effectively g iven: (a) upon personal delivery to the party to be 
notified; (b) when sent by email or confirmed facsimile; (c) five (5) days after having been sent by 
registered or certified mail , return receipt requested, postage prepaid; or (d) one (I) day after deposit 
with a nationally recognized overnight courier, specifying next day delivery, with written 
verification of receipt. /\ II communications w ill be sent to the respective parties at the addresses 
shown on the signature pages hereto (or to such email address, facsimile number or other address as 
subsequently modified by written notice given in accordance with this Section 7.5). 

7.6 No Finder's Fee. Each party represents that it neither is nor wil l be obligated to pay 
any finder's fee, broker's fee or commission in connection wi th the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement. The Purchaser agrees to indemnify and to hold the Company harmless from any liability 
for any commission or compensation in the nature of a ti ndcr' s or broker's fee aris ing out of the 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement (and the costs and expenses of defending against such 
liabil ity or asse11cd liability) for which the Purchaser or any of its officers, employees or 
representatives is responsible. The Company agrees to indemnify and hold the Purchaser harmless 
from any liability for any commission or compensation in the nature of a finder 's or broker's fee 
arising out of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (and the costs and expenses of 
defending against such liability or asserted I iabil ity) for which the Company or any of its officers, 
employees or representatives is respons ible. 

7. 7 Expenses. The party will pay all costs and expenses that it incurs with respect to the 
negotiation, execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement. 

7.8 Attorneys' recs. If any action at law or in equity is necessary to enforce or interpret 
the terms of this Agreement, the prevailing party will be entitled to reasonable attorneys' fees, costs 
and necessary disbursements in addition to any other relief to which such party may be entitled. 

7.9 Entire Agreement: Amendments and Waivers. This Agreement, the Notes and the 
other documents del ivered pursuant hereto constitute the full and entire understanding and agreement 
between the patties with regard to the subjects hereof and thereof. Notwithstanding the forego ing, 
any term of this Agreement or the Notes may be amended and the observance of any term of this 
Agreement or the Notes may be waived (either generally or in a particular instance and either 
retroactively or prospectively) wi th the written consent of the Company and the Requisite 
Notcholdcrs. Any waiver or amendment effected in accordance with this Section 7.9 will be binding 
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upon each party to this Agreement and each holder of a Note purchased under this J\greement then 
outstanding and each future holder of all such Notes. 

7.10 Effect of Amendment or Waiver. The Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that by the 
operation of Section 7.9 hereof, the Requis ite Noteholders will have the right and power to diminish 
or eliminate all rights of such Purchaser under this J\greement and each Note issued to such 
Purchaser. 

7.1 1 Scverability. If one or more provisions of this Agreement are held to be unenforceable 
under applicable law, such provisions will be excluded from this J\greement and the balance of the 
J\greement will be interpreted as if such provis ions were so excluded and this Agreement will be 
enforceable in accordance w ith its terms. 

7 .12 Trans fer Restrictions. 

(a) "Market Stand-Off' J\grecmcnt. The Purchaser hereby agrees that it will not, 
without the prior wri tten consent of the managing underwriter, during the period commencing 
on the date of the final prospectus relating to the Company's first underwrilten public offering 
(the "IPO'') of its Common Stock under the Securities /\ct, and ending on the date specified 
by the Company and the managing undcrwritcr(s) (such period not to exceed one hundred 
eighty ( 180) days, or such other period as may be requested by the Corn pany or an underwriter 
to accommodate regulatory restrictions on (i) the publication or other distribution of research 
reports, and (ii) analyst recommendations and opinions): (J\) lend; offer; pledge; sell; contract 
to sell; sell any option or contract to purchase; purchase any option or contract to sell; grant 
any option, right, or warrant to purchase; or otherwise transfer or dispose of, directly or 
indirectly, any shares of Common Stock or any securities convertible into or exercisable or 
exchangeable (directly or indirectly) for Common Stock (whether such shares or any such 
securities arc then owned by the Purchaser or arc thereafter acquired); or (B) enter into any 
swap or other arrangement that transfers to another, in whole or in part, any of the economic 
consequences of ownership or such securities; whether any such transaction described in 
clause (A) or (B) above is to be settled by delivery of Common Stock or other securi ties, in 
cash, or otherwise. The foregoing provisions of this Section 7. 12(a) w ill : (x) apply only to the 
!PO and wi ll not apply to the sale of any shares to an underwriter pursuant to an underwriting 
agreement; (y) not apply to the transfer of any shares to any trust for the direct or indirect 
benefit of the Purchaser or the immediate fam ily of the Purchaser, provided that the trustee of 
the trust agrees to be bound in writing by the restrictions set forth herein, and provided further 
that any such transfer will not involve a disposition for value; and (z) be applicable to the 
Purchase only if a ll officers and directors of the Company arc subject to the same restrictions 
and the Company uses commercially reasonable efforts to obtain a similar agreement from all 
stockholders ind ividually owning more than 5% of the outstanding Common Stock. 
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary (including, for the avoidance of doubt, 
Section 7.1 ), the underwriters in connection with the IPO arc intended third-party beneficiaries 
of this Section 7 .12(a) and will have the right, power and authority to en force the provisions 
hereof as though they were a patty hereto. The Purchaser fu1ther agrees to execute such 
agreements as may be reasonably req uested by the underwriters in connection wi th the !PO 
that are consistent with this Section 7. l 2(a) or that arc necessary to give further effect thereto. 

In order to enforce the foregoing covenant, the Company may impose s top 
transfer instructions with respect to the Purchaser's registrable securities of the Company (and 
the Company shares or securities of every other person subject to the foregoing restriction) 
until the end of such period. The Purchaser agrees that a legend reading substantially as 
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follows may be placed on a ll certificates representing a ll of such Purchaser' s registrable 
securities of the Company (and the Company shares or securities of every other person subject 
to the restriction contained in this Section 7. I 2(a)): 

T HE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY T HIS CERTIFICATE ARE 
SUBJECT TO A LOCK-UP PERIOD BEGINNING ON Tl IE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE 
COMPANY'S REGISTRATION STAT EMENT FILED UNDER THE SECURIT IES ACT 
OF 1933, AS AMENDED, /\S SET FORT I l IN /\N AGREEMENT BETWEEN TI IE 
COMPANY AND TIIE ORIGINAL IIOLDER O F THESE SECURITI ES, A COPY OF 
WI IICI I M/\ Y BE OI3T/\INED /\T TJIE COMPANY'S PRINCIPAL OFflCE. SUCI I 
LOCK-UP PERIOD IS BINDING ON TR/\NSfEREES O F Tl IESE SECURITIES. 

(b) Further Limitations on Disposition. Without in any way limiting the 
representations and warranties set forth in this Agreement, the Purchaser agrees not to make 
any disposition of all or any portion of the Securities unless and unti l the transferee has agreed 
in writing for the benefit of the Company to make the representations and warranties set out in 
Section 6 and the undertaking set out in Section 7. 12(a) of this Agreement and: 

(i) there is then in effect a registration statement under the Securities Act 
covering such proposed disposition, and such disposition is made in connection with 
such regist ration statement; or 

(ii) such Purchaser has(/\) notified the Company of the proposed 
disposition; (B) furnished the Company with a detailed statement of the circumstances 
surrounding the proposed disposition; and (C) if requested by the Company, furnished 
the Company with an opinion of counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Company that 
such d isposition w ill not require registration under the Securities /\ct. 

The Purchaser agrees that it will not make any disposition of any of the 
Securities to the Company's competitors, as determined in good faith by the Company. 

(c) I Intentionally Om itted) 

(d) Restrictions on Transfer of Conversion Shares. The Purchaser understands 
and acknowledges that (i) the Conversion Shares may be subj ect to additional restrictions on 
transfer, (ii) the Common Stock and Series Seed Preferred Stock arc subject to a right of 
refusal option in favor of the Company and/or its assignee(s), as provided in the /\.mended and 
Restated By laws of the Company, as may be amended from time to time (the "Bylaws"), (iii) 
the Common Stock and Series Seed Preferred Stock may not be transferred without the 
consent of the Company, as provided in the Bylaws, and (iv) the Bylaws may be amended 
from time to time in a manner that may alter such right of first refusal option or transfer 
restrictions on the Common Stock or Series Seed Preferred Stock or include or add restrictions 
with respect to any of the Conversion Shares. 

7. 13 Voting Proxy. The Purchaser shall appoint the Chief Executi ve Officer of the 
Company (the "CEO"), or his or her successor, as the Purchaser's true and lawful proxy and 
attorney, with the power to act alone and with fu ll power of substitution, to, consistent with this 
instrument and on behalf of the Purchaser, (i) vote all Securities held of record by Purchaser 
(including any shares of the Company ' s capital stock that the Purchaser may acqui re in the future), 
(ii) give and receive notices and communications, (ii i) execute any written consent, instrument or 
document that the CEO determines is necessary or appropriate at the CEO's complete discretion, and 
(iv) take all actions necessary or appropriate in the judgment of the CEO for the accomplishment of 
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the foregoing. The proxy and power granted by the Purchaser pursuant to this Section 7. I 3 arc 
coupled with an interest. Such proxy and power wil l be irrevocable . The proxy and power, so long as 
the Purchaser is an individual, w ill survive the death, incompetency and disabi lity of the Purchaser 
and, so long as the Purchaser is an entity, will survive the merger or reorganization of the Purchaser 
or any other entity holding the Securities. Such proxy shall be bindi ng upon the heirs, estate, 
executors, personal representatives, successors and assigns of the Purchaser (including any transferee 
of any Purchaser); any transferee receiving the Purchaser's Securities ( or any portion thereof) shall 
agree to be bound by the provisions of this Section 7. 13. I lowcver, the proxy w ill terminate upon the 
clos ing of a firm-commitment underwritten public offering pursuant to an effective registration 
statement unde r the Securities J\ct covering the offer and sale of Common Stock or the effectiveness 
of a registration statement under the Exchange Act covering the Common Stock. If any provision of 
this proxy or any part of any this Section 7 .1 3 is held under any circumstances lo be inval id or 
unenforceable in any jurisdiction, then (a) such provis ion o r part thereof shall, with respect to such 
circumstances and in such j urisdiction, be deemed amended to conform to appl icable laws so as to be 
valid and enforceable to the fullest possible extent, (b) the invalidity or unenforceability of such 
provision or part thereof under such circumstances a nd in such jurisdiction shall not affect the 
val idity or enforceability of such provision or part thereof under any other circumstances or in any 
other jurisdiction, and (c) the invalid ity or unenforceabili ty of such provision or part the reof shall not 
affect the validity o r enforceability of the remainder of such provision o r the validity or 
enforceability of any o ther provision of this proxy. Each provision of this proxy is separable from 
every other provision of this proxy, and each part of each provis ion of this proxy is separable from 
every other part of such provision. 

7. 14 Exculpation. The Purchaser acknowledges that it is not relying upon any person, firm , 
corporation or stockholder, other than the Company and its officers and directors in their capacities 
as such, in making its investment or decis ion to invest in the Company. The Purchaser agrees that no 
other Purchaser, nor the controlling persons, officers, directors, partners, agents, stockholders or 
employees of any other Purchaser, w ill be liable for any action heretofore or hereafter taken or not 
taken by any of them in connection with the purchase and sale of the Securities. 

7. I 5 Acknowledgment. For the avoidance o f doubt, it is acknowledged that the Purchaser 
will be entitled to the benefit of all adjustments in the number of shares of the Company's capital 
stock as a result of any splits, recapitafo,,ations, combinations or other s im ilar transactions affecting 
the Company's capital stock underlying the Conversion Shares that occur prior to the conversion of 
the Notes. 

7. 16 Further Assurances. From time to time, the pa1iies will execute and deliver such 
addi tional documents and will provide such additional information as may reasonably be required to 
carry out the terms of this Agreement and the Notes and any agreements executed in connection 
herewith o r therewith. 

7.17 Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH PARTY I IEREBY W J\IVES ITS RIG! ITS TO A JURY 
TRIAL OF ANY CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION BASED UPON OR ARISING OUT OF TlllS 
AGREEMENT, Tl IE SECURITIES OR THE SUBJECT MA TIER HEREOF OR THEREOF. THE 
SCOPE OF TllIS WAIVER IS INTENDED TO BE ALL-ENCOMPASSING OF ANY J\ND J\LL 
DISPUTES THI\ T MAY BE FILED IN ANY COURT AND THI\ T RELATE TO THE SUBJECT 
MATTER OF Tl llS TRANSACTION, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, CONTRACT 
CLAIMS, TORT C LAIMS ( INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE), BR.EJ\Cll OF DUTY CLAI MS, AND 
J\LL OTII ER COMMON LJ\W AND STATUTORY CLAIMS. TIII S SECTION IIAS BEEN 
FULLY DISCUSSED BY EJ\CI I OF Tl IE PARTIES I IERETO AND Tl IESE PROVISIONS WILL 
NOT BE SUBJECT TO J\NY EXCEPT IONS. EACI I PJ\RTY IIERETO llEREBY FUR.Tl !ER 
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REPRESENTS AND WARRANTS TIIAT SUCII PARTY IIAS REVIEWED TlllS WAIVER 
WITH ITS LEGAL COUNSEL, AND THAT SUCII PARTY KNOWINGLY AND 
VOLUNTARILY WAIVES ITS JURY TRIAL RIGHTS rOLLOWING CONSULT/\ T ION WITI I 
LEGAL COUNSEL. 

[S IGNATURE PJ\GE rOLLOWSl 
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IN WITNESS WI-IEREOf-, the pa11ies hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date set fo1ih above. 

HEROIC ENT ERPRISES, PUBLIC BENEFIT 
CORPORATION 

By: 
Name: Brian Johnson 
T it le: CEO 

Address: 
990 1 Brodie Lane 
Suite I 60 # 1388 
Austin, Texas 78748 

Emai l Address: invest@ heroic.us 

I IEROIC CF SPY, LLC 
By I leroic Enterprises, Public Benefit 
Corporation, its Manager 

Name: Brian Johnson 
Tille: CEO 

Address: 
9901 Brodie Lane 
Suite I 60 # 1388 
Austin, Texas 78748 

Emai l Address: invest@ heroic.us 

[Note Purchase Agreement - Heroic Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation} 



EXHIBIT A 

Form of Senior Convertible Promissory Note 

THIS INSTRUMENT AND THE SECURITIES ISSUABLE UPON TIIE CONVERSION 1-11:REOF 
I IA VE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER TlIE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE 
"/\CT'). THE SECURJTIES ISSUABLE UPON TI IE CONVERSION I IEREOF MAY BE SUBJECT TO 
RIGHTS OF RErUSAL OR RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER. 

SENIOR CONVERTIBLE PROMISSORY NOTE 

No. SCN-[NUMBER] 

US$[PRINCIPAL AMOUNT] 

Date of Issuance: 

[DATE] 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, Heroic Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation, a Delaware public 
benefit corporation (the "Company"), hereby prom ises to pay to the order of[PURCI 1/\SER NAME] (the 
"Holder"), the principal sum of US$1_PRINCIP AL AMOUNTJ, together with interest thereon from the date 
of this Note. Interest wi ll accrue at a simple rate of four percent (4%) per annum. Unless earlier converted 
into Conversion Shares pursuant to Section 4 of that certain Senior Convertible Note Purchase Agreement 
dated as of __ , 2022, by and among the Company, the Holder and the other parties thereto (the 
"Purchase Agreement"), the principal and accrued interest o f this Note wi ll be due and payable by the 
Company at any time on or after the Maturity Date at the Company's election or upon demand by the 
Requisite Notcholdcrs. 

T his Note is one of a series of Notes issued pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, and capitalized 
terms not defined herein will have the meanings set forth in the Purchase Agreement. 

I. Payment. All payments will be made in lawful money of the United States of America at the 
principal office of the Company, or at such other place as the I lo Ider may from time to time designate in 
writing to the Company. Payment will be credited first to accrued interest due and payable, with any 
remainder applied to principal. Prepayment of principal, together with accrued interest, may not be made 
without the written consent of the Requisite Noteholders, except in the event of a Corporate Transaction 
(as set forth in Section 4.2(a) of the Purchase Agreement). 

2. Ranking. The indebtedness evidenced by this Note and the other Notes is a general unsecured 
obligation of the Company; provided, however, that the indebtedness evidenced by this Note and the other 
Notes, and the payment of the principal amount hereof and thereof and the interest hereon and thereon, 
shall be Senior (as defined below) to, and have priority in right of payment over, the indebtedness evidenced 
by the Existing Notes (as defined below). "Senior" shall be deemed to mean that, in the event of any 
default in the payment of the obligations represented by the Notes or of any liquidation, insolvency, 
bankruptcy, reorganization, or s imila r proceedings relating to the Company, all sums payable on the Notes 
shall first be paid in full, with interest, if any, before any payment is made upon the Existing Notes. 
"Existing Notes" means the notes issued pursuant to the Convertible Note Purchase Agreement dated as of 
November 30, 202 1, by and among the Company and the other noteholdcrs party thereto, as may be 
amended from time to time. 

3. Conversion of the Notes. This Note and any amounts due hereunder wil l be convertible into 
Conversion Shares in accordance with the terms of Section 4 of the Purchase Agreement. 



4. J\mendments and Waivers: Resolutions of Dispute; Notice . The amendment or waiver of any 
term of this Note, the resolution of any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Note and the 
provis ion of notice among the Company and the Holder will be governed by the terms of the Purchase 
J\greemcnt. 

5. Successors and Assigns. This Note applies to, inures to the benefit of, and binds the respective 
successors and assigns of the parties hereto; provided, however, that the Company may not assign its 
obligations under this Note without the written consent of the Requisite Noteholders. Any transfer of this 
Note may be effected only pursuant to the Purchase Agreement and by surrender of this Note to the 
Company and reissuance ofa new note to the transferee. The Ilolder and any subsequent holder of this Note 
receives this Note subject to the foregoing terms and conditions, and agrees to comply with the foregoing 
terms and conditions for the benefit of the Company and any other purchasers ( or their respective successors 
or assigns). 

6. Officers and Directors not Liable. In no event will any of(iccr or director or the Company be 
liable for any amounts due and payable pursuant to this Note. 

7. Limitation on Interest. In no event will any interest charged, collected or reserved under this 
Note exceed the maximum rate then permitted by appl icable law, and if any payment made by the Company 
under this Note exceeds such maximum rate, then such excess sum will be credited by the Holders as a 
payment of principal. 

8. Choice of Law: Venue. This Note, and all matters arising out of or relating to this Note, whether 
sounding in contract, tort, or statute, will be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws 
of the State of Delaware, without g iving effect to the conflict of laws provisions thereof to the extent such 
principles or rules would require or permit the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than those 
of the State or Delaware. lf a dispute arises out of this Note or any matter aris ing out of or relating to this 
Note, the parties hereto agree to exclusive jurisdiction and venue in the state or federal courts of Travis 
County, Austin, Texas. 

9. Approval. The Company hereby represents that its board of directors, in the exercise of its 
fiduciary duty, has approved the Company' s execution of this Note based upon a reasonable belief that the 
principal provided hereunder is appropriate for the Company after reasonable inquiry concerning the 
Company's financing objectives and financial situation. In addition, the Company hereby represents that it 
intends to use the principal of this Note primarily for the operations of its business, and not for any personal, 
family or household purpose. 

I IEROIC ENTERPRISES, PUBLIC BENEFIT 
CORPORATION 

I3y: 
Name: Brian Johnson 
Title: CEO 



WEFUNDER Explore Q Search 

IN VEST IN HE ROIC PUBLIC BENEFIT 

CORPORATION 

Raise FAQ 

We're creating a social platform 
that trains heroes 

FIRST GIJAL HIT ('>ou ca, stdl 111,cs~) 

$514,857 

INVEST 

Login Signup 

41 Sha re 



ll'JVL"':1Vi.:lll ILEI IS V 

20% discount, $SOM cap, senior convertible notes 

Custom Contract 

I',, I• 11 • I I l Technology PBC SB Corp B2C 

OVERVIEW DETAILS UPDATES WHAT PEOPLE SAV AS~. A OUl:ST!u'J 

Highlights 

0 Made history in Mar '21 as first company to close a $SM Reg CF w/ 2,400+ 

investors from 75 countries 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

Partnered with Metalab (Slack, Tinder, Uber Eats) to create world-class social 

training platform 

Launched platform in Apr '22 w/ 10,000+ Founding Members; 4.8-star avg rating 

on iOS + Android 

Pilot study (n=1053) shows Heroic can help boost energy, productivity, and 

connection 

Acquired Optimize, integrating content and Coach into one Heroic app; $2.SM 

trailing 12-mo cash rev 

Founder/CEO 2x successful entrepreneur; built and sold 2 market-leading social 

platforms 



uur t-ounaer 

Brian Johnson 

Raised $20M+, built and sold two market-leading socia l platforms. Created a 
protocol that has been shown to change lives. Uniquely positioned to create a social 
training platform that is an answer to The Socia l Dilemma. 

We're committed to changing the world by 
helping people be the best, most Heroic 
versions of themselves. 

HEROIC IS AN AMAZING COMPANY 
AND BRIAN IS A TRULY VISIONARY, 
MISSION-DRIVEN CEO. VERY FEW 
COMPANIES CAN BLEND BOTH A 
STRONG PROFIT BUSINESS MODEL 
WITH A BROAD PLATFORM TO 
SIGNIFICANTLY IMPROVE THE HUMAN 
CONDITION. I AM PROUD TO BE A 
PERSONAL INVESTOR. 

MATT MCCAll , PARTNER AT PRITZKER GROUP V(NTURE CAPlrAL, 
VOTEO ONE Of THE TOP 100 VCS Ill TIIE WORLD 

Hi, this is Brian Johnson. · 

I'm the Founder + CEO of Heroic Public Benefit Corporation. 



I appreciate you taking the time to learn more about Heroic. I'd like to give you a 

quick overview of the biz as we currently see it. We have two versions: The Short 

Story and The Longer Story. 

Note: If you are an accredited investor interested in investing over $25,000, you 

can let us know via this link and we will follow up to discuss the opportunity to 

invest via our Reg D offering. 

Before we move on, here's a little video from Matt McCall, one of my dear friends 

and closest advisors describing why he has invested in Heroic and inviting you to 

consider investing as well: 

With that, it's time for ... 

The Short Story 

We're building a social training platform to help people be the best, most Heroic 

versions of themselves. 



Unlike most social platforms that are designed to increase user engagement (so 

they can make more money via advertising), Heroic is designed to effectively and 

measurably change people's lives. We aim to leverage the best of social 

technology and leave the worst behind. (Think: An answer to The Social 

Dilemma.) 

Further, and very importantly, our platform integrates a "training" component to 

help people move from Theory to Practice to Mastery Together TODAY. 

. Being the best in the world at helping people do that is how we believe we can 

change the world-one person at a time, together, starting with you and me and 

us today 

In early 2021, with the support of over 2,400 investors from 75 countries around 

the world, Heroic made history as the very first company to ever close a $SM Reg 

CF as part of our $10M Seed Round. 

Then we partnered with MetaLab (the world-class product development 

company that helped create Slack, Tinder, and Uber Eats) to help us design our 

Heroic social training platform. 

You can check out our website here and download the iOS aP-P- here and the 

Android ai:n1 here. 

At the time of this writing, our average rating on both app stores is 4.8 stars out 

of 5.0. Here's a link to check out all the reviews on iOS and here's a link for 

Android. And, here are the three "Most Helpful" reviews on iOS as determined 

by Apple's algorithm: 

Ratings & Reviews 

Perfect daily reminder to the 
commitment,; you made to yourself 

Tile HetotC .lf>P dS~.s you every s.nglc morning 
10 re•comrni110 your virtues and fT\ICro goals/ 
1ar9ots , At 1,r1t I though! lh.ll might be a httlc 
;mnoy1n9, but I added' it 10 my exisl10Q d111ly .. . , -. . '.. .. 

Ratings & Review s 

Thanb 8ri,1n and Team Heroic 

I became inteiesteu 111 Qpt11me and ttien 
Her04e wtvle 1ry1ng to master a specific: se-t ol 
habns using so,eadsllee1s and To Do ;pos 3S 
triQQNS I nQl!decl a w;.y to hold myself 
accouornbla, wtule us•ng coch gain to pt<;pel 
m(' foflN:wd I was cautiously ho~ful th..·u 

Ratings & Reviews 

Heroic is life ch:1nging! 

1'110 b ()on o l .::in 8, f o llower o l Rri:i.n'o. w,,A t:i.,eo 

: tumbling up,on Ph1los.ophcr·$ Uolei 8 "+ yen,s 

ago. 1've dovoted my career to teaching coursu 
on soc,al en1te()lene1.1ri t11() & su\t;:url,lble 
1>1,1smess, so I love that Herote Is both a certified 
6 Corp and a Public acnel1t Corpo,auon. 



a1nrmauon~ naon ana marK mem 011 as a say 
1t1om to myself in ttw mirror. After a few days 1 
really understood the 'why' behind doing that 11 
you aren't reminding yourself who you want to 

be and Ulf identilv 1•ou wmt to build on a daily 
b3,is. rt'-.: very easy to forget about tho~e things 
:ind this ;.1pp revlly rosets you on tho right 
covrse every nwrning. l 'rn completely 
paraphrasing but Brian commented during tho 

t.w stream bunch party Ulilt he too wouk:t find 
it hard to meet tus New Years resotutOOs ,f he 
didn't rem,nd himself of his 1arge1s every day, 

rm vl}ry thankful l hat Bnan and te3m built t tiis 
app to help all of us optimize :.nd actu:ilize w,tt,1 

1.ilso can sec how committed tha team is to 

continua.I impc-ovemenl and op11m1ut1on or 1he 
.lPP, and I'm cxc1tod 10 see what they rolt OUI 
ne>ct for us: 

Ocvck>pcr Response 

Thanks. Hero!! • Team Hef01c 

Thanks Brian and Team Heroic 

• Q 

Heroi c could be hthat" technology . To my 
supreme delight Heroic delivers au 1hat I hoped 

for and more. The aoo Is b3scd on ur.lversal 
pnnc,plcs that can be easily pcnonahzed. 

These are the habits and principles I aspire to in 
the deepest pan of my soul. so it's a foy for me 
to achieve them each day. Most importantly on 
those days when I'm not 100¾ 1t helps me w01k 
tow3fdS being my best anyw1y ~ Y days .Jre 
more productive and balancod than en,. The 

aJ)o l'i elegantly designed and easily 
cvstomit.ible. t·m 10 grateful (swiping right..lol) 

that Brian an<:l the Hctoic team have develOf)Cd 
this innovative way use tecnnology for both lhe 
1nciiwiual ana greater good 

Developer Response 

Thanks. Nap Thah! • Team Heroic. 

Heroic is life changing! ...... 
I've been a fan & follower of Orian's work since 
stumbling opon PhJlosophcr'1 Notes 8+ years 

Q 

t wanted 10 part1cip•l e 11, Optimize Coach 
Traimng since Cl.iss I was annour1ced in 2018. I 
¥.OS beyond grateful to be given a 5eflolar$hip 

to join Cius V in Spring 2021. gra~uating in 

January 2022- and immechtely boeln 
Advanct!d Coach Trai,i1ng, 

I'm ove, lhe moon lo be part of the Heroic 
community fas a Founding Uember) - learning 
& r,ractlclng with Bri3n. Ale)(andra. J.Aiehael. and 
the enhre Heroic team•• how to optimize the 
W".JY we ~loe?p, move, aat, brealh, focus, 

celebrate with gratitude, 3nd p,ospet (whieh 
literally means "'move forw.:,rd with hop::"), so 
that we show up as our bes1 selves \'hth our 

energy, work. and love . 

The new app is fantasuc. I 1)'1)~allv avoid aoD5. 
uyiog to minW11L1e use ol my ,Phone, find.no 1t 
ro~;cr & laster to gel Uungs done with rocu$ on 
my Mac .• but the new Heroic app is g,e.,I. It's 
SUPi!r speedy & easy to u!'.c, Admittedly I even 
enjoy the haptic feedback when the apo flrsl 
laonchcs. 

The team 3t Heroic are trulv heroes. sh11"11ng a 

light tor others. Ii you're on lhe fence about 
joining H(lr'01c, I'm conf1t.loot you 'll soon be glao 

& gratelul you did. 

Here's a look at what we've created since our first crowdfunding: 

With the capital from this crowdfunding and anticipated cash flow, we're fired 

up to ship the social side of our platform that MetaLab helped us design earlier 

this year. Here's a look at that: 



l'M THRILLED TO BE AN INVESTOR IN 
HEROIC! BRIAN IS UNSTOPPABLE AND 
I LOOK FORWARD TO SEEING THE 
IMPACT HEROIC WILL HAVE ON THE 
WORLD. 

NIR EYAL, AUTHOR OF HOOKED ANO 11/0ISTRACfABLE 



The Longer Story 

Now for the longer story ... 

We'll talk about our ultimate mission and I'll share some more details on how we 

plan to change the world one person at a time with our social training platform 

that helps people move from Theory to Practice to Mastery Together TODAY. 

We'll also talk about our two brand promises and the early data from a pilot study 

we conducted that shows how people can significantly increase their energy, 

productivity and connection in just minutes on our app per day. 

Then we'll talk about what you may see from your investment (you can invest as 

little as $100 or $500 or $1,000 dollars), as well as the risks of investing. 

Then we'll wrap it all up with an invitation to help us change the world. 

The Heroic Mission 

Let's start at the top with our ultimate mission. Actually, let's start with my left 

forearm on which I have tattooed our ultimate Heroic mission and 30-year goal. 

Studies show you're 42% more likely to achieve your goals if you write them 

down. A lot of people write their goals on a post-it note and put them up on their 

bathroom mirrors. I decided to put the goal to which I have dedicated my life 

somewhere I'll never miss it. 



I got that HEROIC tattoo on October 14th, 2021-within 48 hours of our design 

team at MetaLab finalizing our logo. We spent a few extra weeks getting it just 

right. As they made their final presentation, I asked, "Is that the final 

recommendation? Because I'm booking my appointment with the tattoo artist 

after this Zoon1." 

Then, a couple weeks later, I added the "51 I 2051" right above the "I" and the "C" 

in "HEROIC." 

That placement was deliberate. 

Every morning, as I begin my meditation practice, I look down at my arm and say 

to myself, "Hero, I see a world in which 51 % of humanity is flourishing by 2051." 

Then I look below the "IC" where I have "101 j lM." (Got that one on Father's 

Day, 2022-fun trip with the kids to show them what an all-in commitment looks 

like.) 

The "101" represents getting my Soul Force score to 101 and the "IM" represents 

helping YOU and lM other people get their Soul Force scores to 101 so we have a 

shot at fulfilling our ultimate mission of creating a world in which 51% of 

humanity is flourishing by 2051. 

So, there ya go. That's our ultimate mission. 51 I 2051. All in, folks. All in. 

btw: I borrowed that moonshot goal from Martin Seligman and his colleagues. 



When they launched the Positive Psychology movement in the year 2000, they 

said they wanted to help create a world in which 51% of the world's population 

was flourishing by the year 2051. 

The first time I heard that I thought, "Wow. The audacity!!" Now, I have 

dedicated my life to playing my role as well as I possibly can to help create a 

world in which 51 % of our population is flourishing by the year 2051. 

I AM INVESTING IN HEROIC BECAUSE I CARE 
ABOUT THE FUTURE OF OUR WORLD. THESE ARE 
EXTRAORDINARY TIMES AND THE CHALLENGES 
WE FACE ARE UNPRECEDENTED; TO DEAL WITH 
THESE CHALLENGES WE DESPERATELY NEED 
EXTRAORDINARY LEADERS. AND THIS IS WHAT 
HEROIC IS All ABOUT: PREPARING US AS 
INDIVIDUALS AND AS A SOCIETY TO NAVIGATE 
THE ROUGH TERRAIN AND EMERGE STRONGER 
AND BETTER AS A RESULT. 

TAL BEH-SHAHA R. OCST-Sllll~G M IHO R or HAPPl[R. 
TAUGH T LARG EST CLASS Ill II AR VARD 'S li lSTORV 

Before we talk about how we intend to fulfill our mission in the years and 

decades ahead, I'd like to ask you a question ... 

Training Heroes 

Do you happen to know what the word hero means? 

It's an ancient Greek word. Etymologically, the word hero doesn't mean "killer of 
• , • 'f ., . 1 . • . - . 



bact guys" or "tough guy" or anything like that 1t. 1t means ".f:'KUT~CTU.K." 

A hero has strength for two. And, very importantly, a hero is willing to do the 

HARD work to HAVE that strength for two. 

And, do you know what the secret weapon of the ancient hero was? 

LOVE. 

It's LOVE that fuels our commitment to DO that hard work to HAVE the strength 

for two. It's LOVE that gives us the Courage to be willing to act in the presence of 

fear. It's LOVE that gives us the Self-Mastery to do what needs to get done 

whether we feel like it or not. 

We believe that our world needs heroes Today more than ever before. 

Quite simply: We need YOU to be a hero. 

We created Heroic Public Benefit Corporation to help train and connect and lead 

a virtuous army of heroes who can, literally, change the world. 

Btw. Longer branding chat but if you look closely at my tattoo and the Heroic 

mark in our logo and then look at the virtue compass in our app, you'll see that 

the mark is pointing toward the virtue of Love. 

IN ADDITION TO FAMILY, THIS IS ALL THAT MATTERS 
RIGHT NOW: A VIRTUE-DRIVEN FORCE TO DISRUPT 
THE WORLD. PERSONALLY, BEING A PROFESSIONAL 
INVESTOR IS OFTEN DEVOID OF A BIGGER MEANING. 
IT WOULD MEAN THE WORLD TO ME TO MAKE THE 
CONNECTION, IN A REAL WAY, BETWEEN WHAT I DO 
AND SOMETHING MUCH BIGGER AND MORE 
IMPORTANT THAN MYSELF. THIS CONNECTION 
WOULD BE AN INCREDIBLE SOURCE OF MEANING 
FOR MY LIFE. THIS HAS THE POTENTIAL TO BEND 
Tl■«" ... .,.. Ar •·••• .. ••HTV aun ur■ n r■u rn ■ T1.11r 
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POTENTIAL IN MILLIONS OF LIVES. 

ARTURO BRILLEHSOVRG, PROffSSIOHAL INVESTOR 
IIEROIC COACII • CLASS I GRAOUAIE 

Our Two Brand Promises 

A good business has a strong value proposition. A great business has a value 

proposition that is, in Steve Jobs' words, "insanely great." 

Or, as Peter Thiel puts it (in Zero to One), you want to deliver at least l0x more 

value on a specific, highly-differentiated value proposition than anyone else in 

your market so, ideally, you're the ONLY one doing what you're doing. 

So ... What's the ONE thing that we aspire to do better than anyone else in the 

world? 

Simple. We have committed ourselves to being the best we possibly can be at 

helping people move from THEORY to PRACTICE to MASTERY TOGETHER 

TODAY. 

As I like to say, we don't need to read another book or listen to another podcast, 

we need to actually DO the things we ALREADY KNOW we *could* be doing­

whether that's meditating or eating better or sleeping more or being more 

present and loving with our families or more focused and productive at work or ... 

fill in the blank for what YOU know you could be doing! 

(Seriously. What little thing do YOU know you could be doing? Imagine your life 

with that positive habit installed. Then imagine becoming the type of person who 

can easily install and delete habits at will while helping others in your life do the 

same. Helping you be that version of yourself is what Heroic is all about.) 

Doing what we know we could be doing and being the person we know we could 



be (not someday but TODAY!) is how we can close that gap between who we are 

capable of being and who we are actually being so we can more and more 

consistently show up as the best, most Heroic versions of ourselves in service to 

something bigger than ourselves. 

Again ... That's nice and warm and fuzzy but. .. again ... HOW can we make that 

more CONCRETE? 

Well... I think we need to deliver on TWO brand promises (or value 

propositions). One at the INDIVIDUAL level and another at the COLLECTIVE 

level. Here they are. 

First, on the individual level, we want to get to a place where we can 

unequivocally (!) say: "Research shows ... If you use Heroic, then you will 

flourish." 

More specifically ... We want to get to a place where we can say: "Research 

shows ... If you hit 10 virtuous targets on Heroic every day, then you are x% more 

Energized, Productive and Connected." 

Here's the second brand promise, this time focused on the collective level: "If 

enough of us use Heroic, then we can change the world together." 

Again: Getting to a place where we are THE BEST IN THE WORLD at delivering 

on those brand promises (/value propositions) at both the individual and 

collective levels is HOW we will create a truly great business that can literally 

change the world. 

We will measure our success in delivering on those two brand promises in two 

ways. On the individual level, we keep track of something called a "Soul Force" 

score. On the collective level, we keep track of something we call "Annual 

Recurring Virtue" or "ARV." 



HEROIC IS HUMANITY'S BEST HOPE FOR RAISING 
THE CONSCIOUSNESS OF THE PLANET AND 
CALLING US TO A MORE VIRTUOUS LIFE OF 
GOODNESS, IMPACT AND SELF-LOVE. IT 
INSPIRES THE WORLD TO CREATE A NEW 
PARADIGM FOR WHAT IT MEANS TO BE A HUMAN 
LIVING IN THE 21ST CENTURY. DESPITE THIS 
BEING THE MOST TECHNOLOGICALLY ADVANCED 
PERIOD IN OUR HISTORY, WHERE CHANGE IS 
UNFOLDING AT A PACE THAT IS HARD FOR HOST 
TO COMPREHEND, LET ALONE KEEP UP WITH, WE 
EACH CRAVE A NORTH STAR, AN ANCHOR, A 
VISION OF WHAT EACH OF US IS CAPABLE OF 
BECOMING AND INDEED WHO WE ALREADY ARE. 
WE ARE OUR OWN HEROES. IT IS TIME TO 
FULFILL OUR HERO'S JOURNEY. HEROIC IS THE 
ANSWER TO OUR QUEST AND THE CATALYST FOR 
EXPRESSING AND CELEBRATING OUR HUMANITY. 

JULIANA UlO ANCEL INVESTOR, fOUHOER g MANAGING PAnTN[ R or 
THE SEE BE GROUP ANO FOUHO[R OF \'l [ ALT H BRAVERY 

Heroic Pilot Study Says ... 

We worked hard to create a vl of our app that would take the first steps in 

delivering on our two brand promises. Again: 

1. If you use Heroic, then you will flourish. More specifically: "Research shows, if 

you hit 10 virtuous targets on Heroic each day, then you will be x% more 

Energized, x% more Productive, and x% more Connected." 

2. If enough of us use Heroic then we can literally change the world together. 

Note: I told our Founding Investors that we'd run a pilot study on Day 1 and that, 

if we did our jobs, we'd have early data pointing to the validity of statement # l by 

Day 30. 

And ... With all the necessary asterisks that the study was only a PILOT study 

done with only 1,000 Founding Heroic members and it's too early to point to 

anything unequivocally, etc etc etc ... 



I am VERY (!) excited to tell you that ... 

Based on a pilot study of over 1,000 Heroic members (n = 1053), conducted in 

partnership with leading experts in the field of positive psychology and human 

flourishing and measuring human flourishing using two validated well-being 

measures (Flourishing Scale, Diener, and a subset of WB-Pro measures) as well 

as a newly developed, non-validated, internal scale to measure energy, 

productivity, and connection that we called the Heroic Big 3 scale we can say 

that: 

Members who hit 5 or more Heroic targets each day, on average moved from the 

60th percentile to the 83rd percentile in flourishing (on an accepted scale of 

flourishing!) in just 30 days. 

And ... 

As measured by the internal Heroic Big 3 scale, men1bers who hit JUST 3+ targets 

per day, on average, reported a 40% (!) increase in energy, a 20% (!) increase in 

productivity (that's like working 5 days and getting a bonus day free!), and a 15% 

increase in connection. In just a few minutes in the app per day for just 30 days!! 

Again, that data is from a pilot study so it needs to be viewed conservatively and 

those percentage increases in our Big 3 are rough approximations. And ... I am 

very excited about the early data and equally committed to building on it in the 

months and years ahead so we can more concretely establish the validity of the 

Heroic app as a powerful way to help people change their lives so we can change 

the world together. 

In addition to that quantitative data, you can check out the iOS and Android App 

Store reviews for more qualitative data on our early members' experience with 

our app and how it is changing their lives. 

Plus, here's how accredited Heroic investor and good friend, Sean Casey, 
... .. 't • 



ctescnbect his experience with the Heroic app 1n a recent poctcast ot his. ~~ean 1s a 

former MLB All Star known as "The Mayor." Sports Illustrated described him as 

the friendliest guy in baseball!) 

And ... here's another video with Brandon Guyer (former MLB player, nicknamed 

"La Pinata" by the World Series announcers because he was hit by so many 

pitches) sharing how Heroic has changed his life and why he and his wife chose 

to invest. 

\·l • 
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DOl:47 

Also, during our Launch party, I asked my friend (and Heroic investor) Joe 

Okleberry to come on stage and share his early experience with the Heroic app 

with our community. Here's what he had to say ... 

a07:20 

Heroic Crowdfunding 

We've talked about a lot of warm and fuzzy, inspiring stuff. Now it's time to 

ground that inspiration into reality. 

Startups like ours are a powerful way to create a better future while creating 

value for each of our stakeholders: Society + Partners + Investors + Customers + 

Employees. 

Of course, startups are also inherently incredibly risky ventures in general and 
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disclosed in our official filing that we encourage you to read. 

And ... 

As we'll briefly discuss below, your convertible note will be senior to all other 

investments-which provides significant downside protection. Further, I am 

proud of the fact that I have provided a positive return for investors in each of 

my prior companies: eteamz, Zaadz, and Optimize. 

Having said all that ... 

I believe that the high risk goes with a potentially high return- in society and for 

yourself and for your fan1ily. 

I have unapologetically an1bitious goals with Heroic. I literally want to change 

the world. And, I think that we can achieve that while creating what I hope will 

be a multibillion-dollar business that is one of the most virtuous, respected, 

beloved and impactful companies and brands on the planet. 

It's hard to put into words just how motivated I am by the prospect of fulfilling 

our Mission while striving to help you and your families create significant wealth 

from your investment in us. 

MY HUSBAND AND I JUST INVESTED $50,000 IN 
HEROIC BECAUSE WE TRUST THE SOUNDNESS OF 
THE INVESTMENT AND WE POWERFULLY SHARE 
THE HEROIC VISION. BRIAN HAS AN INCREDIBLE 
TRACK RECORD IN BUSINESS-HE'S GENERATED A 
RETURN FOR HIS INVESTORS 100% OF THE TIME. 
HEROIC PARTNERSHIPS ARE SO NEEDED RIGHT 
NOW-AND WE CAN ALL DO WELL BY DOING GOOD. 
WITH EVERY ACTION WE CREATE THE WORLD WE 
(AND OUR KIDS AND GRANDKIDS!) WILL LIVE IN. 
LET'S CHANGE THE WORLD TOGETHER. THESE 
wnRn~ CIVI= Ml= r.nn~-= RUMP~ PM INlfl 
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The Investment Terms 

If you invest in this round, you will own what's known as a "convertible note" 

that is convertible into equity at our next prospective round. 

We are seeking to raise $2M total via the convertible notes we are offering in this 

round-$1M via this Reg CF and an additional $IM fr01n accredited investors via 

Reg D 506(c). Our new investors in this smaller round will have seniority over 

existing investors. This gives you, as a prospective new investor, strong downside 

risk protection (first money out). 

Note: If you are an accredited investor interested in investing over $25,000, you 

can let us know via this link and we will follow up to discuss the opportunity to 

invest via our Reg D. 

We intend to see how quickly we can close this round so we can focus our energy 

on execution to see how quickly we can create a profitable, antifragile business. 

Then we plan to consider going back out for a larger round. 

For those who may not be familiar, here's the super-short, simplified story on the 

basic mechanics of how a convertible note works plus the basic terms for our 

note. 

The convertible note has a "20% discount" on whatever price we set for our next 

prospective round of financing with a maximum valuation cap of $50 million. 

The price will not be set until we actually do that round and would convert into 

shares at the lower of the price determined by either the 20% discount or the 

$SOM valuation cap. 



For a completely theoretical example of how this may work, let's say we raise 

n1oney for our prospective Series A at any valuation less than $62.5 million. In 

this case, the 20% discount would apply and your convertible notes would 

convert at a price per share that is 20% less than the share price of that round. 

If we raise money at any valuation above $62.5 million, the $50 million valuation 

cap will kick in. For example, if we were to execute very well and are blessed by 

some good fortune from the Heroic gods and raise money at, say, a $100 million 

valuation, and you were able to sell your shares, you would get roughly twice as 

good a deal as the investors in that next equity round. 

Further, as a debt holder with seniority, if things got REALLY bad ( . ~.1., ~ ) and 

everything went sideways and we wound up liquidating the business for more 

than the total amount of the convertible notes before the notes were converted, 

you would get your money out *before* the other note holders and equity 

shareholders- which is yet another reason convertible notes are attractive for 

investors. (Note: I didn't tattoo my body with HEROIC and 51 I 2051 with that in 

mind. ~ ) 

Again, we're excited to put this capital to good use as we take the next steps in 

executing our plans to fulfill our mission. 

Which leads us to perhaps the most important part of our discussion ... 

Our Path to Profitability 

To wrap this up, I'd like to chat briefly about my thoughts on one path to 

profitability. 

Here's the ROUGH napkin math on one potential pathway to breakeven with all 

the appropriate asterisks and assu111ptions that this, among other things, assumes 

we will keep our expenses around our current core operational baseline level and 

focus on profitability vis-a-vis growth, etc. 



(Note: when we talk about "asterisks" and "assumptions" we mean taking into 

account all the information in our Form C, especially the risk factors, which 

appear on our offering page on Wefunder.) 

We believe that if we can get 10,000 new members to pay $15/mo for our 

integrated Heroic app (featuring not just the Heroic target practice but also the 

1,000 + ls (and new ones!), 600+ PhilosophersNotes (and new ones!), 50 Optimal 

Living 101s (and new ones!), Basic Training, AND the Mastery Series (which used 

to be available exclusively via our Coach certification program) then we could 

generate~ $150,000/month of recurring revenue. 

That could be (with asterisks) ~51% of our core, operational expenses. 

If we can get ANOTHER 10,000 people to pay $15/mo, that would be another 

~$150,000 of recurring revenue which would be, with asterisks, ~101 % of our 

expenses. 

Add yet another 10,000 people at $15/mo and we could be profitable with a +51 %! 

Those are the napkin numbers on our path to moving, in the words of Jim 

Collins, from an idea to a viable business en route to an enduring great company. 

And THAT is what our team is FIERCELY focused on achieving as we forge an 

antifragile business and create a solid foundation on which we can navigate any 

storm as we take the next steps to fulfill our mission in the years and decades 

ahead. 

As I have said many times and feel at an even greater depth than ever before: I 

have never been more con1n1itted to and confident in our ability to do what we're 

here to do. 

If you'd like to support us on our Heroic quest to create an exemplary 

crowdfunded business at scale that can help us create a world in which 51 % of 

humanity is flourishing by 2051, starting with you and me and us today, we'd be 



honored to have your support. 

You can make your commitment here today. 

Day 1. Always. Let 's goooo!! 

101 x l M -> 51 I 2 0 51 

HEROES UNITE!!! 

-B 

HEROIC IS A UNIQUE OPPORTUNITY: 
ONE WHERE THE INVESTOR IS 
INSPIRED BY WHAT THE COMPANY 
DOES EVERY DAY ... WHERE HIGHLY 
ENGAGED AND PASSIONATE 
CUSTOMERS EXPERIENCE PERSONAL 
GROWTH AND TRANSFORMATION ••• 
AND WHERE A GREAT BUSINESS IS 
BEING BUILT IN THE MOST 
DELIBERATE, CONSCIOUS WAY 
POSSIBLE. 

lAC ZEITLIII. HEAD Of WE ST COAST OFFI CE Al SILVER PO INT CAPITAL. 
FOUIIDER/PARH<ER AT NEW GROUND VENTURES 

verified 
bycrowdcheck 

Heroic Enterprises , PBC 
Issued August 15. 2022 



Endnotes 

1. Matt McCall, Nir Eyal, Tal Ben-Shahar, Ph.D., Arturo Brillembourg, Sean Casey, 

Brandon Guyer, Joe Okleberry, Juliana Uto, Susan Peirce Thompson, Ph.D., and 

Zac Zeitlin are all Heroic investors. 

2. None of Matt McCall, Nir Eyal, Tal Ben-Shahar, Ph.D., Arturo Brillembourg, 

Sean Casey, Brandon Guyer, Joe Okleberry, Juliana Uto, Susan Peirce Thompson, 

Ph.D., nor Zac Zeitlin received any incentive or consideration of any kind in 

exchange for their comments relating to, or endorsements of, Heroic. 

3. The comments, endorsements, and/ or likenesses of Matt McCall, Nir Eyal, Tal 

Ben-Shahar, Ph.D., Arturo Brillembourg, Sean Casey, Brandon Guyer, Joe 

Okleberry, Juliana Uto, Susan Peirce Thompson, Ph.D., and Zac Zeitlin are 

included with their express permission. 

4. The comments and/or endorsements of Matt McCall, Nir Eyal, Tai Ben-Shahar, 

Ph.D., Arturo Brillembourg, Sean Casey, Brandon Guyer, Joe Okleberry, Juliana 

Uto, Susan Peirce Thompson, Ph.D., and Zac Zeitlin are not, and should not be 

regarded as, investment advice. Individuals considering an investment in Heroic 

should consult an investment professional before making an investment decision. 

5. Optimize Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation was acquired in a merger by 

Heroic Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation. Brian Johnson, the sole director, 

sole officer and majority stockholder of Heroic, was also the sole director, sole 

officer, and, together with his wife, majority stockholder of Optimize. Because of 

Brian's interests in both companies, the merger agreement required the approval 

of a majority of the other votes of the disinterested stockholders in each 

con1pany, in addition to a majority of the votes of all stockholders in each 

company. The stockholders holding more than a majority of the votes of 

disinterested stockholders in each company approved the merger. 

6. These materials may contain forward-looking statements and information 



relating to, among other things, the company, its business plan and strategy, 

and its industry. These forward-looking statements are based on the beliefs of, 

assumptions made by, and information currently available to the company's 

management. When used in the offering materials, the words "estimate," 

"project," "believe," "anticipate," "intend," "expect" and similar expressions are 

intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements reflect 

management's current views with respect to future events and are subject to 

risks and uncertainties that could cause the company's actual results to differ 

materially from those contained in the forward-looking statements. Investors are 

cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, 

which speak only as of the date on which they are made. The company does not 

undertake any obligations to revise or update these forward-looking statements 

to reflect events or circumstances after such date or to reflect the occurrence of 

unanticipated events. 

Wefunder is a Public Benefit Corporation. 

We're here to fix capitalism. 

2012 - 2022 I MPACT REPORT 

Our Story Investor FAQ 
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Jobs Founder FA Q 'W' Google Play 

Blog Gu id es 

Press Support 

Get/Give $2,500 



V.'c>hmd,,r mr·,111s ',\',:,fumlPr In,- .~n(I itc; \'; h oll; o·,:n :cl' ti· ·."di. 1::~ \'idund,!r A.(lv1scir<; LLC 

;:"HKI ,,'J,_,fund01 Pvt~d l LLC. Th''., I-'-''.''~,, l u~ct'd IJ:, Vv,:fum1,_., Purtill LLC 

I > \ l ' .. 

(; 

0 [Q) 



Heroic I Transcript: Matt McCall Testimonial 
Matt McCall: 
Hi , I'm Matt McCall, and I'd like to encourage you to join the Heroic team. 

I've been an investor in and huge fan of Brian Johnson for nearly 10 years. 

Over my career, I've invested in over 80 companies, seeing 20,000 business plans, including 
many household name dcca-corns and unicorns. 

I'm a true believer in I leroic because it's changed my life. I've had countless entrepreneurs, 
friends, even my ch ildren sign up and go through Optimize and I lcroic. (A number of them have 
even gone on to do the Mastery program.) 

Even further, I have tattooed onto my w rist Brian's rally cry from Aristotle of' ARETE', wh ich 
reminds me each day abo ut the importance of striving to be the highest version of ourselves. Of 
course, my tattoo and the s ize of my wrists arc significantly smaller than Brian's (laughing) . .. 

But look, we are a ll programmed since early childhood to chase blue ribbons to toxically drive 
ourselves, and yet few of us arc to ld how to thrive and be happy while doing so. 

I've had so many successful friends who realized after years on this 1-ledonic treadmill, that there 
has to be a healthier, more sustainable and successful way to attack life. 

Fo1iunatcly, the great wisdom hasn't changed a lot in the last 4,000 ycars--just the analogs of 
stories, the frameworks. 

However it's not easy to find, digest, read and understand all this wisdom. If any, you've ever 
tried to read Seneca or the Upanishads or anything a long those lines, you'd agree. Let a lone 
remembering what you've read, what the key takeaways were, and then connecting that wisdom 
across text across centuries into a useful framework going forward. 

Brian is one of the most gifted synthesizers that I've ever met in my li fe. I le not only gets the 
core of the wisdom--at this point, across 600 books and PhilosophcrsNotes and eounting--but he 
a lso hangs it all together in a guide for us to help us on our journey. This is an essential need in 
our increasingly confusing and bifurcated world. 

Also, as the content community and connections grow at I Tcroic, so docs the value of the 
company. This is a rare o ppo1iunity to truly impact the world at scale and also invest in an 
opportunity that naturally compounds and scales with time. 

So please join me in supporting this amazing company, this amazing mission and thi s amazing 
man. 

Thank you very much. 



Heroic I Transcript: Heroic on The Mayor's 
Office 
Scan Casey: 
I'm l'm .. l see you're talk ing. Hang on, Chinch. I gotta talk to Tim another a second. 

So I look at it this way. And Brian Johnson talks about this. If you, me and Chinch went out and 
played baseball right now, and we were on this open field and I pitch to T im, T im crushes, one 
Chinch goes and runs and gets it. We come back. We're like, "yeah, this is fun!" 

Well, that's not as much fun as if we take the fo ul lines and we run 'em down each line and we 
put fou l poles up. We put a 330 ' s ign in the corner, 385 ', 4 1 0'. We put a fe nce up that says, if 
you hit it over th is fence, you get one point. l f guys arc on base, you get three, four, you know, 2, 
3, 4 points. This guy we're gonna, we're gonna put a mound up with a rubber. It's gonna be 60 
feet, s ix inches away. Cuz that seems fair. You're gonna throw it to me. We're gonna compete. 
We're gonna get after it. 

I loly [ed ited]. I !ere we go. This is ton ofleditedJ fun. Ri ght? 

I think of that as Heroic. 

Tim McMahon: 
Right. 

Scan Casey: 
Heroic is my, my fo ul lines ... 

Tim McMahon: 
It's a game. 

Scan Casey: 
is my . . . It' s my game! It's my game of life. 

So I line up, what are my routines? What arc my habits? What arc I gonna do to w in my 
morning? What am I gonna do at night to get better sleep? What time do I need to get upstairs? 
What book am I gonna read? How am l gonna serve my kids today? How am I gonna serve my 
buddies today? 

And a ll of a sudden at the end of the day I go, man, that was a great game today. Holy [edited]. 

You know what I mean? It's like, and it's like, you start creat ing your own game because you've 
created the boundaries and that I leroic app ... when you, when you're shooting that arrow into 
your targets, it it's a dopamine. ltjust like, man, this is so freaking awesome. 



And all of a sudden you start to realize, wow, you've created some habits and routines that is 
giving you the life that you've always wanted. Let's go, let's go. 

Tim McMahon: 
That's it exactly. 



Heroic I Transcript: Brandon Guyer 
Testimonial 
Brandon Guyer: 
I Ii, my name's Brandon Guyer and I could not be more proud, honored, excited, and grater ul to 
be an investor in I Icroic. 

My wife and I have actually added to our initial investment multiple times because we 
wholeheartedly believe in the miss ion of I Icroic to change the world by he lping people live their 
best lives and wholeheartedly believe that Brian is the man to lead that charge, and the I Ieroic 
team is the team to fulfill that miss ion. 

You know, something I heard Brian say a while back hit me hard and has always stuck with me. 
Ile said something along the lines of, 'we will change your life so we can change the world 
together.' 

or course, that sounds great. But it's another thing to bring that to lir c and follow through with it 
by creating something that w ill help people do just that. 

/\rtcr personally taking part in the Optimize coaching program, which is Brian's previous 
company, and getting to know Brian on a personal level. .. talking to him every day, it was clear 
that investing in Heroic was going to be the easiest decision of our life and the biggest 
investment we've ever made. 

Quite simply, it was a no-brainer for my wife and I. We get a chance to invest in a company that 
we know and love, a company that wi ll positively impact this world and make it a better 
place ... yes please! 

Fast forward to now, /\ugust 2022, a little over a year after we made that initial investment, when 
I lcroic was just a thought and Heroic has brought to market a life-chang ing app that has a lready 
helped thousands of people around the world show up more and more consistently at their Heroic 
best. 

In my eyes, this kind of investment opportunity just doesn't come around often. Not only arc you 
investing in a company, but you're investing in a movement that w ill leave this world a better 
place for al l of our kids and all future generations, which is truly what it is all about. 



Heroic I Transcript: Joseph Okleberry 
Testimonial 
Brian Johnson: 
11 ,000 people from 11 5 countries have s igned up. You know, and this is day one. And that's 
another one of those- thank you, bless you for believing in us. 

We're really, really, really, really excited about that, and we're really proud of the feedback that 
has come in so far. 

We hope that you have the same experience that we've, again, the first early users have shared 
with us. And again, it's day one. We're super, super humble about where we're at, but we're also 
really excited about it and proud to have received some feedback. 

And Joe, just to give you a quick shout out. .. Joe, dear friend, big investor, student and soon 
graduate of the master's program at positive psychology . He and I arc going back and forth on 
WhatsApp. The first person I've ever connected with on WhatsApp, that was like a big 
experience for me. It was fantastic. 

So he was one of the first that we shared kind of the early app with. And, you know, Joe's one of 
the guys I admire most and is this performing at a very high leve l entrepreneurial as a former 
venture guy who's been there and done that and helped, you know, launch products and knows 
what it takes to do what we're trying to do. He's also a spiritual guy who I admire deeply and a 
scientist and, you know, to receive your feedback on how it's impacted you, was just such a deep 
thing. Actually, do we have the microphone runner? We had talked about the possibility of you 
kind of sharing briefly. I'd love to hear from you just to, take a breath and, and hear your 
thoughts . Because [, whenever I'm k ind of sharing what the app docs, I'll share what it docs, but 
I'm not the hype guy. 

I like to have our community put it in their words, whether it's why they're excited to invest or, in 
this case, use the membership. 

Good to sec you, dude. 

Joe's feedback, you know, Ray Dalio talks about, believability- you know- that someone who's 
been there and done that enough t imes ... you arc believable. You know. And the feedback I get 
in general is amazing and inspiring, but Joe's background in both product development and 
spiritual aspiration and then the science, made our connection in your description of how it's 
already impacted your life even more profoundly deep. So if you're open to sharing a couple 
words. 

Joseph Oklcbcrry: 
Thank you, Brian. It is bright. <laugh> 



Hey everyone. My name is Joe, Joseph. 

Alright. Who here has installed the Heroic app and set up their big three protocol? 

It's about ha11~ less than half. Okay. 

And who here thinks has been life changing already? 

Yeah. Oh yeah, me too. So yeah, just quickly. I've been ... I was so fo1iunate to get introduced to 
Brian I think the day before the first fundraising call, this is December of 2020, and I joined on 
this call and I don't know anything about what's going on. I don't know Optimize, and there's 
crazy people on the call. < laugh> there, there arc fanatics. And I'm like, I don't know what's 
going on here. I, I think I'm in the wrong room. <laugh> now I am one of those crazy people. 

Brian Johnson: 
Says the guy who has watched Finding Joe ... 

Joseph Ok]eberry: 
55 times. 

Brian ,Johnson: 
Yeah. So let's be clear on who's ... heres to the crazy ones. Yeah. 

Joseph Oklebcrry: 
That's the origin story I watched Finding Joe 55 times. I saw Brian's face a thousand times. 

Brian Johnson: 
And James, you know? 

Joseph Oklcbcrry: 
And James from Penn. 

So quickly on my story, cause it will make sense. 

I made a couple of vows as a child, not sacred vows, but unconscious vows. And they drove me 
through life and I actually achieved all of them by like the age of 30. However, I realized I didn't 
get what I actually wanted. You know, I wasn't poor. I didn't have my heart broken and I wasn't 
part of a cult. I was very religious when I was younger. So I had succeeded on these targets. I 
had money, I hadn't, you know, been divorced like my parents got divorced, ct cetera, but I was 
depressed in New York city working a hundred hour weeks. And then that set off this journey of 
trying to figure out what really matters in life. And I had to actually just be humble and say, I 
don't know the formula. 

I really don't. So I went searching. I spent the last four years on sabbatical studying first self­
help: Tony Robbins, Joe Dispenza, Hoffman process ... I did everything. I love it. By the way. 
I'm not a hater on self-help at all. 



Then Oew to the east. I spent a year studying Buddhism and yoga, did my teacher training, 
became all zen 'd out - really love that experience, and finished with thi s Master's in positive 
psychology. And through all these modalities, l think I've taken something great from a ll of 
them, but noth ing has tied everything together so beautifully as the Heroic app. 

And the reason I'm so grateful is because I don't have to create it myself. 

These guys, A lexandra and team have built exactly .. . actually more than I could have dreamed of 
what l wanted to build for myself. 

And so I'm so grateful. In the past eight days s ince I installed the app on a fli ght to Costa Rica, I 
have become more virtuous, I've g iven more hugs. I've said I love you more times. 

I have basically gone caffeine free. Caffeine's kind of one of my ... when I'm not at my 
best. . . that's what I reach for. No caffe ine s ince I got the app installed because I want to swipe no 
caffeine day, right? I really want to do that. 

And so l can honestly say it's the most consequential app for me of my lifetime, already. And 
there was no guarantee, there was no certainty. This was not easy to pull off. 

So, a huge thank you to the Hero ic team, the Meta Lab team, and everyone e lse who's been 
invo lved. 

I'm so grateful. I'm so g lad to be a fou nding member, an investor, a fri end ... Brian Johnson is my 
advisor for my capstone, my master's thesis now - which w ill serve heroically, the heroic 
community and, and the world at large. And I'm just here . We checked in with intentions last 
night before we went to bed and mine was gratitude 

Brian Johnson: 
Right on dude, same page. Yo u're a good one. 



SIGNATURES 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of Sections 4(a)(6) and 4A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Regulation 
Crowdfunding (§ 227.100 et seq.), the issuer certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it 
meets all of the requirements for filing on Form C and has duly caused this Form to be signed on its 
behalf by the duly authorized undersigned. 
 

HEROIC CF SPV, LLC 
By Heroic Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation, its Manager 

 
 
      /s/ Brian Johnson     

Name: Brian Johnson 
Title: CEO 

 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of Sections 4(a)(6) and 4A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Regulation 
Crowdfunding (§ 227.100 et seq.), this Form C has been signed by the following persons in the capacities 
and on the dates indicated. 
 

HEROIC CF SPV, LLC 
By Heroic Enterprises, Public Benefit Corporation, its Manager 

 
 
      /s/ Brian Johnson     

Name: Brian Johnson 
Title: CEO 
Date: November 18, 2022 

 


